**Final Report to Chevron Energy Technology Company on** Leveraging Geologic CO<sub>2</sub> Storage Technology for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR Management



**Gulf Coast Carbon Center Bureau of Economic Geology** John A. and Katherine G. Jackson School of Geosciences The University of Texas at Austin Austin, Texas 78713-8924



Mehdi Zeidouni

By





December 2012

### Leveraging Geologic CO<sub>2</sub> Storage Technology for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR Management

**Prepared for:** 

Chevron Energy Technology Company, Houston, TX

By

Vanessa Nuñez-Lopez, Chris Heiligenstein, Susan D. Hovorka, Javier Muñoz Torres, Mehdi Zeidouni

#### **Bureau of Economic Geology**

John A. and Katherine G. Jackson School of Geosciences The University of Texas at Austin Austin, Texas 78713-8924

> First Revision: March 2013 Final Revision: August 2013

#### Introduction

Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) through  $CO_2$  injection has evolved from the laboratory testing and field piloting phases in the early 1970s to the widespread and refined operations of today. Over the last 20 years, geological  $CO_2$  storage (GCS) has emerged as a promising approach to dispose of large volumes of  $CO_2$ . Much of the early advances in the operational aspects of GCS were learned from  $CO_2$ -EOR. However, given its "newness" and the health, safety, and environment (HSE) concerns related to  $CO_2$ emissions, considerable fundamental and applied research with heavily instrumented GCS field projects, from pilot to commercial scale, has produced data not ordinarily available from conventional  $CO_2$ -EOR studies. A key exception is the Weyburn-Midale  $CO_2$ -EOR project in Saskatchewan, Canada, which has had a dedicated characterization, reservoir dynamics and surveillance program in operation since 2000.

Even though many of the processes and workflows for these two operations are similar, significant differences do exist primarily because of the different objectives and regulatory environments that exist for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR and CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects. Fundamentally, CO<sub>2</sub> storage tools and processes are geared toward developing a much more detailed understanding of the storage system and the physical and chemical processes accompanying CO<sub>2</sub> injection, with monitoring and surveillance being conducted during the pre-operational, operational, and post-operational stages of a project. Pre-operational monitoring for a CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR project is primarily focused on understanding the reservoir physical and petrophysical properties as well as the properties of the reservoir and injected fluids. Surveillance in the operational phase of an EOR flood is limited, with emphasis being placed on monitoring injection pressures and rates as well as the volumes and properties of the injected and produced fluids.

Lessons learned from GCS research and field tests will likely benefit  $CO_2$ -EOR project performance by employing aspects of characterization, simulation and surveillance. This study reviews the predictive and diagnostic tools currently applied to GCS projects and infers how their deployment might improve  $CO_2$ -EOR projects. These improvements might include project conformance,  $CO_2$  utilization / oil produced, field management, and containment risks.

### **Table of Contents**

Introduction	i
Section 1: System characterization	
1.1 Reservoir & seal: interactions with injected CO <sub>2</sub> and their impact on flood performance and confining system	
1.1.1 CO <sub>2</sub> -brine-rock chemical interactions	
1.1.2 Geomechanical characterization	
1.1.3 Case Study: In Salah	
1.1.4 Case Study: Sleipner	
1.2 Area of Review (AoR): CO <sub>2</sub> distribution and flow paths leading to CO <sub>2</sub> losses	
1.3 Hydrogeochemistry: rock-water-CO <sub>2</sub> interactions and understanding of flow processes	
1.3.1 Case Studies	
1.4 Petroleum geochemistry: interactions with reservoir hydrocarbons and impact on oil recovery and flow	
1.4.1 Oil geochemical changes	
1.4.2 Impact of CO <sub>2</sub> impurities on final recovery	
Section 2: Dynamic modeling of GCS and its implications for CO <sub>2</sub> -EOR	
2.1 Fluid flow	
2.2 Property (PVT) model	
2.3 Geochemistry	
2.4 Thermal modeling	
2.5 Geomechanics	
Section 3: Flood surveillance	43
3.1 Monitoring for improved understanding of subsurface multiphase flow and CO <sub>2</sub> flood performance	
3.1.1 Field data integration and reservoir modeling	
3.1.2 Geophysical methods	
3.1.3 Gravity	
3.1.4 Wireline logging	
3.1.5 Temperaturemonitoring	
3.1.6 Pressure monitoring	
3.2 Environmental and public assurance	57
3.2.2 Groundwater monitoring	59
3.2.3 Soil gas monitoring	61
Section 4: Stakeholder interactions	69
4.1 Stakeholder issues and engagement	
4.2 Public Policy	73
4.3 Risk assessment and management	
4.4 Property rights and environmental and safety risks of CO <sub>2</sub> sequestration	79
Conclusions	
Acknowledgments	

Appendix	91
Case study: Kerr Farm (Weyburn EOR site)	92

#### Section 1

#### System Characterization

Site characterization is an essential element in the success of both hydrocarbon resource development and geological carbon storage (GCS). However, the nature of its purpose is different in each setting. In a hydrocarbon field, the fluids are in place and characterization is the tool used to locate them and optimize extraction. In GCS, characterization is needed to provide information on how CO<sub>2</sub> can be injected under conditions where it will be retained. In this section, we don't focus on technologies and strategies already dominated by the oil industry, but rather on evaluating lessons learned and characterization methods developed by GCS research and how they can be utilized in enhanced oil recovery operations (EOR) to increase hydrocarbon production rates and optimize CO<sub>2</sub> utilization. We conclude that the results of novel and field-tested site characterization developed for GCS over the last decade demonstrates that this body of work can enhance the understanding of CO<sub>2</sub>/brine/hydrocarbon/rock interactions and deliver a valuable contribution toward solving the challenges of resource development, especially in tertiary recovery but potentially also in other settings where geotechnical guidance is key to successful exploitation.

Site characterization protocols for GCS predominantly revolve around assessing the injectivity, capacity, and containment effectiveness of the storage complex, while establishing a framework of field proven and repeatable monitoring methods capable of assessing the suitability of a sequestration site (S. J. Friedmann, 2007). A suitable storage site must provide effective trapping mechanisms, competent bounding seals, hydraulic isolation from overlying aquifers, an appropriate hydrogeological regime, and minimal potential pathways for both vertical and lateral  $CO_2$  migration through faults or fractures (Whittaker, 2004). In GCS, these data are collected and quantified for input to models. In a typical oil reservoir development the collection of some of these data is not common practice, hence procedures and techniques have not been refined. Over the past decade, however, about a dozen GCS field tests conducted globally have provided a detailed look at the reservoir response to  $CO_2$  injection and the fate of  $CO_2$  at the operational time scale. GCS sites have provided four unique research data collection opportunities not typically available in EOR operations:

1. Simpler single-phase environment: Injection of a distinctive fluid (CO<sub>2</sub>) into a pore space that is brine filled and not previously exploited provides an opportunity to assess the reservoir response in a way that cannot be done in an oilfield setting. It is much more difficult to detect, quantify, and image the CO<sub>2</sub> saturation evolution in a multi-phase environment (oil, water, possible methane + CO<sub>2</sub>) than it is to do so in a water + CO<sub>2</sub> system. CO<sub>2</sub> injection in a saline aquifer provides the opportunity to collect a baseline against which to quantify change in the monitoring tool response when CO<sub>2</sub> is injected. Fields entering tertiary recovery have typically been highly perturbed by depletion, injection of brine and other fluids, and past tertiary recovery. Knowledge gained in simpler saline systems can inform the complex systems.

- 2. Closer, higher frequency data: GCS studies have been conducted as pilots, favoring the collection of dense and frequent data. The cost of obtaining CO<sub>2</sub> has limited the scale of most experiments. The close spacing, however, has allowed the detection of fluid flow and rock property interactions details that could not have been observed at the traditional EOR patternscale well spacing. In addition, limited amounts of CO<sub>2</sub> and the need to provide higher than traditional surveillance has favored collection of high frequency surveys, including real-time data and time-lapse repeats that are less available in field floods.
- 3. Assessment of the entire system: in GCS, the assessment of the storage system, including the boundaries (upper-seal, bottom-seal, and lateral barriers) is required. Whole-system thinking can add value to the design and optimization of EOR floods. For example, correct assumptions about pressure increase are needed to optimize purchase and recycle volumes, and water curtains.
- 4. Improved understanding of CO<sub>2</sub> partitioning: in traditional EOR, the fate of non-recyclable CO<sub>2</sub> is typically not actively assessed. Some CO<sub>2</sub> may be lost from the reservoir interval by invasion of the reservoir seal or by possible migration into non-produced compartments. Improved understanding of CO<sub>2</sub> trapping mechanisms (dissolution into brine, capillarity, etc.) from GCS research could result in better CO<sub>2</sub> management (Frykman and others, 2012).
- 5. Improved modeling: optimization of modeling tools which consider mass transfer with the reservoir brine was incentivized by GCS requirements and can be useful for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects.

In EOR, quantifying the saturation and distribution of the remaining oil is the key driver of commercial success. Once oil distribution is known, it is essential to drive the  $CO_2$  to contact it; mobility ratios and flood conformance are the issues that have the most impact on the performance of solvent displacements. There exist other issues, however, that may diminish the effectiveness of a  $CO_2$  flood. We will cover some of these issues in the following sections, which discuss how data from geologic storage projects have improved understanding and possibly management of  $CO_2$  fate and non-recovery.

For example, the quality of the reservoir seal (known in CCS literature as caprock and in groundwater protection literature as confining system) is said to be demonstrated during oil accumulation. However, during production and injection chemical and geomechanical processes (sections 1.1.1 and 1.1.2) can alter the flow system, allowing fluid to migrate within and as well potentially out of the reservoir in ways that fluids did not originally flow. Errors in correctly assessing the boundary conditions in the reservoir (section 1.2) can lead to failure to attain the minimum miscibility pressure within the formation, resulting in the recovery of  $CO_2$  via an immiscible process, which leaves behind undesirably high residual oil saturations and if not planned for and managed may fault short of commercial success. Lateral  $CO_2$  losses can damage the commercial viability of the project and in some cases expose the operator to liability from undesired impact on adjacent production. Geologic storage research can also help improve EOR operations through incremental improvement of conceptualization of flow though the reservoir to better contact oil (section 1.3).

Lastly, improved understanding of the reservoir hydrocarbons is a current area of active research (section 1.4). Several strategies have been developed by the oil industry to reduce mobility ratios. Water alternating gas (WAG) injection strategies continue to be used as the mobility control technology of choice, where the relative CO<sub>2</sub> permeability is reduced by increasing reservoir water saturation ahead of CO<sub>2</sub> fronts. Other technologies, such as CO<sub>2</sub> foams and nanoparticles, have also been studied for mobility control (Zhang, 2010).

### **1.1** Reservoir & seal: interactions with injected CO<sub>2</sub> and their impact on flood performance and confining system integrity

One key innovation geologic storage research has to offer to the EOR industry is an assessment of the quality of the seal. Retention is a critical factor in GCS, and a significant unknown in saline sites. The large amount of research in GCS may be of value for EOR in three ways: (1)  $CO_2$  usage optimization by improving flood conformance, (2) assurance of no damage to overlying resources (important in the public policy arena, where resources development is critically assessed by the public and the regulator), and (3) retention demonstration if EOR comes to derive part of its economic drive from  $CO_2$  storage.

Two types of possible damage to the seal are considered:

When  $CO_2$  and brine come into contact, a small amount of  $CO_2$  dissolves in the aqueous phase, and a portion of that dissolved  $CO_2$  dissociates and forms carbonic acid. When this occurs, the pH of the water drops to values less than 3, making it possible for the now acidic brine to react with and dissolve solid minerals present in the reservoir (exacerbating conformance control issues) and in the seal.

In the evolution of a reservoir from primary though secondary to tertiary processes, the change in reservoir pore pressure introduces geomechanical changes that alter the porosity and permeability of the reservoir and the behavior of fractures and faults. In this section we consider the impact of these changes on the seal.

#### 1.1.1 CO<sub>2</sub>-brine-rock chemical interactions

In EOR, any non-recyclable  $CO_2$  (due to  $CO_2$  subsurface loss) needs to be purchased to compensate for the loss and maintain the  $CO_2$  injection rate. One form of  $CO_2$  loss represents  $CO_2$  entry into the seal, and can occur by three mechanisms: capillary breakthrough as supercritical  $CO_2$ , molecular diffusion as either supercritical  $CO_2$  or dissolved  $CO_2$ , and as a dissolved constituent in vertically migrating brine (Liu and others, 2012). Reactivity between dry supercritical  $CO_2$  and the seal is generally low, although the organic matter present could either sorb the  $CO_2$  or be extracted by the supercritical  $CO_2$  causing alteration of the pore structure (Okamoto and others, 2005; Busch and others, 2008).

CO<sub>2</sub> charged brines, however, will react with solid minerals in the matrix, with the fastest reactions occurring on the carbonate minerals because of their fast reaction kinetics. In the long run, the acidized brine may trigger reactions with the alumino-silicate minerals (feldspars and clays). Such reactions may occur in much longer time-scales, even hundreds or thousands of years, but they contribute significantly to porosity/permeability alterations because of their large percentage in the seal mineralogy (Armitage and others, 2011).

The insight garnered from confining system integrity analysis suggests, however, that the range of  $CO_2$  diffusion into the seal is restricted to approximately the first few meters and that the chemical alteration of alumino-silicates in the seal actually decreases the porosity and permeability of the system, thus enhancing the strength of the seal in the long-term (Gaus and others, 2005). The geochemical reactions at sequestration sites sharing similar confining system mineralogy to Sleipner, North Sea, will largely depend on the amount of  $CO_2$  diffusing into the basal portion of the seal (Lu and others, 2011). Ultimately, the volume of  $CO_2$  permeating the hydrodynamic shale seal should prove to be minor because the effective diffusion coefficient of shale is extremely low and  $CO_2$  diffusion is furthermore hindered by the geochemical reactions generated between immiscible  $CO_2$  and the shale (Chadwick and others, 2008).

As it stands, carbonate dissolution is projected to only affect the basal portion of the confining system, which could produce an increase in porosity. However, alumino-silicates in succeeding elevations of the upper-confining system are expected to dictate those geochemical reactions, leading to only minor changes in porosity depending on the specific seal mineralogy (Chadwick and others, 2008).

In using a combination of thermodynamic batch modeling and diffusion reaction modeling for long-term confining system integrity analysis at Sleipner, Gaus and others (2005) demonstrated that an initial drop in reservoir brine pH caused by the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in water was found to catalyze carbonate dissolution within the reservoir and in the lowermost portion of the upper-confining system. However, the effect of carbonate dissolution on the upper-confining system was determined to be minor due the slow rate of  $CO_2$  diffusion into the seal and the rapid counterbalance of the drop in pH as the carbonate buffering system was established (I. Gaus, 2009). Only in areas of enhanced reservoir flow, such as in the vicinity of the injection well, does the potential exist for an increase in porosity owing to the chemical alteration of k-feldspar in the reservoir rock with large volumes of injected  $CO_2$ .

Thermodynamic equilibrium batch modeling also predicts the precipitation of chalcedony, kaolinite, k-feldspar and carbonate in the upper-confining system through the dissolution of smectites and illite. A potential weakness in the confining system develops as these reactions consume large quantities of formation water through the desiccation of water bearing clays in the seal. However, Gaus and others, (2005) notes equilibrium modeling alone is not recommended because it is not sufficient to interpret the net results of geochemical reactions over a long-term (yet geologically narrow) time-scale of CO<sub>2</sub> storage (>15,000 yrs.) In fact, confining system failure caused by the desiccation of clays is viewed as highly improbable over the long-term due to slow CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion and the inclusion of reaction kinetics.

Diffusion reaction modeling showed that albite had a minor impact on the geochemical reactions in the seal, with only the lowest 4 m of the upper confining system affected. No significant porosity changes occurred in the area of the seal, with only 6 m of elevated  $CO_2$  concentration following 3,000 yrs. Anorthite effectively hinders the diffusion of dissolved  $CO_2$  in the seal, with only 1 m of elevated  $CO_2$  in lower caprock following 3,000 yrs. The precipitation of calcite and kaolinite stemming from the alteration of anorthite actually lowers the porosity in the lower 2 m and the maximum decrease in porosity is contingent on the total concentration of anorthite in the upper-confining system. Overall, as the diffusion rate decreases despite the high value of the diffusion coefficient, the porosity of the seal

decreases and the seal strength of the Sleipner confining system is subsequently projected to increase (Gaus and others, 2005).

Porosity-permeability evolution governed by the dissolution-precipitation reactions between hydrodynamically trapped immiscible  $CO_2$  at the contact of the reservoir sandstone and overlaying shale seal indicates that the alteration of k-feldspar in the shale to Fe-, Mg-, or calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) may enhance the seal of the upper confining system (J.W. Johnson and others, 2004). In a confining system analogous to the shale unit overlaying the reservoir sandstone at Sleipner, the extent of  $CO_2$  diffusion into the shale seal during the operational phase of injection and storage is predictably limited to the lowermost 5-10 m. (Gaus and others, 2005) Mineral trapping of  $CO_2$  via the alteration of k-feldspar at the reservoir-confining system interface is enhanced by the consumption of Fe-Mg-bearing shale minerals:

 $KAlSi_{3}O_{8} \text{ (k-feld.)} + 2.5 \text{ Mg}_{5}Al_{2}Si_{3}O_{10}(OH)_{8} \text{ (Mg-chlorite)} + 12.5 \text{ CO}_{2}(aq) \leftrightarrow KAl_{3}Si_{3}O_{10}(OH)_{2}$ 

+ 1.5 Al<sub>2</sub>Si<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>(OH)<sub>4</sub> (kaolinite) + 12.5 MgCO<sub>3</sub> (magnesite) + 4.5 SiO<sub>2</sub> (qtz/chal) + 6 H<sub>2</sub>O

Directed by the preceding chemical pathway, the porosity and permeability of the shale unit is effectively decreased by the precipitation of carbonates along the base and within the  $CO_2$  saturated portion of the shale seal. Consequently, mineral trapping under this condition actually promotes the quality of the hydrodynamic seal integrity of the confining system and, thus, self-mitigates the risk of  $CO_2$  leakage through the shale layer. See figure 1.1 (J.W. Johnson and others, 2004).

For pre-existing fractures at the base of the upper confining system, mineral dissolution of calcite and dolomite leads to an increase in fracture width. The largest increase in fracture width occurs where calcite grains directly contact the  $CO_2$ -rich brine, while smallest growth in fracture width occurs where silicates come in direct contact with the  $CO_2$ -rich brine. (Ellis et al 2011). Dissolution leads to calcite-depleted zones that alternatively exhibited a deposit of clay minerals in exchange, which may slow the calcite dissolution rate and subsequently the rate of fracture growth by regulating the migration of aqueous species between the  $CO_2$ -rich brine and calcite grains. The diminished reaction rates between the clay coatings along fracture walls and the brine phase indicates that the total clay content of a carbonate rock is a controlling factor on fracture permeability, despite the increased porosity arriving from calcite dissolution. This evidence would suggest that upper confining systems comprised of carbonate rock with high clay mineral content will prove more secure in confining CO<sub>2</sub>-rich brine than those with low clay mineral content.



Figure 1.1: Porosity and permeability reduction due to trapping (A) after 20 years in reservoir (initial porosity: 35%; shales shown in white [off-scale low]) and (B-C) after 20 years and 130 years in the caprock. From Johnson and others, 2003a

Another consideration regarding  $CO_2$ -brine-rock interactions is the potential for permeability reduction at the periphery of an injection well due to the speed of  $CO_2$ -rock interactions and precipitation kinetics of salts from the brine solution. As supercritical  $CO_2$  is injected, the brine is displaced and dissolution of water in the permeating dry  $CO_2$  can cause formation dry-out in the vicinity of the injection well and lead to the precipitation of halite. This can lead to a reduction in injectivity and can introduce an additional hurdle in controlling  $CO_2$  flood conformance as well as increasing the risk of a rapid pressure increase in the near well environment.

To mitigate this condition, K. Pruess (2009) recommends a slug of fresh water preceding the initiation of  $CO_2$  injection in order to reduce salt precipitation and permeability loss in the near wellbore environment. However, this mitigation method can prove costly or pose adverse operational risks to the injection program (Ott and others, 2013). In an effort to expand upon the dearth of experimental data describing reservoir dry-out and succeeding salt precipitation, Ott and others (2011) conducted corefloods in order to observe the spatial and time evolution of saturation changes and salt precipitation as supercritical  $CO_2$  was pumped into a brine saturated Berea sandstone.

Experiment results revealed that the salt accretion in the injected core was locally concentrated much higher than was present in the original saturating brine. This indicates that capillary-driven backflow of brine presumably explains the local salt precipitation. A decrease in the absolute permeability by a factor of four was observed in association with local salt accretion; yet, the effective permeability increased during the experiment by a factor of five and implies no reduction of injectivity within the core sample. Multiple  $\mu$ CT scans for cross sections of the sandstone core indicates that salt precipitation was largely isolated to the percolation pathways, thus preserving the CO<sub>2</sub>-pathways. However, salt

precipitation is not strictly due to local accretion, as a bimodal precipitation regime was revealed during a subsequent core-flood experiment employing variables in CO<sub>2</sub> injection rate (Ott and others, 2012). Above a determined critical volumetric flow rate  $q_{cr}$ , salt precipitated uniformly in conformity with dryout front migration. At values below  $q_{cr}$ , a negative water saturation gradient develops as water increasingly evaporates in the near-well environment, which leads to the previously observed capillary backflow and local salt accretion (Figure 1.2).





Figure 1.2: Top row: schematic view of the different flow regimes identified for simple pore systems (well sorted sandstone). The flow regimes determine the precipitation pattern and are characterized by the flow rate with respect to a critical flow rate  $q_{cr}$ . Bottom row: schematic cross-sectional capillary-driven brine transport as described in the text. (Ott and others, 2012)

In a follow-up investigation, Ott and others (2013) pursued the effects of reservoir dry-out owing to the injection of dry or under-saturated supercritical acid gas and/or  $CO_2$  in a dolomite formation targeted for both EOR and disposal. Unlike in the previous investigation, where the Berea sandstone represented a single-porosity system, the core-flood tests conducted on dolomitic rock were used to characterize the effects of formation dry-out and salt precipitation in a multi-porosity system. Results from the investigation revealed that gas injectivity reduction in a dolomite reservoir depends on the mobility of the brine phase, with a potentially high injectivity reduction at high water saturations. The risk of injectivity loss is expected to be low in EOR reservoirs at irreducible water saturation (immobile brine phase) where the effective permeability is not affected, such as the reservoir in this study. The observed difference in changes of effective permeability in the near-well environment between sandstone and dolomite reservoirs is believed to be caused by the multi-porous dolomite rock matrix, where the micro-porous system stores and slowly contributes brine to the  $CO_2$ -conducting macro-porous system and effectively chokes the  $CO_2$  pathway (Ott and others, 2013).

#### 1.1.2 Geomechanical characterization

Geomechanical characterization is often neglected when considering hydrocarbon production. However, geomechanical effects often have a significant impact on production rates and ultimate recovery. As reservoir pressure changes during the life of the EOR project, the stress field is modified, altering the porosity and permeability of the reservoir and the behavior of fractures and faults.

Chiaramonte (2008) developed a geomechanical model of the Tensleep formation, a Pennsylvanian age eolian fractured sandstone that served as the target zone for a pilot  $CO_2$ -EOR/storage experiment in a three-way closure trap against a bounding fault. The analysis demonstrated that  $CO_2$  injection would neither induce slip on the reservoir bounding fault nor fracture the caprock. However, the rising pore pressure would critically stress (activate) a network of minor faults, enhancing formation permeability and therefore  $CO_2$  injectivity. The analysis also concluded that the potential for slip on these features could possibly compromise the top sealing capacity of the Tensleep formation should these minor faults extend up into the caprock (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Observed Tensleep formation fractures (right) and caprock fractures (left) from three wells in the study area. White dots represent poles of the fractures that are critically stressed. From Chiaramonte (2008)

Chiaramonte also studied injection-induced microseismicity as a means to increase the permeability of tight formations. This technique starts by increasing the fluid pressure in the target formation in order to reduce the effective normal stress on optimally-oriented faults and fractures, triggering slip and, therefore, creating high permeability pathways within the reservoir. The study concludes by proposing the use of the technology for permeability and injectivity enhancement as well as the use of seismic monitoring to gather information about the permeability and the fracture network of reservoirs.

Rutvqvist and Tsang (2002) developed a study on the hydraulic, mechanical and hydromechanical effects to the confining system in response to  $CO_2$  injection, including the spread of the  $CO_2$  plume, effective stress changes, ground surface uplift, stress-induced permeability changes and mechanical failure analysis. The simulation model utilized a hypothetical sandstone aquifer covered by 100 m thick shale, then analyzed the effects of multi-phase flow coupled with heat transfer and rock deformation for reservoirs featuring a homogeneous upper-confining seal (See Figure 1.4).

The results of their study revealed that high  $CO_2$  injection pressure influences the reduction of effective stress within the margin of the injection zone and seal, and that the hydromechanical changes generated by the change in mean effective stress pose the greatest risk to the lower part of the seal. The reduction in effective stress increased the potential for shear failure as fluid diffuses through the rock during the concomitant increase in pressure over time; creating poro-elastic stresses that reduce the shear strength and increase the shear stress simultaneously. The cumulative effect of these changes increased the reactivation of pre-existing faults and fractures primarily by means of shear failure. Furthermore, the potential for shear reactivation in the lower part of the seal is possible at injection pressures below the lithostatic pressure.

However, under such a scenario fault slip reactivation will likely be limited to this portion of the seal, while the effective stress of the upper seal remains unchanged and thus intact. Slow increases in reservoir pressure also favor shear failure over hydraulic fracturing, though, if the fluid pressure increases rapidly, the fluid could rapidly propagate through pre-existing fractures and diminish the effective stresses within these fractures. In this scenario, hydraulic fracturing can be induced, although fractures would be contained within the lower portion of the seal. Finally, in a scenario involving a vertical fault under the conditions of rapid fluid propagation, the upward migration through the upper portion of the confining system is accelerated due to the combination of relative permeability and viscosity changes as well as pressure-induced hydromechanical permeability changes.



Figure 1.4: Pressure margins to (a) hydraulic fracturing and (b) shear slip in pre-existing faults after 10 years of CO<sub>2</sub> injection. From Rutvqvist and Tsang (2002)

A follow-up report by Rutqvist and others (2008) expands on the aforementioned study involving the hydromechanical changes in the confining system integrity of a homogenous injection aquifer and homogeneous seal, to include a multilayered reservoir-seal system. The study presents the results from coupled reservoir-geochemical simulations that estimate the potential for tensile and shear failure caused by CO<sub>2</sub>-injection and further discusses possible guidelines for estimating the maximum sustainable injection pressure of an injection site. The major conclusion from the heterogeneous confining system study is that a simple calculation of the vertical lithostatic pressure is not enough in assessing confining system integrity, and that a full three-dimensional stress field needs to be carefully characterized. The determination of maximum sustainable reservoir pressure also needs to gauge the potential for shear failure along pre-existing fractures, not just tensile fracturing. The estimation of poroelastic stress in EOR projects needs a more robust approach, such as the one adopted in GCS studies, in order to avoid the overestimation of the maximum sustainable injection pressure.

Hawkes and others, (2009) concluded that reactivation of pre-existing faults and fractures can occur when the maximum shear stress working on the fault exceeds the shear strength of the fault plane. In this study, pore pressure determined the slip tendency of a pre-existing fault/fracture. Quantifying the maximum sustainable CO<sub>2</sub> injection pressure required a careful consideration of the permeability and thickness of the overlaying confining system. Furthermore, Rutqvist and others (2008) concluded that a vertical migration of fluid pressure stemming from leakage at the base of the reservoir culminates in the upper part of the confining system evolving into the area of highest tensile or shear failure potential. Further analysis indicated that a compressional injection-induced mechanical failure is preferred over an extensional failure because failure would occur along shallowly dipping fractures and not propagate through the uppermost seal.

#### 1.1.3 Case Study: In Salah

A seal integrity study at Krechba, In Salah, Algeria, utilized a variety of field data to monitor and analyze the response of the reservoir and confining system to CO<sub>2</sub> injection. The study included core and log data, two 3D seismic surveys, microseismic data, wellhead gas pressures, flow rates, gas compositions and tracers, downhole fluid samples, surface gas flux, and satellite InSAR data (Gemmer and others, 2012). The reservoir and seal were mapped using 3D and 4D seismic interpretations, geological modeling, structural reconstructions, and analysis of the well data. An integrated geomechanical model for the Krechba field was then constructed using geometry obtained from available seismic interpretations. Rock mechanical properties for the stress and strain resulting from the pore pressure changes stemming from CO<sub>2</sub> injection and gas production were calculated utilizing available laboratory tests, logs and well data, and 2D finite element modeling. The geomechanical response to CO<sub>2</sub> injection was examined using pore pressure data obtained from well observations and the reservoir simulation model.

In 2010, a Quantified Risk Assessment (QRA) utilizing new seismic, InSAR data and dynamic/geomechanical models detected a dominant risk regarding the potential for vertical leakage in the upper confining system (Ringrose and others, 2013). A pre-injection baseline survey revealed a joint set of NW-SE trending linear fracture arrays in the vicinity of injection wells KB502 and KB503, wherein injection performance and plume development at well KB502 became a focus of concern. Following injection, combined results from satellite InSAR data and reservoir modeling demonstrated that the pressure increase caused by CO<sub>2</sub> injection led to reservoir expansion and displacement of the reservoir overburden interface amounting to ~1 cm after three years as well as minor displacement along the base of the reservoir. Meanwhile, the inferred surface uplift by InSAR is ~2 cm, and suggests that almost half of the observed surface uplift is owed to elastic deformation (Gemmer and others, (2012). The surface uplift suggests CO<sub>2</sub> injection has re-energized the pre-existing NW-SE fractures and potentially induced new hydraulic fractures within the reservoir. Accordingly, CO<sub>2</sub> injection pressure was reduced in June 2010 and later suspended in June 2011 (Ringrose and others, 2013). Presently, no leakage from the reservoir has been detected and the system is considered secure. Nevertheless, the future injection strategy is currently under review as CO<sub>2</sub> induced geomechanical response research is conducted (Ringrose and others, 2013).

Gemmer and others (2012) used a two-dimensional plane-strain finite element model (Abaqus) to simulate the effects of  $CO_2$  injection into two (KB-502 and KB-503) of the three injection wells at Krechba (Figure 1.5). In this study, the effects of the rock mechanical properties on the surface displacement pattern were analyzed by and controlled through three sensitivity studies: Model 1, the reference case linear-elastic model; Model 2, the reference case with fault/fracture zones; and Model 3, Model 2 plus cohesion in the fault/fracture zone over the KB-502 injection well is decreased from 5 MPa to 3 MPa. KB-502 is of interest because this injection well exhibited a bimodal displacement soon after the onset of  $CO_2$  injection that exhibits ~2 cm total uplift forming a rim, with a small ~1 cm depression at the interior of this vertical uplift.



Figure 1.5. Location of geomechanical model (blue line) in relation to injection wells (KB-502 and KB-503) and InSAR vertical surface displacement pattern (mm) (at August 2009, red color indicates uplift of up to 20mm). From Gemmer and others (2012)

Results indicated that the surface displacement pattern depends on the rock mechanical properties, while the inclusion of fault/fracture zones leads to pore pressure increases, accompanied by a decrease in the effective stress and material failure in these zones. This leads to enhanced deformation and a doubling of the vertical and horizontal surface displacement amplitudes compared with the elastic model. However, under some circumstances, the enhanced horizontal displacements lead to local extension and surface subsidence in the center of the injection region, which may explain the observed surface displacement pattern around the KB-502 injection well (Gemmer and others, 2012).

#### 1.1.4 Case Study: Sleipner

A valuable case study in the mechanisms of vertical and lateral plume spread is provided by monitoring plume growth at the Sleipner injection site in the North Sea using repeat 3-D seismic surveys.

The Sleipner gas field in the North Sea is a GCS site in operation since 1996 and has proved instrumental in establishing site characterization studies, testing and proving modeling and monitoring technology, and improving subsequent updates to enable better predictions of CO<sub>2</sub> plume evolution (Eiken and others, 2011). The injection environment is ideal to study the interaction of buoyancy of CO<sub>2</sub> with geologic media and improve modeling skills for this setting. These improved modeling skills can then be used in complex EOR settings to better assess and manage gravity override. At Sleipner, CO<sub>2</sub> was injected into a thick section of very high permeability sandstones of the Utsira Formation, which only has a few thin clayey interbeds in this area to retard vertical flow. In addition, CO<sub>2</sub> was injected at shallow depths, where its density contrast with formation water was high. No other injection or production is occurring in the Utsira Formation, and no pressure increase is occurring to complicate the fluid flow regime.

Movement of the CO<sub>2</sub> plume beneath the slightly deformed base of the seal has been imaged repeatedly, providing a series of plume-edge locations that can be matched using various model methods. Initial petrophysical and geophysical baseline surveys at Sleipner mapped reservoir heterogeneity and these data were utilized to develop the initial site integrity and fluid flow modeling predictions (Boait and others, 2012). Accordingly, the structural and stratigraphic detail surrounding the injection well has proved essential in understanding and predicting the long-term behavior of the CO<sub>2</sub> plume (Chadwick and others, 2004). Additional geophysical surveys have demonstrated the influence of interbedded shale layers within the reservoir sandstone on the vertical and lateral expression of the immiscible plume. These shale layers comprise an intra-reservoir permeability structure that impedes the vertical migration of the plume, while enhancing lateral migration and thus expanding the spatial extent of plume-aquifer interaction (J.W. Johnson, 2004). An analysis of the evolution of the immiscible plume by Boait and others (2011), provides evidence for a three stage growth sequence for each of the nine intra-reservoir horizons observed at Sleipner via an increase in the effective permeabilities within the shale layers:

1. Fluid flows beneath a low permeability barrier leading to rapid lateral expansion and eventually the upward propagation through the mudstone layer as the hydrostatic pressure of the  $CO_2$  increases.

2. The thickness of the draining fluid eventually exceeds the thickness of the low permeability layer. Having penetrated the low permeability layer, the buoyancy of the  $CO_2$  contributes to the drainage velocity and halts the propagation of the gravity current.

3. When the weight of the overlying fluid dominates drainage, the lateral extent of the gravity current recedes to a steady state.

Cumulatively, the change in effective permeability along each intra-reservoir shale bed reduces the net flux of  $CO_2$  into the deeper layers of the plume and is simultaneously increased along shallower layers that are now exhibiting rapid lateral propagation (Boait and others, (2011); figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6: Vertical sections through the time-lapse seismic volumes. Upper panels: uninterpreted slices which clearly show growth of CO<sub>2</sub> plume. Note change in reflectivity and push down of deeper layers. Lower panels: line drawing interpretations. Numbered lines correspond to the mapped horizons; solid circle on 1994section = injection point; TU = top Utsira Sand; BU = base Utsira Sand; dotted line = BU from 1994 survey. Note vertical exaggeration. From Boait and others (2011)

Cavanagh (2013) compared migration (capillary flow) and black oil (Darcy flow) simulations to observed plume distributions in the Utsira formation from 1999 to 2008. Results show that a combination of modeling techniques is required to match the gravity-driven flow observed. The modeled rates in particular are not well-matched, however the data provides the constraints needed to improve modeling for this case. Both modeling approaches suggest that the CO<sub>2</sub> plume beneath the seal is likely to become immobile shortly after injection volume decrease, as the plume is considered to be in dynamic equilibrium, considerably reducing the risk of post-injection lateral migration.

#### 1.2 Area of Review (AoR): CO<sub>2</sub> distribution and flow paths leading to CO<sub>2</sub> losses

One of the elements in conducting an effective EOR flood is the effective contact between the  $CO_2$  and the oil. Significant research has been conducted in managing the physical constraints that limit the efficiency of the  $CO_2$  displacement. The main causes of poor sweep efficiency are: (1)  $CO_2$  mobility contrast with the reservoir fluids, which leads to fingering and preferential flow, and (2) gravity override of  $CO_2$ , which causes it to migrate to the top of the reservoir. One of the main mechanisms for mobility control in EOR is the injection of brine through the same  $CO_2$  injection wells in a brine- $CO_2$  alternating manner (Water Alternating Gas, or WAG). Foams or other additives can also be used to reduce the  $CO_2/oil$  mobility ratio. Water can be injected to elevate pressure, favoring miscibility and focusing  $CO_2$  to the areas selected for production, sometimes referred to as "water curtain".

For geologic storage, the efficient use of pore volume, similar in most ways to the EOR need for good sweep, is also very important. The major motivations for seeking good sweep are to limit lateral migration of CO<sub>2</sub> and improve storage capacity.

The risks of lateral migration associated with geologic storage of CO<sub>2</sub> in saline formations are defined under the Underground Injection Control Program (UIC), in the Class VI program. Two elements are recognized; the area underlain by CO<sub>2</sub> and the area of elevated pressure. Class VI requires that the operator identify any features that might allow migration of fluids to the freshwater, known in UIC program as underground sources of drinking water (USDW). Conduits for leakage to USDW can be natural (faults) or human made (wells). In the case of water injection under the UIC class I program, injection pressure is the driving force behind leakage. In the case of injection of a buoyant fluid, such as CO<sub>2</sub>, gravity forces continue acting even after dissipation of pressure produced by injection. This phenomenon adds a third avenue for leakage, in which CO<sub>2</sub> migrates updip beneath the gently-dipping seal, potentially moving long distances latterly. Long migration paths may allow CO<sub>2</sub> to encounter upward connectivity of transmissive zones through, for example, loss of seal integrity, sand-against-sand fault compartments, or spill points where faults die off.

Understanding the potential for lateral migration requires a good understanding of the reservoir geology. Geologic storage modeling and field studies demonstrate how reservoir heterogeneity and gravitational segregation interact to control the vertical distribution of  $CO_2$  within the reservoir and limit the lateral expansion of flow paths. Improved understanding of geological controls on lateral flow assists in selecting an adequate monitoring approach as well as in implementing a more effective injection strategy for a projected maximum and ultimate extent of the  $CO_2$  plume.

Juanes and others (2006) studied the evolution of an immiscible  $CO_2$  plume footprint in a homogenous aquifer. In this geological setting, the plume is governed by gravitational buoyance arising from the density difference between  $CO_2$  and brine as well as the capillarity between reservoir fluids and rock that limits the lateral dimensions of the plume. As  $CO_2$  is injected into the reservoir, the less wetting  $CO_2$ displaces the more wetting brine via a drainage-like process. As gravity effects produce an upwelling of  $CO_2$ , the gas is displaced in an imbibition process while the backflow of brine at the trailing edge of the plume contributes to the distinctive shape of the plume-shaped gravity tongue (Juanes and others, 2009). As the plume encounters an impermeable confining system at the top of the reservoir, the  $CO_2$  accumulates beneath the layer and hereafter rapidly spreads laterally.

Spatially heterogeneous rock properties (e.g. permeability and capillary pressure) can create preferential flow paths, which favor lateral plume propagation (Bryant and others 2008) and create large CO<sub>2</sub> footprints. Reservoir heterogeneity features can be a product of geological depositional history, post-depositional diagenetic processes, structural deformation or the precipitation of asphaltene and heavy oil "flocs" during CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR operations at a site. All these factors have an influence on fluid flow, which can significantly affect channelization or fingering behavior of CO<sub>2</sub> and the overall character of the plume. A comprehensive assessment of reservoir heterogeneity characteristics will be important to establish an accurate projection of reservoir fluid flow evolution and to ultimately promote a more effective  $CO_2$  flood conformance strategy. Two types of heterogeneity affect fluid flow: (1) heterogeneity in map view, in which the CO<sub>2</sub> plume grows preferentially in some rock volumes, such as along the channel-axis where high permeablities are found, leading to an elongated or spider-form plume, and (2) vertical heterogeneity, in which some zones of a rock sequence are more permeable and accept most of the CO<sub>2</sub>, leading to a thick reservoir in which only a small part of the sequence accepts CO<sub>2</sub>, which then leads to large lateral spread. These factors have long been recognized in EOR floods as reasons for by-pass (Lake, 1989). However, monitoring floods in saline formations where the system is minimally modified by production improves the understanding of fluid flow processes and allows for effective modeling approaches.

A reservoir depositional history comprised of sedimentation along the lobes and branches of fluvial channels can also comprise a heterogeneity feature that can affect the plume shape evolution and migration characteristics. In such a system, the difference in permeability between channels and the surrounding sediment will dictate the preferred fluid flowpaths as the CO<sub>2</sub> will tend to migrate along higher permeability channel structures (Thatcher and others, 2011).

The preferred migration of  $CO_2$  along fluvial channels has been observed in field studies during subsurface monitoring of  $CO_2$  injection at SECARB's phase-III Cranfield site, where monitoring large volume injection into a heterogeneous amalgamated fluvial reservoir with wide lateral continuity but containing many internal high permeability zones, as well as likely zones that baffle flow (Figure 1.7), demonstrated some of the impacts of reservoir heterogeneity on fluid flow. Although this field was developed as an EOR flood, the development of the flood was excellent for making observations. Rather than being developed as a phase of water flood, Cranfield was abandoned and shut in in 1966, so that pressure and fluids could re-equilibrate prior to initiation of the flood in 2008. Additionally, the operator Denbury Onshore LLC, operates the field by continuous  $CO_2$  injection (no WAG), and waits for  $CO_2$  arrival and reservoir pressure to build to drive production. Therefore, the early stages of field development are simple injection, like a storage-only site.

Pressure response through the reservoir showed that pressure communication through the water phase was very good, with only a crestal graben fault segmenting the reservoir. However, CO<sub>2</sub> breakthrough showed strong evidence that two-phase flow was dominated by preferential flowpaths over short distances. At one monitoring well location (EGL7), CO<sub>2</sub> arrival was delayed compared to model predictions by almost a year and a half, unlike faster than modeled arrival at others wells. Another

transect in which wells were placed close together and monitored repeatedly showed clear interaction of the two-phase fluid flow with reservoir heterogeneity. At high injection rates, CO<sub>2</sub> (measured with tracers) arrived faster at the more distant well located 100 meters downdip of the injector, by-passing the nearer observation well at 60 m. This behavior shows preferred flow through sinuous channel geometry. In addition, cross-well surveys show that the CO<sub>2</sub> accessed two layers of the possible 60 mthick interval, by-passing much of the permeable reservoir formation (Lu and others, 2012; Hovorka, 2012). Modeling could not identify a single realization of the channel geometry that matched all required observations; however an array of realizations could bound the observed conditions (Hosseini and others, 2012)



Figure 1.7. (a) Stratal slice of the 3-D seismic survey, with interpreted channel morphologies in the Lower Tuscaloosa Formation "D-E" interval showing high-amplitude (red) sinuous fluvial channel loops. Dashed line shows location of cross section in Figure. (b) Interpreted channel morphologies in seismic profile, showing general reservoir architecture of a fluvial point-bar plain. Sandstones (red) appear to be discontinuous laterally, suggesting sinuous deposition in 3-D. Location of cross section marked by dashed line in Figure a. (Lu and others, 2012)

Another important type of heterogeneity is structural heterogeneity. At the In Salah CO<sub>2</sub> storage site, Algeria, the influence of structural deformation on CO<sub>2</sub> migration in the subsurface has been demonstrated in relation to a network of intra-reservoir faults and fractures. The reservoir is extensively fractured along a predominant joint set (NW-SE) in close alignment with the present-day stress field and is also faulted by a series of strike-slip faults (E-W) stemming from basin inversion (Cavanagh and Ringrose, 2011). The Krechba reservoir at In Salah is comprised of a 20 m thick homogeneous sandstone

with fluid flow from three injection sites (KB501, KB502 and KB-503) directed by and entrained at topographic traps along the reservoir-confining system interface (J.P. Deflandre and others. 2011). The network of faults at In Salah act as a barrier to fluid flow and simulations studies suggest they locally restrict the CO<sub>2</sub> around the injection wells and channelize flow toward topographic traps at the reservoir-confining system interface (Cavanagh and Ringrose, 2011).

CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects may benefit from the required site characterization and modeling efforts developed for geologic storage operations in order to accurately predict flood conformance evolving from the injection of CO<sub>2</sub>. An understanding of reservoir heterogeneity can provide key insight into performance of a CO<sub>2</sub> flood and enable the development of an injection well network and an injection rate strategy that will enhance hydrocarbon production rate as well as CO<sub>2</sub> utilization efficiency. However, the task of undertaking a site characterization study need not be strictly constrained to new CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR sites. Older EOR fields with heavy infrastructure investment in CO<sub>2</sub> pipeline and separation facilities but declining production may be candidates for improved concepts of the intersections of fluid flow with reservoir heterogeneity to be employed to redesign patterns to access parts of the reservoir previously by-passed.

## **1.3** Hydrogeochemistry: rock-water-CO<sub>2</sub> interactions and understanding of flow processes

Chemical interactions between  $CO_2$  and reservoir brines have traditionally been ignored by EOR operators, because of the dominant interaction of  $CO_2$  and oil. However, storage projects where  $CO_2$  containment needs to be assured have invested extensively in understanding rock-water interactions with introduced  $CO_2$ . Advances in CCS research, such as the inclusion of a water phase in compositional simulation which accounts for  $CO_2$  dissolution, an important trapping mechanism, could enhance the accuracy of industry  $CO_2$  flood modeling efforts. Hydrogeochemical reactions monitored during CCS pilot projects have demonstrated the timescale of  $CO_2$ -brine-rock trapping processes that lead to an increase in  $CO_2$  storage and the long-term integrity for these sites; data which can be extrapolated to  $CO_2$ -EOR operations to furnish a better understanding of  $CO_2$  recycling debits and an increase in  $CO_2$  commodity efficiency.

Several trapping mechanisms secure supercritical  $CO_2$  in saline aquifers: (1) residual gas trapping, (2) solubility trapping, (3) structural/stratigraphic trapping, (4) mineral trapping, and (5) ionic trapping. Residual trapping, or capillary trapping, occurs rapidly as the  $CO_2$  initially displaces the brine throughout the porous rock and is subsequently trapped in the pore throat as brine reinvades the region. A surface tension (capillary force) secures  $CO_2$  in an immobile state within the pore spaces of reservoir rock. Some solubility trapping occurs early during  $CO_2$  injection when  $CO_2$  contacts undersaturated brine, with the amount of dissolution dependent on pressure and salinity of formation water. Structural trapping occurs as the  $CO_2$  plume accumulates underneath the seal as a free mobile phase, or generally up-dip within a geological structure or topographic high. Mineral trapping occurs over a long period of time and represents the conversion of  $CO_2$  to mineral precipitates (Han and others, 2010)

A rapid geochemical reaction observed at the onset of  $CO_2$  injection is a decrease in the pH of the reservoir brine caused by the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in water to produce carbonic acid ( $H_2CO_3$ ), which

dissociates to bicarbonate  $HCO_3^-$  and a hydrogen ion (H<sup>+</sup>). This rapid drop in the pH of the brine causes dissolution of reservoir minerals in the cement or rock, particularly carbonates, to produce bicarbonate and a calcium ion (Ca<sup>2+</sup>), generating a buffered reaction that elevates the brine pH to a less acidic concentration. Over the long term, alumino-silicate minerals are also dissolved (I. Gaus, 2009). In this instance, dissolution reactions between the acidic brine and alumino-silicate minerals function as geochemical conduits to entrain  $CO_2$  through ionic and mineral trapping:

(a) An example of ionic trapping can be represented by the dissolution of calcite:

 $CO_2$  (g) + H<sub>2</sub>O + CaCO<sub>3</sub>  $\Rightarrow$  Ca<sup>2+</sup> + 2HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>

(b) An example of mineral trapping is the alteration of albite or k-feldspar leading to the storage of CO2 in the product dawsonite:

NaAlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub> (albite) + CO<sub>2</sub> (aq) + H<sub>2</sub>O  $\leftarrow \rightarrow$  NaAlCO<sub>3</sub>(OH)<sub>2</sub> (dawsonite) + 3SiO<sub>2</sub>; or KAlSi<sub>3</sub>O<sub>8</sub> (k-feldspar) + Na<sup>+</sup> + CO<sub>2</sub> (aq) + H<sub>2</sub>O  $\leftarrow \rightarrow$  NaAlCO<sub>3</sub>(OH)<sub>2</sub> (dawsonite) + 3SiO<sub>2</sub> + K<sup>+</sup>

Water becomes denser as it dissolves the  $CO_2$  causing convective mixing that increases the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in brine (Hassanzadeh and others, 2005). As the density contrast is small, the rate of convective mixing may be slow.

#### 1.3.1 Case Studies

#### Frio

Evidence for the aforementioned buffering reaction was observed during the monitoring of fluid compositions conducted by the Gulf Coast Carbon Center at the University of Texas during the Frio brine pilot project. Prior to  $CO_2$  injection, chemical analysis classified the Frio brine as a Na-Ca-Cl type water, with 93,000 mg/L total dissolved solids (TDS) and 40-45 molar mass of dissolved  $CH_4$  at reservoir conditions (Kharaka, 2006) in a weakly-cemented sandstone reservoir. Fluid composition monitoring following the start of  $CO_2$  injection revealed a sharp drop in the brine pH from 6.5 to 5.7 resulting from the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in the formation brine. A sharp increase in alkalinity (100 to 3000 mg/L of  $HCO_3^{-1}$ ) as well as additional significant increases in Mn and Ca are observed, (Figure 1.8). These effects can be attributed to the dissolution of minor amounts of carbonate and iron oxyhydroxide minerals coating sand grains (Kharaka, 2006). High surface areas result in rapid but short-term reactions, duplicated in the lab (K, Knause, personal communication; Lu and others, 2012b)



Figure 1.8: Electrical conductance (EC), pH and alkalinity of Frio brine from observation well determined on site during CO<sub>2</sub> injection. Note the sharp drop of pH and alkalinity increase with the breakthrough of CO<sub>2</sub>. From Kharaka, 2006.

#### Weyburn-Midale

In this classic example of GCS research in an EOR environment, several techniques to quantify  $CO_2$  losses and track  $CO_2$  movement were tested. In addition to solubility trapping, the significance of ionic trapping as a short-term  $CO_2$  storage mechanism was experimentally induced and observed during a 40 month period of injection into a dominantly carbonate hydrocarbon reservoir at the IEA Weyburn  $CO_2$ Monitoring and Storage Project, Saskatchewan, Canada. Baseline data for  $CO_2$  and  $HCO_3^-$  was determined through fluid samples collected from 4 production wells prior to  $CO_2$  injection, and analyzed to obtain the  $HCO_3^-$  concentration understand the behavior of the low carbon isotope ratio ( $\delta^{13}C$  value). Results from the geochemical monitoring program evidenced the magnitude of ionic trapping of  $CO_2$ within the reservoir as the 4 production wells exhibited an increase in  $HCO_3^-$  concentration, a marked increase in mole%  $CO_2$ , and a decrease in the  $\delta^{13}C$  values of  $HCO_3^-$  and  $CO_2$  throughout the monitoring period. The increase in  $HCO_3^-$  concentration and mole%  $CO_2$  in conjunction with the observed decrease in  $\delta^{13}C$   $HCO_3^-$  and  $CO_2$  values demonstrates that a significant volume of injected  $CO_2$  had dissolved in the reservoir brine and converted to  $HCO_3^-$  (Raistrick and others, 2006).

The Pembina Cardium CO<sub>2</sub> Monitoring Project in Alberta, Canada, also utilized the injection of CO<sub>2</sub> with a low carbon isotope ratio ( $\delta^{13}$ C) in order to determine CO<sub>2</sub> plume evolution and preferential flow paths in a hydrocarbon reservoir. This method successfully established a useful tracing technique to observe movement of CO<sub>2</sub> throughout the reservoir by detecting the early breakthrough of injected CO<sub>2</sub> in concentrations requiring only a minimum 10% difference between baseline and  $\delta^{13}$ C values of injected CO<sub>2</sub> (Johnson and others, 2011).

A follow-up study conducted by Raistrick and others (2009) evaluated whether silicate mineral dissolution occurred in the first phase of the Weyburn-Midale project through modeling the potential impact of silicate mineral reactions for future CO<sub>2</sub> storage via ionic and mineral trapping. Geochemical data from twelve geochemical monitoring events were used to trace injected CO<sub>2</sub>, quantify the mass of injected CO<sub>2</sub> stored as HCO<sub>3</sub> -, estimate molecular CO<sub>2</sub> storage in the reservoir fluids and evaluate CO<sub>2</sub>-aqueous fluid-mineral reactions. Four years of production well monitoring at Weyburn measured

changes in chemical and isotopic data for produced aqueous fluids and gases. These samples demonstrated an increase in  $Ca_2^+$ ,  $Mg_2^+$ ,  $K^+$ ,  $SO_4^{2^-}$ ,  $HCO_3^-$ , and  $CO_2$  concentrations in addition to a decrease in  $\delta^{13}C$  HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and  $\delta^{13}C$  CO<sub>2</sub> values. The reaction pathways predicted by geochemical modeling of the CO<sub>2</sub>-rock-water system were confirmed in the field.

#### Nagaoka

The Nagaoka Site, Japan, represents a pilot  $CO_2$  storage project focusing on the performance of  $CO_2$  during and after injection. This project has provided insight on the geochemical reactions between reservoir rock minerals and formation water as well as the significance of solubility trapping as the predominant early stage  $CO_2$  storage mechanism. Prior to  $CO_2$  injection, reservoir rock and formation water was sampled for laboratory analysis, then followed by a subsequent sample collection approximately one year after the cessation of  $CO_2$  injection (Mito and others 2008). Post-  $CO_2$  injection fluid samples collected from a depth interval located slightly below the  $CO_2$  bearing zone were evaluated utilizing chemical analysis and revealed a significant increase in  $HCO_3^-$ , Ca, Mg, Fe, and Si concentrations compared to the composition of pre- $CO_2$  injection formation water. Further analysis of the chemical reaction mechanisms operating within the  $CO_2$ -rock-water system indicates that dissolution of  $CO_2$  in aqueous  $HCO_3^-$  (Mito and others, 2008).

The increase in Ca, Mg, Fe and Si in post-CO<sub>2</sub> injection fluid composition at the Nagaoka site developed from geochemical reactions governed by the interplay between mineral dissolution rates and the relative concentrations of minerals present in the reservoir rock (see figure 1.9). At Nagaoka, the reservoir rock is immature, with high feldspar content, and accessory minerals that include chlorite and carbonate , and likely represent the sources of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup> and Si<sup>4+</sup> in the early stage of CO<sub>2</sub> storage at the reservoir (Mito and others, 2008). Furthermore the dissolution of plagioclase and chlorite is expected to neutralize the acidification of formation water derived from the dissolution of CO<sub>2</sub>, while the accumulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Fe<sup>2+</sup> in turn enhances the mineral trapping of CO<sub>2</sub> through the long-term precipitation (Mito and others, 2008).



Figure 1.9: The dissolution rate of a mineral versus the amount of the mineral in the reservoir rock. From Mito and others 2008.

#### Cranfield

The capacity of this reservoir to entrain  $CO_2$  via mineral trapping was found to be largely dependent on the mineralogical and petrographic properties of the reservoir during the geochemical monitoring program at the Cranfield  $CO_2$ -EOR site in Mississippi. The sandstones have been diagenetically stabilized prior to  $CO_2$  injection at Cranfield, and are now composed of less reactive quartz and chert grains, abundant chlorite forms a pervasive grain-coating early cement, isolating grains from contact with pore fluids. Plagioclase, kaolinite and illite are present in minor amounts. Carbonate is somewhat isolated from major flow paths, forming nodules (Lu and others, 2012).

Fluid sampling conducted at the site confirms the limited reactivity of reservoir minerals with  $CO_{2^{-}}$  saturated brine. TDS values for metals associated with carbonates following  $CO_2$  injection, including Ca, Mg, Mn and Sr remained constant. Only alkalinity from  $HCO_3^{-}$  and Fe derived from iron oxyhydroxide grain coatings exhibited an increase in concentrations. The increase in  $HCO_3^{-}$  did buffer the drop in pH following an early decrease after  $CO_2$  injection, but the concentration of metal cations remained unchanged and suggests that only limited mineral dissolution may have occurred in response to  $CO_2^{-}$  driven fluid composition changes (Lu and others, 2012). This leaves dissolution of  $CO_2$  as the main geochemical trapping mechanism at Cranfield and suggests that EOR reservoirs of comparable mineralogy can expect an insignificant impact on reservoir brine chemistry and mineralogy.

# **1.4** Petroleum Geochemistry: interactions with reservoir hydrocarbons and impact on oil recovery and flow

#### 1.4.1 Oil geochemical changes

The success of a CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR project is largely shaped by the interfacial interactions that evolve between reservoir fluids, rock and the injected CO<sub>2</sub>. Interfacial interactions are predominantly comprised by the interfacial tension (IFT), interfacial mass transfer, and wettability within these systems, which can severely affect the precipitation of asphaltene in the reservoir. Asphaltene precipitation demonstrates a commanding impact on recovery and flow concerns in a CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR project when enough CO<sub>2</sub> is dissolved in the crude and as is often the case, asphaltene deposition in the porous medium may cause wettability alteration and reservoir plugging, thus limiting hydrocarbon production. An analysis of oil production samples collected from the McElroy Field, Texas, following the initiation of a pilot CO<sub>2</sub> flood project exhibited a significant ~50% decrease in asphaltene content as well as an increase in oil API gravity attributed to the deposition of heavy hydrocarbons from the oil phase (Hwang and Ortiz, 1998). A consequential reduction in injectivity at some injection wells stemming from the decrease in reservoir porosity and permeability is strongly attributed to asphaltene precipitation and deposition of heavy hydrocarbons in the form of "flocs" that severely restrict fluid flow within the reservoir.

In an effort to determine the mutual interactions between crude oil and  $CO_2$  at reservoir conditions, M. Nobakht and others (2008) conducted a coreflood experiment utilizing axisymmetric drop shape analysis (ADSA) aimed at ascertaining the onset pressure of asphaltene precipitation for individual crude oil-  $CO_2$ systems stemming from a simulated  $CO_2$  flood. This procedure was then followed by an attempt to calculate the equilibrium interfacial tension between crude oil and  $CO_2$  at different equilibrium pressures and a constant temperature T=27 °C, throughout which interfacial interactions were also recorded during the IFT measurements.

The crude oil- CO<sub>2</sub> system was tested in a see-through windowed high-pressure saturation cell to determine the onset pressure of asphaltene precipitation. The initial pressure P=2.0 MPa was incrementally increased to 4.5 MPa at T=27 °C, with no noticeable deposition of asphaltene within the CO<sub>2</sub>-saturated oil layer. At P=4.5 to 5 MPa, asphaltene precipitation was observed, and further tests to lower the pressure to 3 MPa suggests that precipitation is irreversible. Later tests utilized smaller incremental pressure increases of 0.1 MPa in order to narrow the onset pressure range of asphaltene precipitation above 4.5 MPa, for which a range between 4.7 to 4.8 MPa at T=27 °C was successfully established.

The equilibrium IFTs between the crude oil and  $CO_2$  were measured at 12 different equilibrium pressures and T=27 °C, where the minimum IFT approximately reduced in a linear trend with the equilibrium pressure, provided that the pressure remained lower than the 7.2 MPa threshold. This reduction in equilibrium IFT is ascribed to the improved solubility of  $CO_2$  with crude oil at an increased equilibrium pressure. However, the equilibrium IFT is only marginally decreased with the equilibrium pressure as it exceeds the threshold pressure (figure 1.10). Oil-swelling due to the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in to the oil phase occurred at equilibrium pressures equal to or lower than 6.0 MPa, whereupon light component extraction commenced at equilibrium pressures equal to or higher than 6.6 MPa. Thereby, it was determined that the onset pressure of initial light-component extraction is equal to 6.6 MPa.



Figure 1.10: The measured equilibrium IFT of a crude-oil-CO<sub>2</sub> system versus pressure at two different temperatures. From Yang and Gu (2005)

In a comparable study on interfacial interactions utilizing ADSA, Yang and Gu (2005) measured the change in dynamic IFT between crude oil and  $CO_2$  at high pressures and temperatures. Similarly, it was found that dynamic IFT versus time at T=27 °C and T=58 °C reduces to the equilibrium IFT at different pressures, for which dynamic IFT is achieved in less time at elevated temperatures (figure 1.11).

Moreover, it was found that the equilibrium IFT at higher temperatures is effectively elevated and can be attributed to reduced solubility of  $CO_2$  in an oil phase as temperatures increase. However, the effect of pressure on equilibrium IFT supersedes the effect of temperature, and exhibits an equilibrium IFT decrease with increasing pressure.



Figure 1.11. The measures dynamic IFT of a crude-oil-CO<sub>2</sub> system versus time under different pressures at T=58  $^{\circ}$ C. From Yang and Gu (2005)

An analysis of light-ends extraction was included in the IFT measurements by Yang and Gu (2005) in order to obtain a more comprehensive understanding of extraction dynamics in correlation with changes in pressure and temperature. Wherein, shortly after the onset of oil swelling due to the dissolution of CO<sub>2</sub>, the oil shrinks as light-ends extraction initiates. When the operating pressure exceeds that of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, initial turbulent mixing ensues and arrests oil swelling due to an acceleration in light-ends extraction. As temperatures increase, turbulent mixing will initiate at higher pressures and becomes more pronounced because of the lower solubility of CO<sub>2</sub> at elevated temperatures. Upon the exhaustion of light-ends extraction, the equilibrium IFT is achieved and the heavy-ends statically remain.

In an oil-wet reservoir the porosity and permeability are predicted to decrease as the deposited heavyends will develop a permanent coating on the grains of the porous reservoir rock, which will block the reservoir brine and CO<sub>2</sub> in the pores from coming in contact with the inner oil layers on the rock surface. However, in a water-wet reservoir, CO<sub>2</sub> saturated brine coats the porous media and keeps the CO2 in contact with the residual oil (Yang and Gu, 2005).

In order to determine the effect of injection pressure on  $CO_2$ -EOR, Nobakht and others (2008) conducted a total of seven  $CO_2$  coreflood tests at different injection pressures, utilizing a constant volume injection rate and temperature (figure 1.12). Each  $CO_2$  coreflood test was terminated after 1.5 pore volume (P.V.) of  $CO_2$  was injected as the maximum volume of  $CO_2$ -EOR recovery attained at this level. For injection pressures less than or equal to 5.93 MPa, the potential for  $CO_2$ -EOR is low and independent of injection pressure as a result of early breakthrough caused by the low viscosity of  $CO_2$ . At pressures greater than 5.93, the  $CO_2$ -EOR significantly increases due to the increased viscosity of

injected  $CO_2$  and the subsequent decrease in the equilibrium IFT. When the  $CO_2$  injection pressure exceeds 7.17 MPa, maximum  $CO_2$ -EOR production and residual oil saturation are realized. The study concluded that when the injection pressure exceeds threshold pressure, further defined as the maximum  $CO_2$ -EOR pressure, oil recovery at 1.5 P.V. of  $CO_2$  is effectively independent of the injection pressure. All told, M. Nobakht el al. (2008) determined asphaltene precipitation is induced at 4.7-7.8 MPa, initial strong light-components extraction commences at 6.6 MPa, the minimum IFT pressure is achieved at 7.25 MPa and maximum  $CO_2$ -EOR productivity surmounts at 7.17 MPa.



Figure 1.12: Measured CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR versus the injected P.V. of CO<sub>2</sub> at  $qCO_2 = 0.5$  cc/min and t =  $27^{\circ}$ C. From Nobakht and others, 2008

An injection program aimed at implementing a "cocktail" strategy to maximize CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR production, reduce CO<sub>2</sub> trapping and target stubborn heavy oil reserves potentially requires the re-characterization of existing and future CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects in order to map where impermeable channels are or are likely to develop. Derakhshanafar and others (2012) has presented a simulation study on CO<sub>2</sub>-assisted waterflooding for enhanced heavy hydrocarbon recovery that aims to improve the efficiency of CO<sub>2</sub> conformance and heavy hydrocarbon production by preventing the channelization of CO<sub>2</sub> through the oil zone, while simultaneously enhancing concomitant geologic storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. The simulation model utilized three injection scenarios following an initial waterflooding in sand-packed coreflood tests:

1) Pure CO<sub>2</sub> slug.

- 2) Continuous carbonated water flooding.
- 3) CO<sub>2</sub> carbonated slug injection.

Should a goal of the project be to enhance oil recovery and simultaneously promote  $CO_2$  recovery for repeated injection, then a pure  $CO_2$  slug injected at high pressures would yield the highest heavy oil return and leave less  $CO_2$  trapped in the reservoir. Conversely, a continuous carbonated flood would

yield the highest heavy oil production at low pressure as well as geologically store the greatest amount of  $CO_2$  for both high and low injection pressures.

#### **1.4.2** Impact of CO<sub>2</sub> impurities on final recovery

In an EOR project, impurities in the CO<sub>2</sub> injection stream are mostly considered in terms of the damage they may cause on the EOR infrastructure, but rarely considered in terms of their impact on the final recovery of the EOR flood. GCS studies have demonstrated that the impact of impurities on miscibility, density, solubility, and the mobility ratio of displacing and displaced fluids (all crucial parameters that control the conformance of the CO<sub>2</sub> flood) is significant. The mix of impurities depends on the primary source of CO<sub>2</sub>: (1) natural source, (2) anthropogenic flue gas, and (3) recycled CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR gas. For example, captured flue gas may include N<sub>2</sub> and recycled or natural sources of CO<sub>2</sub> may contain CH<sub>4</sub> or natural gas liquids, while the inclusion of SO<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub>S in the CO<sub>2</sub> injectant can be introduced by either (J.R. Wilkinson and others (2010). Given that CO<sub>2</sub> injection streams containing any combination of N<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>S, SO<sub>x</sub> or NO<sub>x</sub> can modify the performance CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR flood conformance, special consideration should be given to determine the effects of such an injectant on oil field reservoir fluids.

Nicot and others (2008) examined  $CO_2$  stream impurities involving  $CH_4$  and  $N_2$  and their coupled effects on (1) plume spread, (2) rate and extent of major trapping mechanisms, (3)  $CO_2$  storage capacity, and (4) well injectivity. Trapping mechanisms included in the study were restricted to solubility and residual trapping as these trapping mechanisms as well as the range of plume migration are predominantly influenced by the composition of the injection stream. Compared to pure CO<sub>2</sub> stream, the inclusion of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2$  in an injection stream will profoundly affect the rate and extent of plume migration owing to a stronger solubility resistance than CO<sub>2</sub> and stronger gravitational buoyancy due to a greater difference in gas-brine viscosity. As CO<sub>2</sub> dissolves in the formation water, the concentration of these impurities within the plume accumulates, thus increasing the rate and range of plume spread. For the purpose of  $CO_2$  storage, the addition of injection stream impurities may have the cumulative effect of prompter plume immobilization; however, the rapid evolution and greater AOR of the plume may inhibit  $CO_2$ -EOR flood conformance. Conversely, a pure  $CO_2$  stream may prove beneficial in that the plume will not travel as far and stay mobile longer, allotting more time for  $CO_2$ -hydrocarbon contact. Ultimately, because  $CH_4$ will remain in a gaseous state during the injection of supercritical  $CO_2$ , the greater buoyancy of this gas is a potential concern with regard to the overpressurization of the reservoir and should be considered in a site characterization for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration/EOR projects (Klusman, 2003).

The impact of  $N_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $H_2S$  impurities minimum miscibility pressure (MMP), density and viscosity has been reported by J.R. Wilkinson and others (2010) by utilizing screening tools that analyze the cost benefit of stream purification. For instance, in examining the effect these impurities had on miscibility, a  $CO_2$  injection stream containing 10%  $CH_4$  or  $N_2$  by volume was shown to increase the MMP by approximately 700 and 1100 psia respectively, while the concentration of  $H_2S$  decreased the gas MMP approximately 200 psia across a spectrum of pressures and temperatures ranges (see figure 1.13).



Figure 1.13: MMP variation with temperature and oil molecular weight for pure CO<sub>2</sub> (left) and with impurities (right). From J.R. Wilkinson and others 2010

Density changes in the injection fluid caused by the inclusion of  $N_2$  and  $CH_4$  correspond with the conclusions set forth by Nicot and others (2008) as the emphasized focus on EOR production in Wilkinson and others (2010) establishes a parallel conclusion regarding the reduction in sweep efficiency brought on by the greater magnitude of gravity segregation. Sweep efficiency is also largely dependent on the mobility ratio, whereby the increased gas mobility stimulated by the presence of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2$  leads to a marked reduction in sweep efficiency and, hence, a decline in the recovery factor. In contrast, the comparable sweep efficiency of pure  $CO_2$  and adulterated  $CO_2$ -H<sub>2</sub>S streams exhibit greater recovery factors (see figure 1.14).



Figure 1.14: Recovery factor as a function of mobility ratio for different injected volumes. From J.R. Wilkinson and others, 2010.

The effects of SOx and NOx impurities in a CO<sub>2</sub> injection stream on well injectivity, rock properties and MMP was examined by Bryant and Lake (2005) to examine the geochemical reactions stimulated by the dissolution of CO<sub>2</sub> into subsurface brines. The aim was to also quantify the significance of their effects on permeability and injectivity in order to determine if the level of impurities typical of flue gasses ( $\leq$  5 mole %) can be utilized as an EOR cost-cutting measure. Generally, the rock properties within a few meters of the wellbore usually control injectivity, while the presence of impurities in the CO<sub>2</sub> stream could increase rock alteration when considering SOx and NOx are more reactive than CO<sub>2</sub> when dissolved in brine (Bryant and Lake, 2005). Also, these impurities typically make the CO<sub>2</sub> solvent more

"gas-like", which tends to increase the MMP. The question, though, is what is the magnitude of these chemical processes and will the cost benefits of using impure CO<sub>2</sub> streams from industrial sources (i.e. coal) outweigh any potential loss in oil production.

Moreover, the presence of impurity concentrations at the levels in flue gas will only change the MMP a few percentage points from the pure-  $CO_2$  value and is thus a viable cost-cutting alternative that could possibly accelerate the development of an EOR project. As for the geochemical effects, the presence of impurities in the  $CO_2$  stream significantly decreases the pH of the formation fluids. This increase in acidity speeds up the dissolution of native minerals, but does not significantly alter the limit of changes in mineralogy and as a result should only lead to an incremental effect on injectivity (Lou and Bryant, 2008).
- Boait, F. C., N. J. White, and others, (2011). "Layer spreading and dimming within the CO<sub>2</sub> plume at the Sleipner field in the North Sea." Energy Procedia 4(0): 3254-3261.
- Boait, F. C., N. J. White, and others, (2012). "Spatial and temporal evolution of injected CO<sub>2</sub> at the Sleipner Field, North Sea", Journal of Geophysical Research, Vol. 17, B03309, doi:10.1029/2011JB008603.
- Bryant, S. and L. W. Lake (2005). Chapter 18 Effect of Impurities on Subsurface CO<sub>2</sub> Storage Processes. Carbon Dioxide Capture for Storage in Deep Geologic Formations. Amsterdam, Elsevier Science: 983-996.
- Bryant, S. L., S. Lakshminarasimhan, and others, (2008). "Buoyancy-Dominated Multiphase Flow and Its Effect on Geological Sequestration of CO<sub>2</sub>." SPE Journal 13(4): 447-454.
- Cavanagh, A. and P. Ringrose (2011). "Simulation of CO<sub>2</sub> distribution at the In Salah storage site using high-resolution field-scale models." Energy Procedia 4(0): 3730-3737.
- Cavanagh, A. (2013). "Banchmark calibration and prediction of the Sleipner CO<sub>2</sub> plume from 2006 to 2012." Energy Procedia 00 (2013) 000–000.
- Chadwick, R. A., P. Zweigel, and others, (2004). "Geological reservoir characterization of a CO<sub>2</sub> storage site: The Utsira Sand, Sleipner, northern North Sea." Energy 29(9–10): 1371-1381.
- Chadwick, A., Arts, R., and others, (2007). Best practice for the storage of CO<sub>2</sub> in saline aquifers: observations and guidelines from the SACS and CO2STORE Projects.
- Cook, P. J., S. M. Benson, and others, (2005). Overview and current issues in geological storage of carbon dioxide. Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies 7. Oxford, Elsevier Science Ltd: 15-20.
- Deflandre, J.-P., A. Estublier, and others, (2011). "In Salah CO<sub>2</sub> injection modeling: A preliminary approach to predict short term reservoir behavior." Energy Procedia 4(0): 3574-3581.
- Derakhshanfar, M., M. Nasehi, and others, (2012). Simulation Study of CO<sub>2</sub>-Assisted Waterflooding for Enhanced Heavy Oil Recovery and Geological Storage. Carbon Management Technology Conference, 7-9 February 2012, Orlando, Florida, USA, Carbon Management Technology Conference.
- Friedmann, S. J. (2007). Geological Carbon Dioxide Sequestration. Elements 3, 197-184 Eiken, O., P. Ringrose, and others, (2011). "Lessons learned from 14 years of CCS operations: Sleipner, In Salah and Snøhvit." Energy Procedia 4(0): 5541-5548.
- Frykman, Peter, Nielsen, C. M., And Bech, Niels, 2012, Trapping effects of small scale sedimentary heterogeneities, Greenhouse Gas Technologies Meeting proceededings, Kyoto, 2012.
- Ellis, B. R., G. S. Bromhal, and others, (2011). "Changes in caprock integrity due to vertical migration of CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched brine." Energy Procedia 4(0): 5327-5334.
- Gaus, I., M. Azaroual, and others, (2005). "Reactive transport modelling of the impact of CO<sub>2</sub> injection on the clayey cap rock at Sleipner (North Sea)." Chemical Geology 217(3–4): 319-337.
- Gaus, I., P. Audigane, and others, (2008). "Geochemical and solute transport modelling for CO<sub>2</sub> storage, what to expect from it?" International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 2(4): 605-625.

- Gaus, I. (2010). "Role and impact of CO<sub>2</sub>-rock interactions during CO<sub>2</sub> storage in sedimentary rocks." International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 4(1): 73-89.
- Gemmer, L., O. Hansen, and others, (2012). "Geomechanical response to CO<sub>2</sub> injection at Krechba, In Salah, Algeria." First Break 30(2): 79-84.
- Han, W. S., McPherson, B. J., Lichtner, P. C. & Wang, F. P. (2010). Evaluation of trapping mechanisms in geologic CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration: case study of SACROC northern platform, a 35-year CO<sub>2</sub> injection site. American Journal of Science, 310, 282–324; doi: 10.2475/04.2010.03.
- Hawkes, C. D., P. J. McLellan, and others, (2004). Geomechanical Factors Affecting Geological Storage of CO<sub>2</sub> In Depleted Oil And Gas Reservoirs: Risks And Mechanisms. Gulf Rocks 2004, the 6th North America Rock Mechanics Symposium (NARMS), June 5 9, 2004, Houston, Texas, American Rock Mechanics Association.
- Hovorka, Susan D. (2010). Bureau of Economic Geology, University of Texas at Austin, White Paper EOR as Sequestration Geoscience Perspective (Panel 1: Geoscience)
- Hwang, R. J. and J. Ortiz (1998). "Effect of CO<sub>2</sub> flood on geochemistry of McElroy oil." Organic Geochemistry 29(1–3): 485-503.
- Johnson, J.W., Nitao, and others, (2003a). Reactive transport modeling of geohazards associated with offshore CO2 injection for EOR and geologic sequestration: Offshore Technology Conference, Houston, TX, May 5-8, 2003, 9 p.
- Johnson, J. W., J. J. Nitao, and others, (2005). Chapter 8 Reactive Transport Modeling of Cap-Rock Integrity During Natural and Engineered CO2 Storage. Carbon Dioxide Capture for Storage in Deep Geologic Formations. Amsterdam, Elsevier Science: 787-813.
- Johnson, J. W. (2011). "Geochemical assessment of isolation performance during 10 years of CO<sub>2</sub> EOR at Weyburn." <u>Energy Procedia</u> 4(0): 3658-3665.
- Juanes, R., E. J. Spiteri, and others, (2006). "Impact of relative permeability hysteresis on geological CO<sub>2</sub> storage." Water Resources Research 42(12).
- Kharaka, Y. K., D. R. Cole, and others, (2006). "Gas-water-rock interactions in Frio Formation following CO<sub>2</sub> injection: Implications for the storage of greenhouse gases in sedimentary basins." Geology 34(7): 577-580.
- Klusman, R. W. (2003). "Evaluation of leakage potential from a carbon dioxide EOR/sequestration project." Energy Conversion and Management 44(12): 1921-1940.
- Lake, L. W., (1989). "Enhanced Oil Recovery". Prentice Hall.
- Lu, J., Y. K. Kharaka, and others, (2012). "CO<sub>2</sub>–rock–brine interactions in Lower Tuscaloosa Formation at Cranfield CO2 sequestration site, Mississippi, U.S.A." Chemical Geology 291(0): 269-277.
- Lu, J., Wilkinson, M., Haszeldine, R. S., and Boyce, A. J., 2011, Carbonate cements in Miller field of the UK North Sea: a natural analog for mineral trapping in CO<sub>2</sub> geological storage: Environmental Earth Sciences, v. 62, p. 507–517. doi 10.1007/s12665-010-0543-1.
- Lu, J., P. J. Cook, S. A. Hosseini, C. Yang, K. D. Romanak, T. Zhang, B. M. Freifeld, R. C. Smyth, H. Zeng, and S. D. Hovorka (2012b), Complex fluid flow revealed by monitoring CO<sub>2</sub> injection in a fluvial formation, J. Geophys. Res., 117, B03208, doi:10.1029/2011JB008939.

- Mito, S., Z. Xue, and others, (2008). "Case study of geochemical reactions at the Nagaoka CO<sub>2</sub> injection site, Japan." International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 2(3): 309-318.
- Nicot, J.-P., J.-W. Choi, and others, (2008). Impact of Mixed Gas Stream on CO<sub>2</sub> Plume Characteristics during and after Carbon Storage Operations in Saline Aquifers, Bureau of Economic Geology, John A. and Katherine G. Jackson School of Geosciences.
- Nobakht, M., S. Moghadam, and others, (2008). "Mutual interactions between crude oil and CO<sub>2</sub> under different pressures." Fluid Phase Equilibria 265(1–2): 94-103.
- Núñez-López, V. and S. D. Hovorka (2012). Subsurface Monitoring of Large-Scale CO<sub>2</sub> Injection at Phase-III Cranfield Site. Carbon Management Technology Conference, Orlando, Florida, USA 7-9 February 2012, Carbon Managment Technology Conference.
- Ott, H., K. de Kloe, and others, (2011). "Injection of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> in brine saturated sandstone: Pattern formation during salt precipitation." Energy Procedia 4(0): 4425-4432.
- Ott, Kloe, H., K. de, and others, (2012). "Core-Flood Experiment for Transport of Reactive Fluids in Rocks", Rev. Sci. Instrum. 83, 084501
- Ott, H., J. Snippe, and others, (2013). "Salt precipitation due to sc-gas injection: Single versus multiporosity rocks." Energy Procedia.
- Pruess, K. and N. Müller (2009). "Formation dry-out from CO<sub>2</sub> injection into saline aquifers: 1. Effects of solids precipitation and their mitigation." Water Resour. Res. 45(3): W03402.
- Raistrick, M., Mayer, B., and others, (2006). "Using Chemical and Isotopic Data to Quantify Ionic Trapping of Injected Carbon Dioxide in Oil Field Brine." Environmental Science and Technology, 40 (21) 6744–6479
- Raistrick, M., I. Hutcheon, and others, (2009). "Carbon dioxide-water-silicate mineral reactions enhance CO<sub>2</sub> storage; evidence from produced fluid measurements and geochemical modeling at the IEA Weyburn-Midale Project." Energy Procedia 1(1): 3149-3155.
- Rutqvist, J. and C. F. Tsang (2002). "A study of caprock hydromechanical changes associated with CO<sub>2</sub>injection into a brine formation." Environmental Geology 42(2-3): 296-305.
- Rutqvist, J., J. T. Birkholzer, and others, (2008). "Coupled reservoir–geomechanical analysis of the potential for tensile and shear failure associated with CO<sub>2</sub> injection in multilayered reservoir–caprock systems." International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences 45(2): 132-143.
- Ringrose, P., A. S. Mathieson, and others, (2013). "The In Salah CO<sub>2</sub> storage project: lessons learned and knowledge transfer." Energy Procedia.
- Thatcher, K., S. Mathias, and others, (2011). "Simulating CO<sub>2</sub> storage in fluvial-channel structures of the Triassic Bunter Sandstone, Southern North Sea." Geophysical Research Abstracts 13(EGU2011-8686)
- Wilkinson, J. R., A. Leahy-Dios, and others, (2010). Use of CO<sub>2</sub> Containing Impurities for Miscible Enhanced Oil Recovery. International Oil and Gas Conference and Exhibition in China, 8-10 June 2010, Beijing, China, Society of Petroleum Engineers
- Whittaker, S. (2004). Theme 1: Geological Characterization, IEA GHG Weyburn CO<sub>2</sub> Monitoring & Storage Project Summary Report 2000-2004, Volume III, Vancouver, Canada.

# Section 2

# Dynamic modeling of GCS and its implications for CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR

Modeling tools are considered highly important to properly evaluate the capacity, containment, and injectivity of  $CO_2$  in saline aquifers by regulators and site developers (UIC Class VI rules). Capacity estimation depends on a variety of  $CO_2$  trapping mechanisms including structural, residual, solubility, and mineral trapping. Injectivity and containment of  $CO_2$  are controlled by geomechanical, geochemical, and fluid flow processes that need to be modeled. Available fluid flow simulation tools have been, and continue to be, tuned and validated against the results of GCS monitoring programs to consider the effect of these processes. Analytical models have been enhanced to consider coupled effects and to support quick scoping calculations.

While  $CO_2$ -EOR and GCS projects may not share the same goals, the optimization of tools incentivized by storage needs can be useful for  $CO_2$ -EOR projects. Validation, especially using a number of data sets that have been made public is and will continue to be a very significant contribution to the value and reliability of models. In drawing the lessons from geological storage for  $CO_2$ -EOR projects, one should note some major differences. First, that the time-scale over which the project goals need to be achieved differs greatly from  $CO_2$ -EOR (decades) to GCS (centuries) projects. Such long-term goals in GCS projects justify studying long-term processes over a wide region outside the storage target, which may not be directly relevant to  $CO_2$ -EOR studies.

The key long term element to be considered in GCS projects is the ultimate fate of  $CO_2$ , which may include long migrations paths (Gibson-Poole and others, 2008), dissolution via convective mixing, or mineral trapping. The time scale for mineral trapping mechanism (when carbonate minerals precipitate) can be thousands of years as shown in figure 2.1 (IPCC, 2005; Gunter and others, 1997). The potential for mineral trapping depends on the composition of the brine, the reservoir rock, temperature and pressure, the brine/rock contact area, and the rate of fluid flow through the rock. To focus on the processes that affect  $CO_2$ -EOR operations we only discuss processes relevant over the injection period. The area of focus will also be limited to the region covering production and injection wells.



Figure 2.1: Contribution of different mechanisms in trapping  $CO_2$  in saline aquifers (IPCC, 2005). Mineral trapping may not be important over the injection period.

The other difference that affects our learnings from GCS and their EOR applicability is the EOR flow dynamics that may be absent in GCS. In  $CO_2$ -EOR projects, fluids are produced at the same time  $CO_2$  is injected. This increases the injectivity at the well and field scales and reduces the geomechanical effects. Pressure management through fluid extraction is also considered in GCS projects, although it increases the cost of the project. In this section, we focus on the processes that occur during the injection period and review major modeling achievements in GCS from which a  $CO_2$ -EOR project may benefit.

#### 2.1 Fluid flow

The same numerical simulation tools that are used in the oil industry can be used for simulating GCS in saline aquifers. Proper gridding of the reservoir in radial and vertical directions is required to capture flow of CO<sub>2</sub> in the aquifer. Fine grid resolution close to the wellbore is required to ensure the accurate evaluation of injectivity (Huang and others, 2011). Vertical flow is significant and may be dominant in CO<sub>2</sub> injection due to lower CO<sub>2</sub> density and viscosity, compared to brine. Fine gridding at the top of the flow units is required to correctly evaluate the CO<sub>2</sub> plume thickness and extension. Low permeability layers (baffles) may be highly important in attenuation of CO<sub>2</sub> flow upward. Fine-scale gridding of such layers is required. Upward flow may be exaggerated when the aspect ratio of the simulation grids is high, sometimes referred to as the chute effect. The chute effect may be minimized by allowing for smooth attenuation of the transmissibilities of the grid (Teletzke and Lu, 2012).

Pressure propagation and plume size may also be calculated using analytical models that were developed considering simplified assumptions. Such models allow for quick Monte-Carlo type calculations without the need for space and time gridding. Such solutions are given for single-phase and two-phase flow, and may consider mutual dissolutions and leakage (e.g. Nordbotten and others, 2005; Mathias and others, 2008; Birkholzer and others, 2011; Zeidouni, 2012). Including more physics make the analytical solutions more complex and more difficult to use. Analytical models can also be used to evaluate injectivity.

To account for the mutual dissolution of  $CO_2$  and brine, both black-oil and compositional models may be used. The reservoir can be initialized with 100% water to model an aquifer. However, mass transfer with the reservoir brine was not traditionally included in the simulation tools. Due to the importance of the  $CO_2$  solubility, earlier studies modeled the solubility by initializing the reservoir with oil phase to which the properties of brine were assigned. However, such approach may be used only in black-oil simulations. For compositional simulations new PVT models have been developed.

# 2.2 Property (PVT) model

Cubic EOS's (Equation of State's) are not able to properly model the compositional properties of a  $CO_2$ brine system. Further improvement has been made to allow for the calculation of the mutual dissolution of the water phase (brine) and gaseous phase ( $CO_2$ ) without using a cubic EOS. The solubility is obtained by applying the thermodynamic equilibrium for which fugacity of  $CO_2$  in gaseous the phase is evaluated based on a cubic EOS (e.g. Peng and Robinson, 1976) and fugacity of  $CO_2$  in the aqueous phase is calculated based on Henry's law:

$$f_{CO2} = x_{CO2}.H_{CO2}$$

where  $x_{CO2}$  and  $H_{CO2}$  are the mole fraction of CO<sub>2</sub> in the aqueous phase and CO<sub>2</sub> Henry's constant respectively.  $H_{CO2}$  is a function of pressure, temperature and salinity. Variation of Henry's constant with pressure and temperature is obtained based on Harvey's (1996) correlation combined with that of Garcia (2001). The effect of salinity on Henry's constant is obtained as described by Bakker (2003). Thermodynamic equilibrium is applied to model H<sub>2</sub>O vaporization in the gaseous phase for which the fugacity of H<sub>2</sub>O in the gaseous phase is calculated based on the cubic EOS (CMG-GEM, 2012). The fugacity of water in the aqueous phase is calculated from the water mole fraction in the aqueous phase combined with equations given by Canjar and Manning (1967) and Saul and Wagner (1987). The above calculations are also used to extend the solubility calculations for a three-phase system including the oil phase. A cubic EOS is used to calculate the fugacity of oil components and CO<sub>2</sub> in the oil and gaseous phases.

Mass transfer between the injected  $CO_2$  and brine is not only important in determining the  $CO_2$  amount that has been trapped by dissolution, but also in the evaluation of salt dry-out close to the wellbore.

The salt dry-out during gas injection in porous media is a well-known process at the laboratory and the field scales (Kleinitz and others, 2001; Andre and others, 2007, Gaus and others, 2008; Pruess and Muller, 2009). The evaluation of the amount of salt precipitation is especially important for  $CO_2$  injection

in saline aquifers as salt precipitation can plug the reservoir and reduce CO<sub>2</sub> injectivity. Compositional simulation tools such as CMG-GEM are now capable of modeling salt dry-out and its effect on the porosity. Analytical models have also been developed to evaluate the salt dry-out (Zeidouni et al, 2009; Pruess, 2009). Using the analytical models one can calculate the amount of salt precipitation and translate it to porosity and permeability reduction. Zeidouni and others (2009) introduced a time-dependent skin factor to account for the effect of salt dry-out. That way one can account for the effect of salt dry-out even by using black-oil simulation tools.

Dominated by viscous flow, higher permeability layers will be most affected by salt dry-out. The lower permeability layers will have less salt dry-out due to higher capillarity, which imbibes the brine back into the dried-out pores. This will result in more evenly distributed  $CO_2$  in the reservoir. These observations are in line with the experimental observations by Wang and others (2012) showing that salt first precipitates at fractures and pores. However, research has also shown the possibility of precipitation in pore throats. This complexity roots in the fact that distribution of the salt is also a function of  $CO_2$  flux which is not well understood. In  $CO_2$ -EOR applications, salt dry-out might reduce the  $CO_2$  injectivity when producing ROZ (Residual Oil Zone) or a reservoir that has gone through severe water flood prior to  $CO_2$  injection. However, there is no field evidence of the importance of this effect.

As discussed in the previous section, the injected supercritical  $CO_2$  displaces brine as it moves through the aquifer.  $CO_2$  may flow upward due to gravity allowing the reservoir brine to reclaim the pore space. When the saturation of the  $CO_2$  rich phase falls below a certain saturation it becomes disconnected –or residual– and immobile. As a result the  $CO_2$  will be trapped. This trapping mechanism is referred to as residual trapping. Two-phase relative permeability hysteresis is sufficient to model the residual trapping for GCS. For  $CO_2$ -EOR three-phase hysteresis models may be required. Accounting for the hysteresis is also important due to its effect on the injectivity of  $CO_2$  caused by reduced relative permeability of the aqueous phase.

## 2.3 Geochemistry

Field studies, discussed earlier (Weyburn, Frio, Nagaoka) have provided observation of early rock-water-CO<sub>2</sub> interactions. These projects provide insight into remaining gaps in modeling capacity, especially with regard to reaction rate, transport, and coupled geochemistry and geomechanics. Modeling augmented by laboratory and field observations remains the only way to make long-term predictions. Secondary mineral precipitation during CO<sub>2</sub> injection may occur when brine's cation concentrations are high (Newell and Carey, 2012). The way the newly formed precipitates are located at pore-scale may or may not affect the permeability while the porosity may remain constant (Shao and others, 2010; Jun and others, 2012). Geochemical processes occur on a much smaller scale than flow processes. making it difficult to couple the two. Upscaling remains a challenge due to the need for computational methods that are able to bridge processes at molecular, pore, and reservoir scales (Jun and others, 2012).

Most current reservoir simulation tools are not capable of accounting for the geochemical processes. Those that have such capability deal with the geochemical system with a limited number of unknowns and are unable to fully account for the geochemical processes. Examples are CMG-GEM, Shell's MoReS- PHREEQC, and GPRS (Fan, 2012). Inclusion of more complex processes and coupling of organic and nonorganic systems will require finer gridding, handling a large number of reactions and different reaction mechanisms, and thermodynamic database expansion over a larger range of pressures and temperatures (Zhang and Villegas, 2012).

The coexistence of hydrocarbons with brine and  $CO_2$  in  $CO_2$ -EOR requires that oil be considered as a separate phase as well as a geochemical body. Oil can coat the rock surface affecting the geochemical processes. Oil coating effect on rock brine interactions – also referred to as wettability- is complex and a function of phase saturation. The development of models capable of accounting for oil wettability effects is required.

The near-wellbore region goes through more significant geochemical dynamics due to the injection and extraction of fluids which induce more pressure and temperature changes and mutual dissolutions (Azaroual and others, 2012; Gaus, 2010). This region may go through significant acidifications leading to corrosion. As noted above, salt dry-out also develops over this region. In theory, the development of a dry-out region in the vicinity of the wellbore should protect the wellbore against corrosion. However, due to imbibition of brine in lower permeability layers, carbonated water will still be in contact with the well casing and cement causing corrosion. Also, at the base and top of the injection zone where CO<sub>2</sub> is in contact with the wet sealing rocks high risk of corrosion may exist. Strong dissolution of near wellbore rock may lead to wellbore instability. While it is well known that clay may swell during water injection and WAG, it is also found that it can swell when CO<sub>2</sub> is involved. This process is not well studied and it can reduce porosity and permeability (Zhang and Villegas, 2012). Permeability variation due to change in porosity may be obtained based on various models but it is highly complex and further research is required (CMG-GEM, 2012; Pruess and others, 1999).

## 2.4 Thermal modeling

EOR modeling ignores the main thermal effect-  $CO_2$  injected cold relative to rock and fluid temperatures in the reservoir. During  $CO_2$  injection in saline aquifers the pressure at the well bore increases significantly. The pressure propagates in the reservoir and reduces as the radial distance from the wellbore increases. A smaller reservoir diffusivity coefficient causes the pressure to reduce over shorter distance. Under reservoir adiabatic conditions and at the limit  $\mathbb{Z}P \rightarrow 0$ , the process is isenthalpic and the temperature change due to pressure reduction can be estimated by the Joule-Thompson (JT) coefficient:

$$\mu_{JT} = \lim_{\Delta P \to 0} \left( \frac{\Delta T}{\Delta P} \right)_{H} = \left( \frac{\partial T}{\partial P} \right)_{H}$$

Under the practical conditions encountered for  $CO_2$  geological storage applications, the JT coefficient is a positive number for supercritical  $CO_2$ . Therefore, pressure reduction will be accompanied by thermal cooling. Thermal effects can also be caused by mutual dissolution of  $CO_2$  and brine and heat losses to underburden/overburden.

Compositional simulation tools have been modified to account for the thermal response to  $CO_2$  injection and leakage. The temperature distribution is calculated by solving the energy balance equation coupled

with the flow equations. The enthalpy changes required are obtained based on ideal gas enthalpy at zero pressure and temperature and the excess enthalpy calculated from the Equation of State (EOS).

For the range of injection zone temperatures in GCS, the enthalpy of the aqueous phase decreases upon dissolution of  $CO_2$  (heat is generated) and the enthalpy of the gaseous phase increases as water vaporizes into the gaseous phase and heat is consumed (Han and others, 2010; Koschel and others, 2006). Therefore, the temperature is likely to increase at the dissolution front and cooling may occur at the vaporization front close to the wellbore. CMG-GEM (2012) accounts for heat loss to the surrounding rock using the method of Vinsome and Westervled (1980). This heat loss is controlled by the cross-sectional area for heat loss, rock heat capacity, rock mass density, and rock thermal conductivity.

Temperature changes due to  $CO_2$  injection may not be significant in the injection zone. However,  $CO_2$  leakage can provide a significant temperature signature accompanied by significant expansion of  $CO_2$ . Such temperature response may be useful for monitoring the injected  $CO_2$  (Han and others, 2012; Zeidouni and others, 2012; Pruess, 2011).

# 2.5 Geomechanics

The geomechanical effects of  $CO_2$  injection in oil and gas reservoirs are well studied due to their impact on permeability and fracturing. For  $CO_2$  injection in saline aquifers, changes in pressure and temperature may induce some stress-and-strain changes in and around the injection zone. This may result in permeability changes, uplift leading to ground-surface deformation, and micro seismic events. If the pressure becomes sufficiently high, some irreversible geomechanical events may be triggered including fracturing, opening of pathways in the cap-rock, and reactivation of faults (e.g. Rutqvist, 2012).

Numerical flow simulation tools including ECLIPSE, GEM, and TOUGH2 are now connected to geomechanical codes (e.g. Rohmer and Seyedi, 2010; Tran and others, 2010; Ferronato and others, 2010). The governing equations for the fluid flow and geomechanics are solved separately. The solution obtained from each set is imported to the other in an iterative manner. The changes in pressure and temperature are first evaluated at a time-step by solving the normal flow equations. Then the deformations, stress and strain are calculated using the geomechanics equations based on the pressure and temperature input from the flow equations. Next fracturing and changes in porosity and permeability are calculated. If a full coupling option is available the resulting changes should be passed to the flow equations again and the same process repeated until convergence is obtained within the time-step (Preisig and Prévost, 2011). However, full coupling may not be required and the resulting geomechanical changes can be transferred to the calculation of the flow equations in the next step. Such iterative coupling has proven to be a successful approach (Settari and Walters, 1999; Chin and others, 2002; Samier and others, 2007; Dean and others, 2003; Tran and others, 2009).

# References

- André, L., Audigane, P., Azaroual, M., Menjoz, A., 2007, Numerical modeling of fluid-rock chemical interactions at the supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>-liquid interface during CO<sub>2</sub> injection into a carbonate reservoir, the Dogger aquifer (Paris Basin, France), Energy Conversion and Management, Volume 48, Issue 6, Pages: 1782-1797.
- Azaroual, M., L. Andre, Y. Peysson, J. Pironon, D. Broseta, F. Dedecker, P. Egermann, J. Desroches, J. Hy-billiot (2012), Behavior of the CO2 injection well and the near wellbore during carbon dioxide injection in saline aquifers, TOUGH Symposium, September 2012, LBNL, Berkeley, CA.
- Bakker, R.J., (2003). Package *FLUIDS* 1. Computer programs for analysis of fluid inclusion data and for modelling bulk fluid properties, *Chemical Geology*, Vol. 194 (2003) 3-23.
- Brantley, S. L., Kinetics of Mineral Dissolution. In Kinetics of Water-Rock Interaction; Brantley, S. L.; Kubicki, J. D.; White, A. F., Eds. Springer: New York, 2008; pp 151–196.
- Canjar, L.N. and Manning, F.S.: Thermodynamic Properties and Reduced Correlations for Gases, Gulf Publishing Co., Houston, Texas, 1967.
- Chin, L. Y., Thomas, L.K., Sylte, J.E. and Pierson, R.G.: "Iterative Coupled Analysis of Geomechanics and Fluid Flow for Rock Compaction in Reservoir Simulation", Oil & Gas Science Technology – Rev. IFP, Vol. 57 (5), pp. 485-497, 2002.
- Cihan, A., Q. Zhou, and J. T. Birkholzer (2011), Analytical solutions for pressure perturbation and fluid leakage through aquitards and wells in multilayered-aquifer systems, Water Resour. Res., 47(10), W10504, doi:10.1029/2011WR010721.
- CMG-GEM Version 2012 user's guide, Computer Modelling Group Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, Canada, 2012; available from: http://www.cmgl.ca/software/imex.htm.
- Dean, R.H., Gai, X., Stone, C.M. and Minkoff, S.E.: "A Comparison of Techniques for Coupling Porous Flow and geomechanics", paper SPE 79709 presented at the 2003 SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, February, 2003.
- Emberley, S.; Hutcheon, I.; Shevalier, M.; Durocher, K.; Mayer, B.; Gunter, W. D.; Perkins, E. H. Monitoring of fluid–rock interaction and CO<sub>2</sub> storage through produced fluid sampling at the Weyburn CO2-injection enhanced oil recovery site, Saskatchewan, Canada. Appl. Geochem. 2005, 20 (6), 1131–1157.
- Fan, Y., Durlofsky, L.J., Tchelepi, H., "A fully-coupled flow-reactive-transport formulation based on element conservation, with appli-cation to CO<sub>2</sub> storage simulations." *Advances in Water Resources*, vol42:47-61, 2012.

- Ferronato M, Gambolati G, Janna C, Teatini P (2010) Geomechanical issues of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration in exploited gas fields. Energy Convers Manage 51:1918–1928
- Gaus, I. Role and impact of  $CO_2$ -rock interactions during  $CO_2$  storage in sedimentary rocks. Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 2010, 4 (1), 73–89.
- Gaus, I., Audigane, P., André, L., Lions, J., Jacquemet, N., Durst, P., Czernichowski-Lauriol, I., Azaroual, M., 2008, Geochemical and solute transport modelling for CO<sub>2</sub> storage, what to expect from it? International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, Volume 2, Issue 4, Pages 605-625.
- <u>Gibson-Poole</u> C. M., <u>L. Svendsen</u>, <u>J. Underschultz</u>, <u>M. N. Watson</u>, <u>J. Ennis-King</u>, <u>P. J. van Ruth</u>, <u>E. J.</u>
  <u>Nelson</u>, <u>R. F. Daniel</u> and <u>Y. Cinar</u>, 2008. <u>Site characterisation of a basin-scale CO<sub>2</sub> geological storage system: Gippsland Basin, southeast Australia</u>, <u>Environmental Geology</u> <u>Volume 54</u>, <u>Number 8</u> (2008), 1583-1606, DOI: 10.1007/s00254-007-0941-1
- Gunter, W. D., Wiwchar, B., Perkins, E. H., 1997, Aquifer disposal of CO<sub>2</sub>-rich greenhouse gases: extension of the time scale of experiment for CO<sub>2</sub>-sequestering reactions by geochemical modeling, Miner Petrol 59, 121-140.
- Han, W. S., G. A. Stillman, M. Lu, C. Lu, B. J. McPherson, E. Park (2010), Evaluation of potential nonisothermal processes and heat transport during CO2 sequestration, J. Geophys. Res., 115, B07209, doi:10.1029/2009JB006745.
- Han, W. S., K.-Y. Kim, E. Park, B. McPherson, S.-Y. Lee M.-H. Park (2012). Modeling of spatiotemporal thermal response to CO<sub>2</sub> injection in saline formations: Interpretation for monitoring. Transport in Porous Media 93(3): 381-399.
- Hassanzadeh, H., Pooladi-Darvish, M., and Keith, D.: 2005, Modeling of convective mixing in CO<sub>2</sub> storage. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology. 44 (10) 43-51.
- Hu, Y.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. Biotite-brine interactions under acidic hydrothermal conditions: Fibrous illite, goethite, and kaolinite formation and biotite surface cracking. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45 (14), 6175–6180.
- Huang NS, Aho GE, Baker BH, Matthews TR, Pottorf RJ. Integrated reservoir modeling of a large sourgas field with high concentrations of inerts. SPE Reservoir Evaluation and Engineering 2011; 14:4:398-412.
- IPCC, 2005, IPCC Special Report on Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Jun, Y.-S., D. E. Giammar and C. J. Werth (2012). "Impacts of Geochemical Reactions on Geologic Carbon Sequestration." Environmental Science & Technology.

- Kharaka, Y. K.; Cole, D. R.; Thordsen, J. J.; Kakouros, E.; Nance, H. S. Gas-water-rock interactions in sedimentary basins: CO₂ sequestration in the Frio Formation, Texas, USA. J. Geochem. Explor. 2006, 89 (1–3), 183–186.
- Kharaka, Y. K.; Hanor, J. S.; Heinrich, D. H.; Karl, K. T., Deep fluids in the continents: I. Sedimentary basins. In Treatise on Geochemistry; Pergamon: Oxford, 2007; pp 1–48.
- Kleinitz, W., Koehler, M., Dietzsch, G., 2001. The precipitation of salt in gas producing wells SPE 68953. In: SPE European Formation Damage Conference, The Hague, The Netherlands.
- Koschel, D., J. Y. Coxam, L. Rodier, and V. Majer (2006). Enthalpy and solubility data of CO₂ in water and NaCl(aq) at conditions of interest for geologic sequestration, Fluid Phase Equilib., 247(1–2), 107–120, doi:10.1016/j.fluid.2006.06.006.
- Lu, J.; Kharaka, Y. K.; Thordsen, J. J.; Horita, J.; Karamalidis, A.; Griffith, C.; Hakala, J. A.; Ambats, G.; Cole, D. R.; Phelps, T. J.; Manning, M. A.; Cook, P. J.; Hovorka, S. D. CO<sub>2</sub>–rock–brine interactions in Lower Tuscaloosa Formation at Cranfield CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration site, Mississippi, U.S.A. Chem. Geol. 2012, 291 (0), 269–277.
- Mathias, S.A., Hardisty, P.E., Trudell, M.R., Zimmerman, R.W., 2008, Approximate solutions for pressure buildup during CO<sub>2</sub> injection in brine aquifers, Transp. Porous Media, 79, 265-284.
- Mito, S.; Xue, Z.; Ohsumi, T. Case study of geochemical reactions at the Nagaoka CO2 injection site, Japan. Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 2008, 2 (3), 309–318.
- Newell, D. L.; Carey, J. W. Experimental evaluation of wellbore integrity along the cement-rock boundary. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2012, DOI: 10.1021/es3011404.
- Nordbotten, J. M., Celia, M. A. & Bachu, S., 2005, Injection and storage of CO<sub>2</sub> in deep saline aquifers: analytical solution for CO2 plume evolution during injection, Transp. Porous Media, 55, 339–360.
- Peng, D.-Y., D.B. Robinson, (1976). A new two-constant equation of state, Ind. Eng. Chem. Fundam., Vol. 15, pp. 59-64.
- Preisig, M. and J. H. Prévost (2011). "Coupled multi-phase thermo-poromechanical effects. Case study: CO<sub>2</sub> injection at In Salah, Algeria." International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 5(4): 1055-1064.
- Pruess, K. (2011). "Integrated modeling of CO<sub>2</sub> storage and leakage scenarios includingtransitions between super- and subcritical conditions, and phase change between liquid and gaseous CO<sub>2</sub>." Greenhouse Gases: Science and Technology 1(3): 237-247.
- Pruess, K., (2005). TOUGH2 fluid property module for mixtures of water, NaCl, and CO<sub>2</sub>. Rep. LBNL-57952, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley.

- Pruess, K., 2009. Formation dry-out from CO<sub>2</sub> injection into saline aquifers: 2. Analytical model for salt precipitation. Water Resour. Res. 45, W03403.
- Pruess, K., C. Oldenburg, and G. Moridis, TOUGH2 User's Guide, Version 2.0, Report LBNL-3134, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, Calif., 1999.
- Pruess, K., C., Oldenburg, G., Moridis, (1999). TOUGH2 user's guide, version 2.0. Rep. LBNL-43134, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley
- Pruess, K., Muller, N., 2009. Formation dry-out from CO<sub>2</sub> injection into saline aquifers: 1. Effects of solids precipitation and their mitigation. Water Resour. Res. 45, W03402.
- Pruess, K., Spycher, N., 2007. ECO2N—a fluid property module for the TOUGH2 code for studies of CO<sub>2</sub> storage in saline aquifers. Energy Convers. Manage. 48 (6), 1761–1767.
- Rohmer J, Seyedi DM (2010) Coupled large scale hydromechanical modelling for caprock failure risk assessment of CO2 storage in deep saline aquifers. Oil Gas Sci Technol Rev IFP 65:503–517
- Rutqvist, J. (2012). "The Geomechanics of CO<sub>2</sub> Storage in Deep Sedimentary Formations." Geotechnical and Geological Engineering 30(3): 525-551.
- Samier, P. and De Gennaro, S.: "Practical Iterative Coupling of Geomechanics With Reservoir Simulation", paper SPE 106188 presented at the 2007 SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, February, 2007.
- Saul, A. and Wagner, W.: "International Equations for the Saturated Properties of Ordinary Water Substance," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 16, No. 4 (1987) 893-901.
- Settari, A. and Walters, D.A.: "Advances in Coupled Geomechanical and Reservoir Modeling with Application to Reservoir Compaction," paper SPE 51927 presented at the 1999 SPE Reservoir Simulation Symposium, Houston, February, 1999.
- Shao, H.; Ray, J. R.; Jun, Y.-S. Dissolution and precipitation of clay minerals under geologic CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration conditions: CO<sub>2</sub>-brine-phlogopite interactions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2010, 44 (15), 5999–6005.
- Technical Data Book, Petroleum Refining: English Edition. 4th ed. Washington: API, 1983.
- Teletzke G. F., Lu P., 2012, Guidelines for reservoir modeling of geologic CO<sub>2</sub> storage, Presnetd at 11<sup>th</sup> International Greenhouse Gas Technologies Conference, Kyoto, Japan.
- Tran D, Nghiem L, Shrivastava V, Kohse B (2010) Study of geomechanical effects in deep aquifer CO<sub>2</sub> storage. In: Proceedings 44th US Rock mechanics symposium, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA, June 27–June 30, 2010

- Tran, D., Shrivastava, V., Nghiem, L., Kohse B., (2009), Geomechanical Risk Mitigation for CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration in Saline Aquifers, Proceedings of SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, 4-7 October 2009, New Orleans, Louisiana.
- Vinsome, P.K.W., J. Westervled, 1980. A simple method for predicting cap and base rock heat losses in thermal reservoir simulators, *J. Can. Petrol. Eng.*, 87-90.
- Xu, T.; Apps, J. A.; Pruess, K.; Yamamoto, H. Numerical modeling of injection and mineral trapping of CO2 with H2S and SO2 in a sandstone formation. Chem. Geol. 2007, 242 (3–4), 319–346.
- Zeidouni M., (2012), Analytical model of leakage through fault to overlying formations, Water Resources Research, 48, W00N02.
- Zeidouni M., Hosseini S.A., Nicot J.-P., (2012), Above-zone temperature variations due to CO<sub>2</sub> leakage from the storage aquifer, AGU Fall meeting, December 2012, San Francisco, CA.
- Zeidouni M., Pooladi-Darvish M., Keith D., Analytical solution to evaluate salt precipitation during CO2 injection in saline aquifers, International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, Volume 3, Issue 5, September 2009, Pages 600-611.
- Zhang, G., E.I. Villegas (2012), Geochemical reactive transport modeling in oil and gas industry-Bussiness drivers, challenges and solutions, TOUGH Symposium, September 2012, LBNL, Berkeley, CA.

## **Section 3**

# **Flood Surveillance**

Flood surveillance is one of the areas with the highest knowledge transfer potential from GCS research to commercial applications of  $CO_2$ -EOR. GCS has made significant advances in the surveillance of reservoir response to  $CO_2$  injection, as well as the improved and additionally validated use of these observations for predictive modeling.  $CO_2$  injection for geologic storage has connected with regulatory and public opinion concerns, which have resulted in elevated expectations toward the surveillance of the injected  $CO_2$  and the pressure response of the reservoir, as compared to injection of  $CO_2$  for EOR.

Storage demonstrations are providing data that have not generally been collected in commercial EOR projects. One reason for the generation of novel results is that for storage,  $CO_2$  has been injected into brine-bearing formations. This single fluid environment is simpler than a system that contains hydrocarbons and brine. A significant contribution that storage monitoring can make to understanding EOR comes from the fact that the array of measurements in a brine setting can be made from a "baseline" under stable, single fluid conditions. The potential for making one or a series of measurements as  $CO_2$  migrates and comes to a new equilibrium distribution provides a unique view of the dynamics of  $CO_2$  injection by subtraction of successive stages of plume evolution. This process cannot be conducted as robustly in an EOR setting, because the presence of hydrocarbons and past production precludes measuring changes from a simple, stable baseline.  $CO_2$  introduced into single fluid system is easier to interrogate and image with many modeling techniques, so that a novel and more precise view of the distribution of introduced  $CO_2$  can be obtained.

One simplification typical of storage settings is that the environment has not previously been perturbed by production. Removal of complex fluid history allows changes resulting from injection to be clearly seen, in settings from the reservoir to near surface environments and in characterization of fluids, pressure, and geomechanical perturbation. Another simplification in storage operations is that simpler fluids create less complex conditions for modeling. Removing the complexities of oil-CO<sub>2</sub> interactions, raises the expectation that a more rigorous match between the observed and modeled response can be obtained. Modeling for EOR is typically dominated by the uncertainties in the saturation distribution of remaining hydrocarbons, as well as complex mutual solubility of CO<sub>2</sub> into oil and oil into CO<sub>2</sub>. Injection into brine allows modelers to observe the interactions of CO<sub>2</sub> with rock petrophysics, pressure, and buoyancy more precisely, because other complexities are reduced.

The frequently low volumes of  $CO_2$  utilized in storage projects, usually due to cost limitations, create conditions where observations are made at smaller scales than those of EOR projects, ranging from few 100's of meters to core flood scales, enriching the knowledge base by adding information on small-scale flow, which is conventionally a source of uncertainty in pattern floods.

EOR surveillance programs are primarily designed with the goal of optimizing the performance of CO<sub>2</sub> floods in order to maximize oil production. Performance is improved by maximizing the effectiveness of

the areal sweep, vertical conformance, and displacement efficiency of the miscible (or near-miscible) process. Numerical models of CO<sub>2</sub> floods are heavily reliant on the collection of primary, secondary, and sometimes tertiary production data, which can provide a rich source of information on reservoir geometry, rock properties, and fluid characteristics and distribution. These data are used in pre-injection modeling to provide guidance to investment decision makers, and inform the design and operation of the CO<sub>2</sub> flood. EOR monitoring during operations is usually driven by material balance techniques (Melzer, 2012), which aim to balance the volumes injected with those produced. Material balance is an effective optimization methodology because fluid flow during EOR is highly managed by the injector-producer patterns. Surveillance of pressure at wellhead by intermittent collection of down-hole pressure is also a common technique to assure that the flood is being conducted as planned. The operator may decide to conduct additional surveillance in order to manage the flood and deliver timely intervention to control unpredicted flow behavior. Unpredicted flow behavior results from the inherent complexity of the oil reservoir and typical adjustments, known as "balancing the flood" are required to maximize production.

Examples of additional surveillance are production or injection profiles, cased hole wireline logging for fluid saturation using pulsed neutron or sonic logging, and borehole or surface geophysics. Material balance and other types of surveillance are typically held proprietary. Only in select cases are data shown at professional conferences or published.

EOR operations are required to provide assurance that groundwater quality is being protected, under Class II of the Underground Injection Control Program (UIC). Typically the focus of the regulations is in correct construction and maintenance of wells in terms of mechanical integrity. Monitoring of above reservoir units or near surface is not a typical part of EOR projects.

The objectives of monitoring programs associated with carbon storage projects additionally include long term  $CO_2$  containment within the target formation. Areal sweep, vertical conformance, and displacement efficiency continue to be important in carbon storage projects as these performance metrics relate to the effective use of the pore space, which translates into larger ultimate storage volumes and smaller footprints for volumes occupied by  $CO_2$  for a project. Assuring long term  $CO_2$  permanence, however, not only requires increasing the monitoring rigor within the target formation, but also broadens the area of study to include monitoring activities outside of the target formation (overburden, surface, or atmosphere), and adds the requirement of post operational monitoring and modeling activities.

As discussed in the Area of Review section, an integrated monitoring program starts with the delineation of the study area. Boundaries are defined by the predicted lateral extent of the  $CO_2$  plume and the size of the associated pressure plume, but can be adapted to focus on the area currently underlain by  $CO_2$ , with increases in the area as the area underlain by the  $CO_2$  plume and elevated pressure increase.

Heavy investment in model improvement for models in the public domain such as TOUGH2 (Transport of Unsaturated Groundwater and Heat) and STOMP (Subsurface Transport Over Multiple Phases) as well as addition and development of elements relevant to injection of CO<sub>2</sub> to commercial codes such as

CMG GEM (Computer Modeling Group's compositional reservoir simulator) have been a contribution from geological storage research. Improvements of codes that do not handle hydrocarbons have more indirect contributions than commercial codes. However, improvements in numerics, handling dry-out zones, near well-bore realization, rock-brine interaction, understanding the implications of boundary conditions and other fundamental code improvement will advance all modeling, including modeling for EOR (Hosseini et al, 2012; Nicot and Solano, 2011 and Oldenburg, 2009)

Monitoring is closely linked to modeling. Initial work on rock and fluid characterization and dynamic modeling of the  $CO_2$  flood is needed to design the injection plan. Uncertainties in the characterization phase are used to create multiple probabilistic representations of the impact of these uncertainties on the performance of the flood, and uncertainties with potential to damage the performance of the flood in a material way are highlighted in the risk assessment. Risk assessment schemes are used to structure material uncertainties and stakeholder concerns in an orderly format, and can be loosely to closely integrated with modeling. Risk assessment then drives the definition of the monitoring strategy. Monitoring should be designed to reduce risk and uncertainties leading to material damage and to flood performance. Ideally, monitoring can be used to systematically reduce uncertainties, providing increasing confidence in the operation of the injection, and eventually leading to closure with high confidence in long term retention. Monitoring can also be designed to provide early warning of a trajectory that would lead to damages, allowing operation to be modified prior to any undesirable occurrence. Other types of risk however may be underlain by uncertainties that cannot be reduced by observations, and monitoring must continue over the lifespan of the project and in the closure period in sentinel mode, observing that no damage has occurred and that no mitigation is needed. Still other monitoring types are needed should an unexpected or damaging condition develop, in order to design mitigation and remediation plans, and assess any penalty incurred, such as loss of credit for storage.

The mechanism by which the implications of monitoring are assessed is via comparison of the observed response with the modeled response. In some situations that comparison can be a simple threshold, however other comparisons will be against output from an analytical model, a geochemical model, geomechanical model, a multiphysics model, or a geocellular fluid flow model. The robustness of the history matching capability depends heavily on the quality of the data collected. The high quality data needs can only be met with a carefully designed, carefully deployed, fit-for-purpose monitoring strategy.

In this section we examine geological storage research advances in geophysical and geochemical monitoring tools and techniques developed to understand subsurface multiphase fluid flow, predict storage capacities, and assess continued containment of injected CO<sub>2</sub>. We evaluate how the deployment of these tools and techniques might improve CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects. Let us examine first parameters that control the performance of a miscible displacement, and the advances toward reducing uncertainty in predictive models.

# 3.1 Monitoring for improved understanding of subsurface multiphase flow and CO<sub>2</sub> flood performance

Vertical and areal heterogeneities affect sweep efficiency, which controls CO<sub>2</sub> migration direction and ultimate extent of the plume (Yang and others, 2011). Vertical permeability contrast in the nearby injection location controls the CO<sub>2</sub> injectivity potential and the CO<sub>2</sub> breakthrough time at a closely spaced intra-well scale (Doughty and others, 2008). However, global areal connectivity and architecture of geological bodies play an important role at the scale of a typical EOR 5-spot pattern. Relative permeability end points are also critical parameters controlling subsurface multiphase flow of CO<sub>2</sub>. But, the challenges surrounding the acquisition of these values introduce uncertainty in model predictions (Bennion, 2008).

# 3.1.1 Field data integration and reservoir modeling

In almost all reservoir settings, the complex fluid history introduces significant uncertainty in the distribution of reservoir properties, leading to mismatches between fluid-flow model predictions and observed reservoir response. In EOR, this uncertainty has important commercial consequences, for example in early- and late-responding wells. Early responding wells can lead to faster-than-optimal recycling of CO<sub>2</sub> and are indicators that large parts of the reservoir were not contacted by CO<sub>2</sub>. Slow response leads to slow return on investment and may also indicate that CO<sub>2</sub> is not sweeping the reservoir as designed, but migrating to zones not targeted for flooding. Documentation of reservoir and fluid complexities under storage conditions therefore has good potential for improving flood design and response to non-optimum flood response in an EOR context.

An early and long running GCS project, with near ideal conditions for repeat seismic monitoring was conducted at the Sliepner gas field in the North sea, where  $CO_2$  stripped from produced gas was reinjected to avoid a penalty for emission under Norwigian law (Chadwilk et al, 2004). A series of EUfunded monitoring efforts resulted in the collection of a superb repeat 3-D seismic survey (for example, Chadwick et al, 2006, Arts et al, 2004). The thick, high porosity injection interval in the Utsira Formation created a laboratory where the interactions between buoyancy-driven flow and stratigraphic barriers retarded  $CO_2$  rise and caused lateral flow. In addition, the conditions of low density  $CO_2$  at shallow depths and marine setting, with multiple repeat surveys created a high resolution monitoring output in terms of interpreted  $CO_2$  distribution.

Because the data have been widely distributed, significant progress in modeling this revealing test has been realized. In addition, the confidence in 4-D seismic techniques increased after collection of complementary gravity surveys. Capillary and gravity-dominated flow modeling over-represent fingering and lateral spread and continuous media and dynamic pressure modeling under-represent fingering (Cavanagh, 2011). In addition, the process of retardation at mudstones, followed by breakthrough and migration into the next sandstone provides unique and still incompletely modeled information about the interactions of CO<sub>2</sub> with within-reservoir barriers. Use of this excellent and unique data set has the potential for improving the modeling of gravity-flood interactions, a key parameter in pattern flood design.

Another well studied 4-D seismic data set from which results are publicly accessible was collected as part of the research programs conducted at the EOR flood at Weyburn. At the initiation of this study, researchers were unsure if they could image a relatively thin  $CO_2$  injection into the carbonates. Maps of velocity change resulting from introduction of  $CO_2$  into the reservoir highlight an internal fracture that is intersected by horizontal wells (White, 2012). This example, which shows how the application of seismic for EOR could lead to the improved understanding of the subsurface, constitutes a key learning that carries obvious implications for EOR flood management. This data set was collected in EOR context but was densely analyzed and made publically available because of the significance of Weyburn as the first field to accept large volumes of  $CO_2$  captured from a power plant. Funding available for research, among other advantages, provided a high value example of the interaction of porous media and fracture flow.

A similar data set considering the role of fractures in focusing flow was collected as part of a CO<sub>2</sub> storage project at InSalah, Algeria. This project was run by a consortium of BP, Sonatrac, and Statoil and included a significant research-oriented monitoring program. CO<sub>2</sub> separated from gas at the Krechba field and other fields in the region is injected into the water leg of the same thin sandstone that is produced. The model matching operation at this field is only weakly linked to seismic, because the pre-injection survey had relatively poor resolution, but rather to geomechanical modeling, to document the response of fractures to injection. Fractures lead both to preferential flow and faster than predicted arrival and to vertical loss of fluids into the lower part of the confining system. The interaction of fractures with storage is not believed to have damaged the ability of the field to retain CO<sub>2</sub>. However, the migration of CO<sub>2</sub> along fractures in a similar setting for EOR could damage the economics of the project. Improved modeling of injection with fracture opening conducted for the storage project should improve management of EOR floods conducted in similar settings, by increasing confidence in predictive modeling of maximum pressure that could be induced without opening fractures and creating "thief" zones.

At the Cranfield oil field, 3.8 million metric tons of CO<sub>2</sub> have been injected into the oil bearing zone and associated down-dip water leg of the Lower Tuscaloosa formation as part of an ongoing EOR project (Figure 3.1). Part of the research oriented program at Cranfield (Figure 3.2) was designed as an interwell scale laboratory in a Detailed Area of Study (DAS) consisting of 1 injector and 2 closely spaced observation wells (Figure 3.3). The program is currently observing multiphase fluid flow to assess sweep efficiency, testing technologies that document CO<sub>2</sub> containment, advancing techniques for capacity estimation, and understanding the operational design aspects of data acquisition (Hovorka, 2012). It is important to note that this program was designed to meet the objectives of the regional carbon sequestration partnerships (RCSP), and is not the kind of program needed to comply with EPA's rules under the Clean Air Act or Underground Injection Control.

The reservoir architecture at Cranfield is superficially quite simple, with the reservoir composed of a 15to 20 m thick conglomeritic sandstone interval that can be mapped over most of the field. As shown in Figure 3.1, only thin discontinuous dark mudstones compartmentalize the basal sandstone. However, observation at both the field scale and interwell scale studied at the DAS shows that CO<sub>2</sub> exhibits strong preferential flow. At the DAS, CO<sub>2</sub> arrival at the CFU31-F3 well 112 meters from the injection zone was shortly after arrival in the CFU31F2 well, only 68 m away, showing preferential flow. In addition, as injection rate increased, tracers arrived faster at the CFU31-F3 well than CFU31-F2 (Liu and others, 2012). However, this faster arrival was not linear with injection rate, but was retarded relative to what would have been extrapolated based on lower rates. Therefore at higher rates, more of the formation was accessed. This may demonstrate a mechanism by which pattern floods can augment production, in that developing plumes access additional pore volume in response to fluctuations in injection rate and fluid –pore interaction.



Figure 3.1: Cranfield stratigraphic section showing injection zone and near-surface. From Hovorka, 2012.



Figure 3.2: Timeline of injection and monitoring activities. IZ = injection zone; BHP = bottom hole pressure; AZMI = above zone monitoring interval; VSP = vertical seismic profile. From Hovorka, 2012.



Figure 3.3: Transect of Detailed Area of Study (DAS). From Hovorka, 2012.

In an effort to reduce uncertainty, a step-by-step static and dynamic modeling approach was developed for Cranfield (Hosseini and others, 2012), where model parameter uncertainties are reduced by field data integration and multiple, sequential stochastic reservoir modeling (Figure 3.4). In this approach, the first step defines absolute permeability and porosity by modeling single phase flow with small-scale data obtained from a well test experiment. A second step addresses boundary conditions and global reservoir connectivity, focusing on the injection induced pressure rise. A third step studies injection and observation wells' bottom hole pressure (BHP). Only models that match field data move on through the steps.



Figure 3.4: Flowchart used to improve Cranfield reservoir modeling by the integration of field data

The field observations, some not typically taken in EOR projects, used for relative permeability end points and local heterogeneity validation include injection zone pressure from pressure gauges installed in injection and observation wells, CO<sub>2</sub> saturation evolution from time-lapse reservoir saturation tool, or RST (a cased-hole pulsed neutron well logging tool later explained), and breakthrough time from U-tube gaseous-phase compositional samples. Time-lapse RST, proved useful in reducing the range of relative permeability model parameters, such as end-point saturations, which directly affect plume size and long-term estimates of residual trapped gas saturations. Assigning different relative permeabilities and capillary-entry pressures to sand and shale facies helped in correctly addressing sweep efficiencies in the Lower Tuscaloosa formation.

At Cranfield, detailed cross-well surveillance at less than pattern scale showed how geologic heterogeneity led to preferential flow. At the inter-well scale, the CO<sub>2</sub> could only access a fraction of the 20-m-thick sandstone. Results from imaging tools and tracer tests show that the flowpaths evolved over time, with flow rate being influential. Boundary condition assumptions are crucial for pressure response matching. Caution is advised, however, as under multi-phase flow conditions several realizations can be matched to the reservoir pressure response (Hovorka, 2012). Results from these tools could be used to improve understanding of the subsurface, benefiting the management of a CO<sub>2</sub> flood in the EOR context.

## 3.1.2 Geophysical methods

#### 3.1.2.1 Acoustic methods

Time-lapse 3-D seismic methods for imaging the extent of the CO<sub>2</sub> plume have been one of the breakthroughs of CCS monitoring. The collection of repeat surveys prior to CO<sub>2</sub> injection and as the injection volume increased at the Sleipner and Weyburn projects and making these data accessible to multiple research teams have advanced the rigor with which plume evolution can be predicted, as discussed in the previous section. In addition, the reliability of the system is increased. Changes in seismic velocity are sensitive to both changes in fluids and pressure, both important in reservoir management. Research conditions have been useful in separation of the two contributing elements (Ajo Franklin, written communication). 4- D seismic is now being proposed as a technique for managing many types of reservoirs. Validation in geologic storage research environments will advance the technology.

Geologic sequestration has provided acceleration to research and development of other types of geophysical measurements also. The combination of federally funded large research programs that engage many researchers and make results publically available and experiments conducted in simplified brine-only fluid settings has accelerated tool development and data analysis. One of the contributions made for seismic interpretation from research-oriented storage projects is combination of seismic with other instruments, including borehole deployed technologies and other types of measurements.

#### 3.1.2.2 Cross-well seismic and VSP

Higher resolution well-based acoustic data are typically collected in reservoir settings to augment a seismic survey to provide improved depth resolution and higher frequency data. These include sonic logs where both source and receiver are placed in the well, vertical seismic profiling, where receivers are deployed in the well and sources are placed at the surface, and cross-well arrays where the source array is placed in one well and the receivers in another. Storage projects have added to improved understanding of the reservoir where these tools were linked to other methods.

For example time-lapse cross well tomography conducted at the Frio test and at Cranfield provided the most resolved image of the plume evolution, and was used to constrain fluid flow data collected using introduced and natural tracers. At Frio, the baseline was collected prior to the start of injection in 2004 and then about 3 months after the end of injection. These images showed that plumed swept fairly homogenously though the reservoir, however gravity effects cause pronounced thinning over the 100 foot well spacing. At Cranfield a baseline was acquired in both observation wells prior to perforation and tubing completion and a repeat was conducted 9 months after start of injection when the wellbore logging and the geochemical sampling programs were completed. Results revealed strong heterogeneity in the distribution of  $CO_2$  (Hovorka and others, 2012).

Crosswell seismic data is valuable, and complementary to well-logging data, as it provides an inversion of the  $CO_2$  distribution in the interwell (See Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5: Crosswell seismic survey and RST integration at DAS. Injection well located on the left. From Butsch, 2012. I think maybe we should use Jonathan Ajo Franklins version, same volume.

Two other tests of cross-well seismic provide important information on the limits of sensitivity of this technique. At the Nagaoka, Niigata prefecture, Japan, in an onshore experimental site where 10,400 metric tons of CO<sub>2</sub> were injected, the plume was imaged by time-lapse cross-well seismic (Saito and others, 2006 and Zue and others, 2006). However the high frequency time-lapse logging (Mito and others, 2008) was able to resolve CO<sub>2</sub> arrival at wells when the cross-well seismic did not image it. In addition, inversion of the image did not eliminate the possibility that changes could have occurred outside the target zone. Cross-well seismic was deployed at the Gaylord, Michigan CO<sub>2</sub> injection site (Battelle, 2011), and showed perturbations related to substitution of CO<sub>2</sub> for brine and increase in pressure below a regional seal. However, the effect of fluid substitution and pressure could not be separated, and uncertainty remained about the extent to which CO<sub>2</sub> was confined to the target reservoir (Bass Island Dolomite) or invaded overlying less permeable units, the Bois Banc Formation. These limitations are valuable because (1) recognitions of limits avoids investment failure, in that reliance on these tools can be designed with limitations in mind, and (2) additional research can be focused on limitations.

Cross-well Continuous Active Seismic Source Monitoring -CASSM- (Daley and others, 2007) was designed to deal with issues raised by monitoring geologic storage. In particular, placing a source at depth in a site under CO<sub>2</sub> injection requires removing the tubing and packers, which in turn requires that the well be filled with dense brine "kill fluid" to offset the pressure and buoyancy of injected CO<sub>2</sub>. This kill fluid dramatically changes the near-well bore environmental at the perforations, which damages the ability to measure saturation correctly with well based logging tools and may damage performance of other instrumentation. One solution to the need to kill the well is not to perforate the well in the injection zone, however this means that pressure and geochemical data cannot be collected. LBNL undertook designing a ceramic source conveyed on tubing (CASSM) to create a solution to this problem. The tubing is run though the source, providing access to the perforations as in a traditionally-completed well. The seismic source can be operated continuously, providing excellent repeatability and stacking. Multiple sources can be used in the same wellbore. CASSM was successfully deployed in the Frio test and documented the process of breakthrough. CASSM was undertaken between the two DAS observation wells at Cranfield to observe high frequency time-lapse changes in velocity caused by replacement of brine by CO<sub>2</sub>. Valuable measurements of seismic response to pressure increase were obtained pre-injection during the hydrologic tests; however, failure of hydrophone seals prior to the CO<sub>2</sub> injection phase prevented data collection relevant to multiphase flow with this instrument (Hovorka, 2012). Additional deployment is recommended with improved receiver engineering that can withstand the downhole environment.

#### 3.1.2.3 Electrical tomography

Electrical tomography methods have been traditionally, and successfully, used to monitor shallow subsurface fluid flow. Long-electrode electrical resistance tomography (LEERT) was evaluated for application at the Weyburn field (White, 2012). First, a numerical model was designed to assess the resolution and sensitivity of the method in a field environment. The modeling study indicated that none of the conditions that were considered produced data with adequate signal-to-noise ratio to image the resulting CO<sub>2</sub> plume. So, LEERT was concluded to be unsuited for direct CO<sub>2</sub> monitoring at the Weyburn field.

Placing an electrode array at depth greatly increases resolution; the main problem is to isolate the electrical field from the steel casing of the well. EM methods exist that are designed to be able to filter out the effect of the casing. A novel test was conducted at Lost Hills, during a water flood and  $CO_2$  pilot, in which cross-well acoustic and EM were jointly inverted (Wilt and Morea, 2004; Lee and Uchida 2005) . However an attempt to use borehole EM in a  $CO_2$  environment to image  $CO_2$  at the Frio test (K. Dodds, 2004) was not able to extract signal from the noise created by steel casings.

Cross well and surface to-well electrical resistivity arrays were first used in a CO<sub>2</sub> storage monitoring environment at the GFZ Ketzin site (Schmidt-Hattenberger and others, 2011). The Vertical Electrical Resistivity Array (VERA) was successful in observing and inverting a significant resistivity increase at the approximate depth of the injection zone.

At Cranfield, cross-well continuous electrical resistivity tomography (ERT) was undertaken successfully between the two DAS observation wells (Carrigan and others, 2009; X. Yang and others, in press). The technology consists of measurements between pairs of electrodes that provide high-frequency updates on conductivity changes introduced by changing CO<sub>2</sub> saturation. The installation of such electrodes, however, requires nonconductive casing and a completion design that allows individual wires to be run from each electrode to the surface without damage. At Cranfield, installation caused high cost, suspected interference with other instruments (borehole seimsic and borehole resitivity logs), and lost of connection to about ¼ of the electrodes. Improved technologies are required for easier and reliable installation of ERT before this tool can be deployed commercially at reservoir depths (Hovorka and others, 2012).

Although not completely tested in the public domain, GCS research results seem to indicate that the applicability of these new techniques to EOR and production settings holds high promise. New geometries and instruments are currently in development.

#### 3.1.3 Gravity

Gravity collected from airplane, surface, or ship has been a resource exploration tool since early in the 20<sup>th</sup> century, with the value resulting from areas where higher or lower rock density signaled locations where structures such as salt domes formed oil traps. In recent decades, improvements in the resolution of gravity measurement have resulted in the use of this method in time lapse for assessing changes in fluids. Measuring fluid changes in near surface systems such as ice and groundwater have been made with the GRACE Satellite based platform (Adams, 2002). Time lapse gravity has been used for tracking fluid changes in the subsurface. In some cases the measurements have been made from the surface, which has the advantage of allowing dense spatial coverage for a number of producing fields under waterflood (Brady and others, 2002; Krahenbuhl and others, 2010.)

Gravity was pioneered for  $CO_2$  injection at Sleipner (Alnes and others, 2011), where it provided a complementary measurement to seismic (Arts and others, 2004). This use of two complementary techniques is part of the benefit of large scale research, which validates and improves quantification of each technique.

In other cases, the change in gravity is too small to be detected with existing instruments at the surface. Gravity instruments that can be deployed closer to the fluid substitution by lowering them into the well are available. Time-lapse borehole gravity measurements were collected within the detailed area of study (DAS) wells at Cranfield Field Mississippi, as a CCP monitoring study conducted at the SECARB Early test. The borehole gravimeter data were evaluated for sensitivity to both the larger scale geologic response and the smaller time-lapse signal from injected CO<sub>2</sub>. All four data sets, two for each observation well, demonstrated distinct Poisson jumps at the boundaries of the Cranfield reservoir and are considered successful in reflecting the lower density of the reservoir of the site (Dodds, 2012). Assessment of the change in fluid is hampered by error in instrument relocation, noise and instrument drift. However final data are interpreted as showing a significant decrease in density within the reservoir as CO<sub>2</sub> was emplaced. Resolution is surprisingly good, showing the separation between the upper and lower flow units. These uses in research mode show promise for additional commercial applications, including direct measurement of fluid substitution during production.

#### 3.1.4 Wireline logging

Wireline logging is a workhorse of reservoir characterization. Several novel elements are contributed from experiments in geologic storage monitoring. Simpler fluid environments provide the same benefit as noted in the section on seismic, to increase quantitative rigor of saturation detection. Pre-injection baseline logging in a setting with only brine as a pore fluid, followed by detailed assessment of the ability of the formation to transmit fluids adds greatly to confidence and precision of measurements. Confidence and precision can then be translated to perturbed and complex reservoir settings. Significant

two-phase experiments have been conducted and put in the public domain, where cross-lab and cross method comparisons can be made, including some of the first sets of public domain assessments of CO<sub>2</sub> saturation in the lab (Bachu and Bennion, 2008; Benson Lab, 2013; Akbarabadi and Piri, 2011).

Pulse neutron logging is a well understood technology that has been used for many years to monitor fluid movement in reservoirs. Results from pulsed neutron measurements are often the standard to which other monitoring measurements are compared. The Frio test was one of the first test to use RST in an experimental CO<sub>2</sub>-brine setting (Sakurai et al, 2005). In the Cranfield DAS wells, even with complex wellbores and difficult logging conditions, the Schlumberger reservoir saturation tool (RST), a pulse neutron based tool, was able to provide insight on the saturations and volumes of the different fluids in the reservoir, and how these were changing with time (Butsch et al, 2012). However, uncertainty is introduced when correcting for change in tubing fluids when brine is replaced by CO<sub>2</sub>. Other wireline tools, such as sonic and resistivity, had difficulty with noise at the DAS wells, perhaps because of interference by complex completions. RST is presently being successfully used in Gulf Coast commercial EOR applications. Pulsed neutron data was also collected at the Gaylord Michigan test injection (Battelle, 2011). The Gaylord test illustrated some of the uncertainties with pulsed neutron techniques, in low permeability carbonates.

#### 3.1.5 Temperature monitoring

Thermal response is a classic tool for tracking fluids, especially in cases where flow is focused in a narrow zone, because temperature measurements are easily made and relatively simple to interpret. However, in-reservoir use is limited because the thermal mass of the reservoir buffers signal.

Fiber optic cables were deployed at the Cranfield DAS for distributed temperature sensing (DTS). DTS is a technology that consists of sending a pulse of light down a fiber optic cable installed along the casing or tubing of a well from the surface to total depth and back. This technology produces quasi-continuous temperature profiles along the entire length of wells providing high temporal and spatial resolution. Borehole temperature data is used to determine the physical properties and the state of the CO<sub>2</sub> and to draw conclusions on flow processes inside the formation and along wells. At DAS, temperature measurements were acquired every meter along the wellbore, with sample rates that ranged from 2 to 15 minutes. Figure 3.6 shows more than three hundred million temperature measurement recorded from November 2009 to July 2010, (Nuñez-Lopez, 2011).



Figure 3.6: Temperature evolution, vertical distribution, and timing of temperature disturbances from Nov. 14<sup>th</sup> 2009 to July 7<sup>th</sup> 2010 at observation well F3.

A novel technique developed for a number of applications introduces a heater cable so that a controlled temperature increase can be induced. The speed of the recovery can be inverted to observe fluid flow and changes in the specific heat as the fluid composition changes. Perturbed pressure has been deployed at CO<sub>2</sub>SINK project at the Ketzin field (Freifeld and others, 2007) and that the SECARB test at Citronelle. Perturbed temperature sensing has a potential applicability to EOR, to evaluate changes in fluid saturation that would be of high value in the assessment of the flood and in the modification of strategies as injection becomes mature. The demonstrations for CCS research provide information on the sensitivity of the method. Assessment of the validity of the method has not been undertaken in the EOR context.

#### 3.1.6 Pressure monitoring

Pressure monitoring in the reservoir is essential for commercial production, and a classic surveillance tool used for the calibration of numerical fluid flow models. Geologic storage projects have added value to this method by collecting novel and publically accessible data sets. Novel elements provided by geologic storage experiments include data collected (1) in minimally perturbed environments, (2) in close spatial distances, and (3) at high frequency. Integration of pressure data with geomechanical evaluation is also a novel approach. The value of these data for commercial application has not been fully developed, but opportunities are opened.

EOR is almost always conducted in a highly perturbed environment, where regional pressure drawdown from prolonged production has been partly offset by water injection. In these settings pressure evolution is so complex that a relatively coarse observation, for example by making episodic downhole measurements in some patterns, is sufficient to document trends and constrain models. Storage tests

have accessed relatively unperturbed fluid environments, which have allowed observation of much more subtle responses of the reservoir, which provide additional constrains to infer active processes in the reservoir. For example, the Frio tests at South Liberty Field Texas, Cranfield, Mississippi, Citronelle Alabama, and Gaylord Michigan tests were conducted in reservoir intervals that had not been produced for several decades prior to the test, allowing relatively simple measurements to be interpreted to high resolution not typically possible in the EOR context. Improved model matching methods can then be applied to more complex situations. Novel ideas, such as having a well out of the active pattern collect in-reservoir data that averages reservoir response and can be used to better calibrate the system come from these studies. For example, Verma and others (-in press-) have documented the value of an idle well in passively accumulating changes in fluid composition during breakthrough without the cost of active sampling. Hosseini (in preparation) has modeled and is field testing a concept that uses time lapse changes in fluid compressibility to assess replacement of water by CO<sub>2</sub>.

High-frequency pressure monitoring was confirmed as a highly valuable monitoring strategy at Cranfield. Pressure changes were observed in far-field wells, confirming reservoir architecture developed during characterization. Low cost pressure gauges installed in the well-heads of wells perforated in the injection zone can monitor pressure trends, as long as the pressure responses are calibrated to the density of the tubing fluids.

# **3.2** Environmental and Public Assurance

All injection for secondary and tertiary recovery is required under UIC rules to protect potable water resources. Traditionally, regulatory efforts have focused on proper maintenance of wells, which are the main risks of failure of isolation. However, with increasing societal concern about public and environmental protection, the burden on operators will increase, at least in some locations and for some types of operations. Geologic storage has been subjected to such high expectations, and has explored a portfolio of tools. Both highly successful and less successful outcomes of the test programs may be useful in future resource extraction operations, the successful methods as models and the unsuccessful methods to avoid pressure to make apparently reassuring but actually poor-performing measurements.

#### 3.2.1 Above-zone pressure monitoring

Pressure surveillance in an above-zone monitoring interval (AZMI) has been used at gas storage sites for decades to assure that gas is not seeping out of the storage unit which is unacceptable both in terms of product loss and in terms of risk creation. This approach has been adapted for the same purposes for geologic storage. AZMI pressure monitoring is conducted under the principle that any fluid intrusion into a shallower layer would cause a pressure increase on the hydrostatic pressure gradient (Zeidouni, 2012; Zeidouni and Pooladi-Darvish, 2012a; Zeidouni and Pooladi-Darvish, 2012 b). An ideal AZMI is a laterally continuous thin zone that is sensitive to pressure perturbations. Careful selection of the AZMI is

required as for this interval to be a successful monitoring element it needs to intercept as many hypothetical leakage paths as possible (Hovorka, 2012).

Conceptual and analytical models were developed for interpreting continuous AZMI pressure and temperature monitoring data (Figure 3. 7) in the case that the wellbore is the monitoring leakage path (Tao et al, 2012). Results from modeling the pressure response and temperature response were consistent and proved that wellbore permeability can be estimated. If the results contradict, as it was observed in the case of the high volume injection observation well (EGL7) at the Cranfield site, the wellbore is not the primary leakage pathway. The application to Cranfield data show that the dedicated observation well (EGL7) is unlikely to be leaking. However, this conclusion does not rule out the possibility that leakage can occur through other leakage pathways.



Figure 3.7: Plot of over 2 years (July 2008 to August 2010) of continuously recorded pressure and temperature data for the injection zone and AZMI (Meckel and Hovorka, 2010). Pressure in the injection zone rises within a month after  $CO_2$  injection starts. Pressure in AZMI increases two months later, indicating a possible wellbore leak. Temperature data suggest a first-order isolation as both zones recover to distinct baselines, maintaining a linear correlation with a consistent differential of ~4.9°C (~8.8°F). From Tao, 2012.

It is well known that pressure-transient analysis provides information on the size and shape of the formation and its ability to produce/receive fluids. Pressure transients are also used as a metric for matching numerical flow model conformance with observed production/injection history. However, the identification of well leakage through pressure history matching can be challenging due to the subtle effects these leaks can have on the characteristic pressure magnitude evolution (Meckel, 2013).

At Cranfield, Meckel and others, (2010) developed a broadly applicable technique for the analysis of pressure transients in continuous time series. This technique uses a combination of theory, an analytically-derived synthetic reservoir pressure history example, and analysis of field pressure data. The analysis focuses on the second derivative (d2P/dt2) of the continuous pressure time series, and it shows that d2P/dt2 transients reveal consistent relationships with known (theoretical case) or induced (field case) pressure perturbations that are independent of prior pressure history. This fact makes the second

derivative of the continuous pressure time series a very useful diagnostic tool for identifying and evaluating observed transients of unknown origin, such as well leakages.

A novel tool array, the Westbay multi-port sampler (Koch and Person, 2007), which has been deployed at a number of sites for monitoring high concern fresh-water aquifers, has recently been adapted for use at reservoir depths and pilot-tested at the Midwest Geological Sequestration Consortium's CO<sub>2</sub> injection test site at Decatur, IL (Schlumberger Water Services, 2011). In this setting it is used to separately isolate and measure pressure and fluids across the injection reservoir and above the lowest seal. This tool may prove useful for understanding the response of a thick, hydrologically interconnected reservoir to flooding. For example, installation of such a multi-level sampler would be useful to understand how to efficiently exploit the ROZ of the Permian Basin, but the EOR application has not been tested in the public domain.

## 3.2.2 Groundwater monitoring

Groundwater monitoring is required for some industries that use the subsurface, such as mining and various types of near-surface waste disposal and not part of the expectations for deeper uses of the subsurface, such as deep fluid disposal under UIC class I, or oil and gas operations. However, groundwater monitoring may come to be expected more widely of various industries, in response to public concern, and is an expected activity in carbon storage projects under the US EPA UIC class VI rules. Carbon storage therefore provides a pioneer effort into what is feasible and productive and what is not useful in providing the wanted pubic assurance. GCS advances in this area could be useful for EOR if groundwater monitoring is required in the future.

The naïve assumption is that making measurements of groundwater chemistry prior to industrial activity will provide the baseline needed to prove that no contamination to potable water has occurred as a result of the CO<sub>2</sub> injection (U.S. EPA, 2009). As experience with monitoring groundwater builds, information about the complexity of achieving the desired finding increases. Four reasons for failure of "baseline' style monitoring are noted (Wolaver and others, in preparation):

- 1) Noise in the system measured is higher than the leakage or failure signal.
- 2) Ambient or introduced trend in the system measured overlaps the trend that would be induced by failure. For example climate change or urbanization may cause systematic changes that mimic leakage.
- 3) Failure or damage does not significantly and reliably perturb the system measured. For example the failure signal could be too localized or too transient to be detected by the monitoring array.
- 4) Pre-injection data collected in a different area than where changes resulting from injection are observed

Robust and protective monitoring can only be achieved if the role of a pre-injection baseline in diagnosing indicators of loss of storage value or other damaging events is critically and quantitatively assessed. It is critical for monitoring success that characterization and explicit modeling of failure be conducted to define triggers that are to be detected by monitoring. One key function of pre-injection

data collection is characterization and site-specific evaluation of noise, trends, frequency, and spatial variability of signal to determine the sensitivity of the monitoring array to leakage detection.

At the Weyburn field, more than 60 samples were collected during seven shallow groundwater surveys conducted between 2000 and 2009. Results (Figure 3.8) revealed a highly variable composition in the area, generally of the Ca-Mg-SO<sub>4</sub>-HCO<sub>3</sub> type. (Johnson, 2012)



Figure 3.8: Piper plot of water composition from domestic and farm wells in the Weyburn project area. From Johnson, 2012.

An extensive sample-based study of groundwater geochemistry over SACROC did not find evidence that any leakage had occurred (Romanak and others, 2012), although the groundwater-rock-system is shown in models and in the lab to be sensitive to CO<sub>2</sub> leakage should it occur. However, Smyth (personal statement) warns that although the sampling data is quite dense and the signal well- assessed, a very strong statement that no leakage has occurred cannot be made, because reactive transport modeling to show the sample density needed to document no-leakage between sampling points, and deep sampling have not been conducted. Exhaustive consideration of the leakage options would include more intensive characterization, modeling, and possibly additional sampling. This study which collected a large number of samples over a multi-year period over a large and mature EOR site provides an important and widely applicable recommendation not to underestimate the investment in terms of characterization and number and types of samples collected needed to conduct a valid groundwater monitoring deployment.

At Cranfield, groundwater evolution trends have not been interpreted as leakage. To increase the robustness of the interpretation of the data as no evidence of leakage, a shallow "controlled leakage" push-pull experiment was conducted, where groundwater from a shallow aquifer was extracted,

saturated with  $CO_2$ , and reinjected to measure the parameters changed by in-situ rock-water, dissolved  $CO_2$  reaction. The test showed that the rock water reaction at in-situ conditions was slightly weaker, although still considered similar in scale, than the reaction observed in laboratory studies (Yang and others, 2012).

## 3.2.3 Soil gas monitoring

Soil gas measurements are a tool widely used for assessing natural migration of fluid out of the subsurface. They are also used at contaminated sites to map the extent of contamination in cases where contamination produced a diagnostic signal, such as volatile organic carbons from an oil spill. Because the goal of monitoring geologic storage is to demonstrate retention of CO<sub>2</sub> in the subsurface, monitoring soil gas flux across the soil-air interface was identified as an attractive monitoring technology (Klusman, 2003). In addition, a number of variations on the exploration tools testing gas in the vadose zone and soil profile were identified as monitoring prospects.

Soil gases have a number of advantages as a monitoring approach, in that they are low cost ways to get a broad overview of a dynamic system. However, their suitability for detection of leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> from a reservoir at depth is unproven. Uncertainties arise because 1) the transport distance is long, 2) transport mechanisms are understudied, 3) CO<sub>2</sub> is fairly soluble and natural analog studies (Gilfillan and others, 2010, Gilfillan and others, 2011) show that signals may be attenuated or delayed, 4) CO<sub>2</sub> generated by non-leakage processes may mimic or mask the leakage signal, and 5) the leakage signal may be focused in an area between sample points or outside of the sample pattern (Lewicki et al, 2005). Studies of natural analogs and controlled leakage experiments underway to support the development of this method may help to determine the usefulness and optimization of the methods.

The application to EOR might be limited to cases where storage falls under programs requiring such monitoring. However, other uses may become apparent as research matures. One potential benefit is Romanak's "process-base" method for addressing leak allegations, discussed later in the Stakeholders Interactions section (Romanak and others, 2012).

The first and most deeply studied controlled release site is the Zero Emission Research and Technology Center (ZERT) experiment, at the agricultural station at Montana State University, however a growing number of tests are underway internationally in a wide variety of settings (Spangler, 2012).

One interesting synthesis of reported preliminary results from controlled releases is that lateral transport has been greater than expected at a number of sites, with the emergence of the  $CO_2$  not over the release site but laterally some distance away. This fits a model shown by natural spring and vents, which can be focused at intersections of geologic features and structures (Lewicki et al, 2007).

Also at Cranfield, typical background vadose zone gas compositions were obtained through a reconnaissance soil gas survey undertaken in 2008 near historic wells, and through a repeat survey in 2010. An elevated concentration of methane and CO<sub>2</sub> was identified during the first survey beneath a plugged and abandoned production well that was scheduled to be reactivated for production. This location was adopted as a study site (Yang et al, 2012). The anomaly was mapped utilizing an array of 3m-deep soil gas instruments deployed over an area of 100m<sup>2</sup>, referred to as the *P-site* (Figure 3.9).

Mud-logs were used to assess the sources of deep methane. Workover activities found the cement plugs in good condition; the source and transport mechanism for the thermogenic methane is not well understood.  $CO_2$  is plausibly a biodegradation product from methane. Perfluorocarbon tracers (PFT) were placed at bottom-hole during completion, and monitoring of soil-gas composition and tracers is continuing to seek evidence of Jackson Dome  $CO_2$  in soil gases. Production records indicate that  $CO_2$ arrived in the reservoir in this area before August 2010. Monitoring continues to identify any compositional changes.

A novel "process-based" approach (Romanak and others, 2012) was developed as part of the Cranfield project for separating in-situ generated gases from exogenous gases. The process-based method considers the ratios of  $N_2$ ,  $O_2$ ,  $CO_2$ , and  $CH_4$  to distinguish gases from processes that originated in the vadose zone from incoming gases that migrated from depth. An important value of this methodology over the traditional mapping of gas concentration is the reduced need for background measurements to identify leakage signals. Section 4.11 discusses the application of this method in Kerr Farm, a site in the vicinity of the Weyburn field, where farm owners claimed contamination with  $CO_2$  from the EOR operation.

During Phase 1 of the Weyburn program, annual soil gas surveys were conducted from 2001 to 2005 and again in 2011, generally to measure  $CO_2$  fluxes and stable isotopes. Three techniques were employed: (1) discontinuous gas measurements, (2) discontinuous depth profile measurements, and (3) continuous monitoring. Results indicate that stable isotope data on their own are inconclusive, but in combination with the measured soil gas  $CO_2$  content indicate there is a clear isotopic depletion with increasing  $CO_2$  concentration, which further supports the interpretation that the observed trend is caused by isotopic fractionation via biogenetic composition of organic matter (Johnson, 2012).



Figure 3.9: P-site and re-activated producer where the vadose zone was instrumented

Adam, D. 2002. Gravity measurement: Amazing grace. Nature, 416 (6876): 10-11.

- Akbarabadi, M. and Piri M. 2011. Geologic storage of Carbon Dioxide: An experimental study of permanent capillaryTrapping and relative permeability. Department of Chemical & Petroleum Engineering, University of Wyoming. This paper was prepared for presentation at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts held in Austin, Texas, USA 18-21 september, 2011
- Alnes, Harvard; Eiken, Ola; Nooner, Scott; Sasagawa, Glenn; Stenvold, Torkjell and Zumberge, Mark. 2011. Results from Sleipner gravity monitoring: Updated density and temperature distribution of the CO2 plume. Energy Procedia. Vol. 4, 5504-5511
- Arts, R., Eiken, O., Chadwick, R.A., Zweigel, P., Van Der Meer, L., and Kirby, G.A. 2004. Seismic monitoring at the Sleipner underground CO<sub>2</sub> storage site (North Sea). In: Baines, S. and Worden, R.J. (Eds.) Geological Storage for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions reduction. Geological Society, London, Special Publication 233, 181-191.
- Arts, R.; Chardwick R.A.; Eiken, Ola; Thibeau, Silvain and Nooner Scott. 2008. Ten years's experience of monitoring CO<sub>2</sub> injection in the Utsira Sand at Sleipner, offshore Norway in First Break. Vol 26, 65-72. <a href="http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/~snooner/Nooner/Publications\_files/fbjan08\_05.pdf">http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/~snooner/Nooner/Publications\_files/fbjan08\_05.pdf</a>
- Bachu, Stefan and Bennion Brant. 2008. E, Effects of in-situ conditions on relative permeability characteristics of CO<sub>2</sub>-brine systems, Environmental Geology, June 2008, Volume 54, Issue 8, pp 1707-1722
- Battelle. 2011. Best Practice Manual for Midwest Regional Carbon Sequestration Partnership Phase II Geologic CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration Field Validation Test. Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy, NETL. April, 28. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/infrastructure/rcsp/mrcsp/mrcsp/mibasinvalida</u> <u>tionrpt\_final.pdf</u>
- Bennion, B., Bachu, S., 2008, Drainage and imbibition relative permeability relationships for supercritical CO2/brine and H2S/brine systems in intergranular sandstone, carbonate, shale, and anhydrite rocks, SPE Reservoir Evaluation Engineering, 11, 487-496, DOI: 10.2118/99326-PA.
- Benson Lab. 2013. Relative permeability explorer: a data base of relative permeability. Accessed on January 25. https://pangea.stanford.edu/research/bensonlab/relperm/index.html
- Busch, A., Alles, S., Gensterblum, Y., Prinz, D., Dewhurst, D.N., Raven, M.D., Stanjek, H., Krooss, B.M., 2008. Carbon dioxide storage potential of shales. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 2, 297–308.
- Cavanagh, A. and P. Ringrose (2011). "Simulation of CO<sub>2</sub> distribution at the In Salah storage site using high-resolution field-scale models." Energy Procedia 4(0): 3730-3737.
- Cavanagh, Andrew. 2011. Calibration and prediction of the Sleipner CO<sub>2</sub> plume from 2006 to 2012. American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting 2011, abstract #H42C-04. http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2011AGUFM.H42C.04C

- Carrigan, C R ; Ramirez, A L ; Newmark, R L ; Aines, R and Friedmann, S. J. 2009. Application of ERT for tracking CO<sub>2</sub> plume growth and movement at the SECARB Cranfield site, presented at: 8th Annual Conference on Carbon Capture & Sequestration, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, May 4-7, 2009.
- Chadwick, R.A., Zweigel, P., Gregersen, U., Kirby, G.A., Holloway, S. and Johannessen P.N. 2004. Geological reservoir characterization of a CO<sub>2</sub> storage site: The Utsira Sand, Sleipner, northern North Sea. Energy 29, 1371-1381.
- Chadwick, R.A., Arts, R., Eiken, O., Williamson, P., and Williams, G. (2006). Geophysical monitoring of the CO2 plume at Sleipner, North Sea: an outline review. In: Lombardi, S., Altunia, L.K., and Beaubien, S.E. (Eds.) Advances in the Geological Storage of Carbon Dioxide. Springer, Dordrecht, NATO Science, IV Earth and Environmental Sciences Vol. 65, 303-314.
- Daley, T.M., Myer, L.R., Peterson, J. E. Majer, E.L. and Hoversten, G.M. 2007. Time-lapse crosswell seismic and VSP monitoring of injected CO<sub>2</sub> in a brine aquifer, Environmental Geology, July. LBNL-62396.
- Doughty, C. Freifeld, B.M., Trautz, R.C., 2008, Site characterization for CO<sub>2</sub> geologic storage and vice versa: The Frio brine pilot, Texas, USA, as a case study, Environmental Geology, 54, 1635-1656.
- Gilfillan, S., Wilkinson, M., Haszeldine, R. S., Nelson, S. & Poreda, R. Jun. 2010. He and Ne as tracers of natural CO<sub>2</sub> migration from a deep reservoir. In: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta. 74, 12, p. A331-A331. 1 p.
- Gilfillan, S. M. V., Wilkinson, M., Haszeldine, R. S., Shipton, Z. K., Nelson, S. T. & Poreda, R. 2011 He and Ne as tracers of natural CO<sub>2</sub> migration up a fault from a deep reservoir: International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control. 5, 6, p. 1507-1516. 10 p.
- Hosseini, S. A., Lashgari, H., Choi, J. W., Nicot, J. P., Lu, J., Hovorka, S. D., 2012. Static and Dynamic Reservoir Modeling for Geological CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration at Cranfield, Mississippi, U.S.A. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijggc.2012.11.009
- Hovorka, S. D., Meckel, T.A., Treviño, R., 2012. Monitoring a Large-volume Injection at Cranfield, Mississippi - Project Design and Recommendations, International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control.
- Jerry L. Brady, John F. Ferguson, John E. Seibert, Tianyou Chen, Jennifer L. Hare, Carlos V.L. Aiken, Fred J. Klopping, John M. Brown, Micro-g Solution, Inc; 2002, Surface Gravity Monitoring of the Gas Cap Water Injection Project Prudhoe Bay, Alaska, SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, 29 September-2 October 2002, San Antonio, Texas 77513-MS, DOI 10.2118/77513-MS.
- Jordan, Preston and Doughty Christine. 2009. Sensitivity of CO<sub>2</sub> migration estimation on reservoir temperature and pressure uncertainty. Energy Procedia 1, 2825-2832.
- Johnson, J. W. and others, 2012. Geochemical Monitoring. In B. Hitchon (Editor), Best Practices for Validating CO<sub>2</sub> Geological Storage, 155-210. Geoscience Publishing.
- Krahenbuhl, Richard A; Li, Yaoguo and Davis, Tom. 2010. 4D gravity monitoring of fluid movement at Delhi Field, LA: A feasibility study with seismic and well data. Center for Gravity, Electrical & Magnetic Studies (CGEM).

http://geophysics.mines.edu/cgem/pdf%20files/Krahenbuhl Li\_Davis%202010.pdfSEG Expanded

Koch, Richard J. and Pearson, Steven G. 2007. Evaluation of Sampling Systems for Multiple Completion Regional Aquifer Wells at Los Alamos National Laboratory. LA-UR-07-4034. August, EP2007-0486, <u>http://permalink.lanl.gov/object/tr?what=info:lanl-repo/lareport/LA-UR-07-4034</u>
- Lee, Tae Jong and Uchida, Toshihiro. 2005. Electromagnetic traveltime tomography: Application for reservoir characterization in the Lost Hills oil field, California. Geophysics, May 2005; 70: 51 58.
- Lewicki, J.L., Hilley, G.E. and Oldenburg, C.M. (2005). An improved strategy to detect CO<sub>2</sub> leakage for verification of geologic carbon sequestration. Geophysical Research Letters 32(19): doi: 10.1029/2005GL024281. issn: 0094-8276.
- Lewicki, J.L., Birkholzer, Jens and Tsang Chin-Fu. 2007. Natural and industrial analogues for leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> from storage reservoirs: identification of features, events, and processes and lessons learned. Environ Geol. 52:457–467. DOI 10.1007/s00254-006-0479-7
- Liu F., Lu P., Griffith C., Hedges S., Soong Y., Hellevang H., Zhu C., 2012. "CO<sub>2</sub>-brine-caprock interaction: Reactivity experiments on Eau Claire shale and a review of relevant literature", International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 7, Elsevier, 153-157.
- Melzer, S., 2012. "Carbon Dioxide Enhanced Oil Recovery (CO<sub>2</sub> EOR): Factors Involved in adding Carbon Capture, Utilization and Storage (CCUS) to Enhanced Oil Recovery." Report for Center for Climate and Energy Solutions.
- Meckel T.A. and Hovorka S.D., 2010. Above-Zone Pressure Monitoring as a Surveillance Tool for Carbon Sequestration Projects. SPE International Conference on CO<sub>2</sub>Capture, Storage, and Utilization. New Orleans, Louisiana, USA, 10–12 November 2010.
- Mito, Seako, Xue, Ziqie and Ohsumi Takashi. 2008. Case study of geochemical reactions at the Nagaoka CO<sub>2</sub> injection site, Japan. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 2. 309-318.
- Nicot, J. P., Hosseini, S.A., and Solano, S.V., 2011. Are single-phase flow numerical models sufficient to estimate pressure distribution in CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration projects? Proceedings of the 10<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies GHGT10, September 19-23, 2010, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Energy Procedia. 4, 3919-3926. GCCC Digital Publication #11-14.
- Nicot, J.-P., C. M. Oldenburg, J. E. Houseworth, J.-W. Choi, this issue. Analysis of potential leakage pathways at the Cranfield, MS, U.S.A., CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration sit. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control.
- Nogues, J.P., Nordbotten, J.M., Celia, M.A., 2011. Detecting leakage of brine or CO<sub>2</sub> through abandoned wells in a geological sequestration operation using pressure monitoring wells. Energy Procedia 4, 3620-3627.
- Nordbotten, J.M., Kavetski, D., Celia, M.A., Bachu, S., 2009. Model for CO<sub>2</sub> Leakage Including Multiple Geological Layers and Multiple Leaky Wells. Environmental Science & Technology 43, 743-749.
- Nooner, Scott; Zumberge, Mark; Sasagawa, Glenn, Eiken; Ola and Stenvold, Torkjell. A Baseline Gravity Survey over the Sleipner CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration Site.
- Nuñez-López, Vanessa, Holtz, M., 2007. Quick-look assessments to identify optimal CO<sub>2</sub> EOR storage sites, Special Issue "Site Characterization for CO<sub>2</sub> Geological Storage". Journal of Environmental Geology. Springer-Verlag, DOI 10.1007/x00254-007-0940-2, 15 p.
- Núñez-López, V., 2011, Temperature monitoring at SECARB Cranfield Phase 3 site using distributed temperature sensing (DTS) technology. GCCC Digital Publication Series #11-10.
- Official Journal of the European Union. 2009. EU Directive on the Geological Storage of Carbon Dioxide; accessed April 18, 2012.

http://eurlex. europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:140:0114:0135:EN:PDF.

- Okamoto, I., Li, X., Ohsumi, T., 2005. Effect of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> as the organic sol-vent on cap rock sealing performance for underground storage. Energy 30, 2344–2351.
- Oldenburg, C. M., Bryant, S. L., and Nicot, J. -P., 2009. Certification framework based on effective trapping for geologic carbon sequestration. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control. 3, 444–457.
- Panda, M., Nottingham, D., Lenig, D., 2011. "Systematic Surveillance Techniques for a Large Miscible WAG Flood", June 2011 SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 299-309.
- Philip, R.P., and Crisp, P. T., 1981, Surface geochemical methods used for oil and gas prospecting-a review. Journal of Geochemical Exploration.. 17, 1-34.
- Romanak, K. D., Smyth, R. C., Yang, C., Hovorka, S. D., Rearick, M., and Lu, J., 2012. Sensitivity of groundwater systems to CO<sub>2</sub>: application of a site-specific analysis of carbonate monitoring parameters at the SACROC CO<sub>2</sub>-enhanced oil field. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, v. 5, no. 1, p. 142–152.
- Romanak, K. D., Zhang, T., Gilbert, K., Yang, C., Bennett, P., and Hovorka, S., 2010. Evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub>, He, C1-C5 gaseous hydrocarbons at an engineered CO<sub>2</sub> injection, Cranfield, Mississippi. GCCC Digital Publication Series #10-04.
- Romanak, K.D., Bennett, P. C., Yang,, Changbing, Hovorka, S.D., 2012. Process-based approach to soil gas monitoring at geologic carbon storage sites. Geophysical Research Letters. 39, L15405, doi:10.1029/2012GL052426
- Rutledge, E. M., Guccione, M.J., Markewich, H. W., Wysocki, D. A., and Ward, L. B., 1996. Loess stratigraphy of the lower Mississippi Valley. Engineering Geology. 45, 167-193 Solano, S., and Nicot, J. -P., 2010, Gas-cap impact on CO<sub>2</sub> plume migration for long-term storage in saline aquifers. Gulf Coast Association of Geological Societies Transactions. 60, 643–655.
- Saito, H., Nobuoka, D., Azuma, H., Xue, Z. and Tanase, D., 2006, Time-lapse crosswell seismic tomography for monitoring injected CO2 in an onshore aquifer, Nagaoka, Japan, Exploration Geophysics, 37, p30-36
- Sakurai, Shinichi, Hovorka, S. D., Ramakrishnan, T. S., Boyd, A., and Mueller, N., 2005, Monitoring saturation changes for CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration: Petrophysical support of the Frio Brine Pilot Experiment, in SPWLA 46th Annual Logging Symposium: Society of Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts, Paper No. 2005-YY
- Studlick, J.R.J., Shew, R.D., Basye, G.L., and J.R. Ray, 1990, A giant carbon dioxide accumulation in the Norphlet Formation, Pisgah Anticline, Mississippi, In: Barwis, J.H. McPherson, J.G. and Studlick, J.R.J. (Eds.), Sandstone Petroleum Reservoirs. Springer-Verlag, Inc., New York, pp. 181-203.
- Schlumberger Water Services. 2011. Use of the Westbay system for multilevel monioting at the Illionois Basin Decature Project carbon capture and storage site. http://sequestration.org/resources/PAGNov2011Presentations/08-WestbayDecaturPresentationNov2011.pdf
- Schmidt-Hattenberger, Cornelia; Bergmanna, Peter; Kießlinga, Dana; Krügera, Kay; Rückerb, Carsten;
   Schüttc, Hartmut and Group, Ketzin. 2011. Application of a Vertical Electrical Resistivity Array (VERA) for Monitoring CO<sub>2</sub> Migration at the Ketzin Site: First Performance Evaluation. Energy Procedia 4, 3363–3370.

http://www.co2sink.org/publications/CSH%20Energy%20Procedia%202011.pdf2011.

- Spangler, Lee. 2012. Overview of monitoringcontrolled releases. http://www.ieaghg.org/docs/General\_Docs/Natr%20rel%20worksop/SPANGLER\_SEC.pdf
- Tao, Q., Bryant, S. L., and Meckel, T. A. this issue. Above-zone measurements of pressure and temperature for monitoring CCS Sites. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control
- Tao, Q., Bryant, S.L., Meckel, T.A. and Luo, Z., 2012. Wellbore leakage model for above-zone 36 monitoring at Cranfield, MS. Carbon Management Technology Conference. Orlando, 37 Florida, USA, 7-9 February.Tao and others, 2012.
- Tianyou, Chen, John F. Ferguson, Carlos L.V. Aiken, and Jerry Brady, 2005. Real-time data acquisition and quality control for gravity surveys. *The Leading Edge*, 24, 702-704
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2009. Mandatory Reporting of Greenhouse Gases Rule (74 FR 56260) 40 CFR Part 98 (Part 98). Published in the Federal Register (www.regulations.gov) on October 30, under Docket ID No. EPA-HQ-OAR-2008 0508-2278.
- Vasco, D. W., Rucci, D.A. Ferreti, A, Novali, A.F., R. C. Bissell, P. S. Ringrose, A.S. Mathieson and I.W. Wright, 2010. Satellite-based measurements of surface deformation reveal fluid flow associated with the geological storage of carbon dioxide. Geophysical Research Letters.37, L03303, doi:10.1029/2009GL041544
- Verma, Sandeep, Oakes, Charles, Ramakrishnan, T. S., Malkewicz, Nick, Hosseini, S.A., Hovorka, S. D., 2011. Carbon dioxide sequestration at Cranfield – analysis of injection and observation well fluid pressure, temperature and density measurements. Ninth Annual Conference on Carbon Capture and Sequestration. DOE/NETL, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.
- Verma, Sandeep; Oakes, Charles; Ramakrishnan T.S., Malkewicz Nick, Hosseini Seyyed A. and Hovorka, Sue. 2012. Carbon Dioxide Sequestration at Cranfield – Analysis of Injection and Monitoring Well Data, abstract, GHGT 11.
- Vlassopoulos, D., Riley, M., and Darby, E., 2011, Reactive transport model for the shallow aquifer at Cranfield, MS. Anchor-QEA, unpublished contract report.
- White, D. and others, 2012. Geophysical Monitoring. In B. Hitchon (Editor), Best Practices for Validating CO<sub>2</sub> Geological Storage, 155-210. Geoscience Publishing.
- Wilt, Michael and Morea, Michael. 2004. 3D Waterflood Monitoring at Lost Hills with Crosshole EM. The Leading Edge, May 2004; 23 No. 5: 489 493. doi: 10.1190/1.1756840
- Wood, L., and Wolfe, K., in review, Sequence stratigraphic and paleogeographic framework for the Lower Tuscaloosa Sandstone, eastern Gulf of Mexico Province, U.S.A.: Influences on sediment distribution and depositional environments.
- Wolaver, B. D., Hovorka, S.D., and Smyth, R.C., in prep. 2013. CO<sub>2</sub> Sequestration at Greensites and Brownsites: Contrasting Characterization, Risk Assessment, and Monitoring.
- Xue, Z., Tanase, D. and Watanabe, J. 2006. Estimation of CO<sub>2</sub> saturation from time-lapse CO<sub>2</sub> well logging in an onshore aquifer, Nagaoka, Japan, Exploration Geophysics, 37, p19-29.
- Yang, Changbing, Mickler, P. Reedy, R. Scanlon, B.R. and Larson, T., Assessing potential impacts of CO<sub>2</sub> leakage on Cranfield shallow groundwater chemistry with laboratory and field experiments. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control.

- Yang, F., Bai, B., Dunn-Norman, S. 2011. Modeling the effects of completion techniques and formation heterogeneity on CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration in shallow and deep saline aquifers, Environmental Earth Sciences, 64, 841-849, DOI: 10.1007/s12665-011-0908-0.
- Yang, C., Romanak, K.D., Hovorka S.D.; Trevino, R., Holt R.M., Linder J., Smith, F., Roeckner, F. Xia, Y., and Rickerts J. 2012. Large Volume CO<sub>2</sub> Injection at Cranfield Early Field Test of the SECARB Phase III: Near-Surface Monitoring, SECARB 7th Annual Stakeholders' Briefing http://www.secarbon.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08\_Romanak.pdf.
- Zhang, T., Davidson, D., Bryant, S.L., and Huh, C. 2010. "Nanoparticle-Stabilized Emulsions for Applications in Enhanced Oil Recovery," SPE Paper 129885, presented at SPE/DOE Symp. Improved Oil Recovery, Tulsa, OK., Apr. 26-28
- Zeidouni, M. 2012. Analytical model of leakage through fault to overlying formations: Water Resources Research, v. 48, W00N02, doi:10.1029/2012WR012582.
- Zeidouni, M., and Pooladi-Darvish, M. 2012a. Leakage characterization through above-zone pressure monitoring: 1—inversion approach: Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, v. 98-99, p. 95–106.
- Zeidouni, M., and Pooladi-Darvish, M. 2012b. Leakage characterization through above-zone pressure monitoring: 2—design considerations with application to CO<sub>2</sub> storage in saline aquifers: Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, v. 98-99, p. 69–82.

#### Section 4

### **Stakeholder Interactions**

This section reviews how carbon storage research can reduce potential risk and damages during the course of development of CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects by promoting and improving communication and strategic involvement by all interested parties, or *stakeholders*. Stakeholder relationships have always been a challenge for energy production; all indications are that public concern will continue or increase. Learning how to communicate effectively and positively engage stakeholders regarding the new process of geologic storage may have a secondary benefit: it may assist the process of engaging stakeholders regarding conventional energy production, especially when innovations allow development of previously unexploited areas.

#### 4.1 Stakeholder Issues and Engagement

According to the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2012a), stakeholder engagement and incentives driven through government policy are critical elements in ensuring successful development and deployment of  $CO_2$  storage projects. The IEA defines a stakeholder in the broadest sense: an individual, group, or organization with an interest in  $CO_2$  storage policy or in a specific project.

The National Energy Technology Laboratory (NETL) defines stakeholders, in the GCS and EOR context, as parties who believe they are affected by the decisions regarding a CCS or EOR project (NETL, 2009b). The NETL mentions that, while CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects may be viewed primarily as local concerns, they are also being carried out in the context of national and international debates (NETL, 2009b; IEA, 2012b; Crysostomidis, 2012). Therefore, it is likely that there will be stakeholders from outside the project's locality and regulatory jurisdiction.

According to NETL, at a local level, stakeholders may include elected and safety officials, regulators, landowners, citizens, civic groups, business leaders, media and community opinion leaders. Additionally, there are other potential stakeholders not directly involved in the site where the project is located. NETL classifies these actors as state or regional stakeholders which may include: elected and appointed officials, regulatory agencies, economic development groups, and environmental and business groups. At the national level, potential stakeholders can include government agencies, congressional leaders, committee/subcommittee chairs, national environmental groups, the financial sector, and the legal sector. Hammond and Shackley (2010) found that, regarding CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects, during the operational and short term period, the most important stakeholders seem to be the local public, local public groups, and local politicians

Stakeholders' concerns on CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects are associated with the fact whether the risks associated can be successfully managed. Potential risks linked with the leakage from CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects fall into two broad categories: global risks—climate change—and local risks—costs and damages to industry, human health, and the environment (IPCC, 2005). In most countries, the existing regulatory framework is unable to address these potential challenges. Because there exists no comprehensive set of

regulations on CO<sub>2</sub> storage, there is a need for studies, procedures, and certification frameworks to manage potential risks. A sound process to select the site and characterize the bounds of safe operation is the single most important way to manage both short- and long-term risk from CO<sub>2</sub> storage activities. Knowledge of *ex-ante* and *ex-post* conditions of the CO<sub>2</sub> storage processes are among the basic elements needed to create legal frameworks, certification programs and public policies.

 $CO_2$ -EOR, as it is currently practiced, does not meet the necessary requirements for the development of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration projects (Dooley and others, 2010). Marston and Moore (2008) noted that the U.S. oil and gas industry has been injecting  $CO_2$  as part of EOR (also known as tertiary recovery) for nearly 40 years; this process is different from CO<sub>2</sub> storage. However, CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR activities have served to develop and prove technology that will be included in future CCS systems (Dooley and others, 2010). Stakeholder involvement differs between CO<sub>2</sub>.EOR and CCS in certain respects: (1) in EOR, stakeholders tend to have longstanding relationships, whereas in CCS the subsurface is either previously undeveloped -in the case of injection into a saline formation- or repurposed -in the case of CO<sub>2</sub> injection into a depleted reservoir for storage- (Plasynski and others, 2011); (2) the risk and the infrastructure requirements are different: EOR takes place in an area of established production with well-developed infrastructure, whereas CCS will at least require additional equipment, and may take place in an undeveloped area (Gale, 2002; Herzog, 2010), and (3) the regulatory environment is likely to be different, with EOR continuing to be operated under EPA's UIC Class II Program. In some cases it has been observed that EOR results in investment and cleanup of old and unsightly surface infrastructure. This may partly compensate for the adverse local effects, such as increased truck traffic or safety issues. It should not be assumed that stakeholder relations regarding EOR projects necessarily run parallel to CCS for purposes of storage (Marston and Moore, 2008; IEA, 2012a).

One of the challenges in promoting stakeholder engagement in CCS activities is determining who the relevant stakeholders are (IEA, 2012a). In a recent report, Environmental Resources Management (Chrysostomidis and others, 2012) established the following typology of stakeholders and areas of concern in CCS projects (Table 4.1):

#### Table 4.1 Stakeholders and areas of concern in CCS

CO <sub>2</sub> Storage Management	
Stakeholders and Concerns	
Stakeholder Groups	Areas of Concern
<ul> <li>Government and</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Energy security</li> </ul>
policymakers	<ul> <li>Environment, health and safety (EHS)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Legislative and regulators</li> </ul>	impacts
Industry	<ul> <li>Technical aspects</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Local communities</li> </ul>	Commercial and local development
<ul> <li>Investors</li> </ul>	benefits
<ul> <li>Public opinion and society</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Policy and legal issues</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>NGOs and tought leaders</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Diversion from renewable energy</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Media</li> </ul>	Impacts on climate change
<ul> <li>Academia and research</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Awareness and acceptance of CCS</li> </ul>
centers*	

\*Additional stakeholders not considered by ERM.

Source: Modified from Chrysostomidis and others, 2012.

In the scenario described by Chrysostomedis and others, policymakers are at the center of stakeholder interactions because, for a typical CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR or CO<sub>2</sub> storage project, the degree of interest that policymakers show, the regulatory framework they create, and the support they exhibit tend to influence other stakeholders (Figure 4.1). Potential interaction between policymakers and other stakeholders is essential and is generally associated with the scale and location of the project. For example, CO<sub>2</sub> storage sites lacking previous industrial development will require new infrastructure, appropriate site characterization and adequate operational programs to deploy the CCS activities.

The IEA (2010) identified 29 critical regulatory issues regarding CCS activities. These issues can be grouped into four categories: (1) broad regulatory issues, (2) existing regulatory issues applied to CCS, (3) specific regulatory issues, and (4) emerging regulatory issues.



**Figure 4.1** Stakeholder Interactions in a GCS project. **Source:** Modified from Chrysostomidis and others, (2012) and IEA (2012a, 2012b).

Several factors, including uncertainties about CO<sub>2</sub> storage technologies, non-technical aspects of operations, scarcity of unbiased information reaching the general public, and potential technical risks have created an atmosphere of public hesitancy regarding CO<sub>2</sub> storage activities (IEA, 2007). However, on the practical side, technical experts, policy analysts, regulators, and lawyers have continued to work intensively to develop and deploy CO<sub>2</sub> storage activities in a manner that is economically and technically feasible as well as environmentally responsible (EPA, 2010). The role played by regulation in stakeholder engagement with CCS will be determined by consultation processes, legal provisions, and sharing of international case studies (NETL, 2009b, IEA, 2012a).

In recent years, a number of projects have encountered opposition from local communities and public opinion during the planning stages (Hammond and Shackley, 2010). In the United States, the Regional Carbon Sequestration Partnership has developed a best-practice protocol for community engagement (NETL, 2009b). The NETL has created a Best Practices Manual (BPM) which is a technical guide for monitoring, verification and accounting (MVA) of CO<sub>2</sub> stored in geologic formations (NETL, 2012). The creation of regulatory frameworks that address and manage environmental, health and safety issues can increase stakeholder acceptance of a prospective project (IEA, 2008). Hammond and Shackley (2010) provided the theory and practice for implementing good engagement and communication strategies and for maintaining positive developer and stakeholder relations. They define engagement as a two-way process: providing information and collecting responses to it. To foster this involvement, it is vital that policy that complements CCS begin in an early stage of the project (Van den Broek and others, 2011).

According to the NETL, as simulation models are refined with new data, public mistrust surrounding CCS will decrease.

Recently the Regional Carbon Sequestration Partnerships (RCSPs) concluded that public understanding of technical issues of CCS, *per se*; is less important than commonly believed by industry and government. Rather, public trust in the developer, regulators, and various levels of government to (1) deliver truthful information and a safe project, (2) operate a transparent and fair decision making process, (3) be accountable should things go wrong, and (4) treat the community fairly in the distribution of economic benefits and mitigation of hazards turned out to be more important than the dissemination to the public of detailed technical information on the project or the risk assessment (Hammond and Shackley, 2010).

This conclusion does not imply that hazards and risks are not of concern to communities. It does suggest, however, that the sense of empowerment enjoyed by a community—the degree to which it has a voice that is heard by the "those in charge" has a strong influence over the community's willingness to embrace unknown technologies. Successful engagement strategies often involve independent expert and stakeholder endorsement as well. In order to foster stakeholder involvement and create transparent and participative processes for CO<sub>2</sub> storage and CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR projects, there exist different protocols and certification processes designed to identify and control potential risks (Marston and Moore, 2008; Oldenburg and Bryant, 2007; NETL, 2009a; NETL, 2012; DNV, 2012).

# 4.2 Public Policy

CCS deployment is highly influenced by government policies (IEA, 2012b; IEA 2008). During the 2000s, the regulatory challenge to CO<sub>2</sub> storage was to establish the extent to which existing well regulations could be applied to the storage project system over the permitting, operations, and decommissioning phases (Imbus and others, 2009). CO<sub>2</sub> storage raises important legal questions that must be addressed before a national program, capable of effectively sequestering and mitigating large amounts of CO<sub>2</sub>, can begin (Zadick, 2011). In the last several years, regulatory environments have been moving toward clarity. CCS regulatory frameworks have developed individually in countries and regions (in particular, the United States, Australia, and Europe, with China, Japan, and South Korea now creating their own CCS regulations). The support of financial and multilateral institutions such as the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, the Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum, and the Global CCS Institute has encouraged the sharing of legal and regulatory frameworks regarding CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration (IEA, 2010).

In the United States, federal and state governments have not reached a unified or consistent set of  $CO_2$  regulatory policies (Anderson, 2009; Pollak, 2011). Nonetheless, there is an intensive effort to develop a comprehensive regulatory framework. For example, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has taken a number of actions to design the regulatory system for geologic storage (IEA, 2012a). For example, in September 2011 the EPA finalized requirements for geologic sequestration and released the Announcement of Federal Underground Injection Control (UIC) Class VI Program for Carbon Dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) Geologic Sequestration (GS) Wells<sup>1</sup> (EPA, 2012). The EPA has also created, as a complementary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The final Class VI Rule and other guidance documents are available at: <u>http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/wells\_sequestration.cfm</u>.

rulemaking, reporting requirements under the Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program. The EPA is also fostering the use of carbon capture and sequestration technologies by reducing barriers and regulation regarding CO<sub>2</sub> streams injected for this purpose (EPA, 2011).

Australia has started a program of precompetitive data acquisition and regional geological studies to assess sites for storage of  $CO_2$  (IEA, 2010). This work is being conducted under two main programs: the National Low Emissions Coal Initiative (NLECI) and National  $CO_2$  Infrastructure Plan (NCIP).<sup>2</sup> Australia also has established partnerships with other nations, including China, to facilitate technology transfer and share CCS procedures and best practices.

In the case of Europe, in March 2007 the European Council agreed to stimulate the construction and operation of multiple CCS demonstration projects by 2015 (IEA, 2010; CCSNetwork EU, 2013). The European Commission has also fostered the implementation of policy and regulatory frameworks. In June 2009, for example, the European Parliament enacted the Directive 2009/31/EC on the Geological Storage of Carbon Dioxide and amended previous regulations. This regulation offers the regulatory basis to ensure safe and environmentally sound storage and containment of CO<sub>2</sub>. The next step for this legislation is deployment to the local regulatory framework of EU-member nations. In 2010, the European Union launched its European CO<sub>2</sub> Capture and Storage (CCS) Demonstration Project Network. This network seeks to increase public acceptance of CCS projects, mainly through a focus on safety, long-term liability, and environmental benefits of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration.

The IEA (2010, 2012a) noted other local and regional experiences regarding local jurisdiction and public policy design and involvement; for example, in British Columbia and Alberta, Canada; Queen Island and Victoria, Australia; and Illinois, Texas, Oklahoma, New Mexico; U.S.A (Duncan et al, 2008a). In the United States, different local governments have made some progress in the regulation of geological storage of CO<sub>2</sub> (Duncan and others, 2008a; Anderson, 2009). In 2009, the 81<sup>st</sup> Texas Legislature enacted Senate Bill 1387 (The Legislature of the State of Texas, 2009) which regulates the implementation of projects for the capture, injection, sequestration, or geologic storage of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>3</sup> SB 1387 requires the Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) to adopt rules for geologic storage and associated injection of CO<sub>2</sub>. The law also requires conducting, preparing, and filing two preliminary reports on the geologic storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. In response to SB 1387, the RRC has promulgated new rules and guidelines.

Despite these efforts, the overall impact of the varied framework of CCS regulations on EOR activities remains uncertain, and regulatory specifics vary from place to place and are subject to sudden change. A key point of all these regulatory frameworks and policies is that they require stakeholders' engagement in the development of CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects (IEA, 2012a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to the Australian Government through Geoscience Australia. <u>http://www.ga.gov.au/ghg/ccs-program.html</u> <sup>3</sup> This bill was enacted by the Legislature of the State of Texas and it took effect on September 1, 2009. <u>http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/tlodocs/81R/billtext/html/SB01387F.htm</u> and <u>http://www.rrc.state.tx.us/forms/reports/notices/SB1387-FinalReport.pdf</u>

#### 4.3 Risk Assessment and Management

Carbon dioxide is used in a wide variety of industries and it is generally regarded as a safe and nontoxic inert gas. In a wide variety of industrial, commercial, and domestic settings, the hazards of CO<sub>2</sub> are well known and routinely handled (Benson and Surles, 2006; Benson, 2007). However, safety and good management require an exhaustive assessment of the risk of elevated concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>. In addition, geologic storage facilities investment and infrastructure would be damaged should CO<sub>2</sub> be unexpectedly released. Extensive industrial experience indicates that risks from geologic storage facilities are manageable using well-understood engineering controls and procedures (Benson, 2006; Benson and Surles, 2006; Duncan et al, 2008b; Trabucchi, 2008; Klass and Wilson, 2009; DNV, 2012). The application of lessons learned from comprehensive risk assessments that identify risks not commonly considered in routine oil and gas operations could be of benefit to industry.

The IPCC (2005) has stated that "observations from engineered and natural analogues as well as models suggest that the fraction of CO<sub>2</sub> retained in appropriately selected and managed geological reservoirs is very likely to exceed 99% over 100 years and it is likely to exceed 99% over 1,000 years." The trapping mechanisms involved in CO<sub>2</sub> storage are effective and well known. The local risks are thought to include two scenarios: (1) sudden and rapid CO<sub>2</sub>-release events, control of which would be achieved by techniques currently used for containing well blow-outs, and (2) gradual and diffuse leakage through undetected faults, fractures, or leaking wells (Solomon, 2006; IPCC, 2005). Relatively simple metrics such as the number of wells, density of faults, or reservoir permeability can be used in different models to characterize CO<sub>2</sub> storage sites and identify potential risks as discussed in Section 3 (Figure 4.2)



**Figure 4.2:** Stages of the CO<sub>2</sub> capture and storage/ CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR lifecycle **Source:** Leiss (2009); Marston and Moore (2008); Trabucchi and others, (2010); Adelman and Duncan (2011) and DNV (2012).

Best practices for CCS dictate that a site must be characterized, assessed for risk of leakage, and be covered by a monitoring plan (Chalaturnyk and Gunter, 2005; IPCC, 2005; IPCC, 2006; NETL, 2009a; NETL, 2012). Protocols must also be developed to deal with long-term effects of CO<sub>2</sub>-rich conditions on the stability of well materials, geochemical and geomechanical interactions that might degrade the containment system, and the feasibility of CO<sub>2</sub> storage (Imbus and others, 2009). Risk assessment for CCS draws on a number of precedents: procedures developed by researchers and energy specialists at national laboratories, universities, and research centers which include, for example, the existing certification frameworks (Oldenburg and others, 2010; NETL, 2012; DNV, 2012). Risk assessment also draws on related experiences in the oil and gas industry, including for example: Schlumberger Carbon Services' risk assessment methodology, RISQUE methodology (Bowden and Rigg, 2004; Wyatt and others, 2009), and other protocols implemented in commercial projects such as Chevron's Gorgon Project (Beatty and others, 2010) or Shell's Quest CCS project.

One of the main objectives of research on CCS operations is to learn how best to employ geological storage of  $CO_2$  as a viable option for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions to the atmosphere (Whittaker and others, 2011). There have also been efforts to integrate a best-practice manual for industry and government to conduct CCS activities (Figure 4.3)



Figure 4.3: CO<sub>2</sub> storage lifecycle and certification framework: Technical and nontechnical issues. Source: Oldenburg and others, (2010), Whittaker and others, (2011), DNV (2012).

However, the linkage between risk assessment and regulatory expectations is not yet complete. For example, injection regulations in the United States do not require a formal risk assessment. However, other factors such as commercial or investment expectations may drive the interest in these certification frameworks. In general, potential risks from the development and operations of CCS projects can be summarized in three categories: (1) transport of  $CO_2$  streams, (2) injection operations, and (3) sequestration of  $CO_2$  (O'Connor and others, 2011). A conceptual approach for an integrated risk management and its influence in designing public policy is set out in Figure 4.4.





Several efforts to certify safety and effectiveness of  $CO_2$  sequestration projects are under development (Chalaturnyk and Gunter, 2005; Oldenburg and Bryant, 2007; NETL, 2009a; Nicot and others, 2010; NETL, 2012). Protocols from certain upstream activities in the oil industry are directly applicable to  $CO_2$  storage and  $CO_2$ -EOR projects; however, the unique behaviors of large volumes of injected  $CO_2$  and the need for "permanent" isolation from the atmosphere require additional consideration. Monitoring, Verification and Accounting protocols are important elements to document  $CO_2$  retention during and after  $CO_2$  sequestration (NETL, 2009a; NETL, 2012).

Recent works suggest that established subsurface characterization methods, reservoir modeling, and certification frameworks might be able to provide reasonable estimates of potential risks. Oldenburg and others (2010) enumerated five potential areas of risk from a  $CO_2$  leakage: (1) near-surface environment, (2) health and safety, (3) atmospheric, (4) underground sources of drinking water and (5) hydrocarbon and mineral sources.

Wolaver and others (2013) made a distinction between *greenfields* and *brownfields* for CCS. The definitions consider only surface activities. Greenfield areas are not developed; brownfield areas are available for reuse. Greenfields are located in rural areas whereas brownfields are typically located in urban areas or large industrial complexes such as oil fields. Greenfields and brownfields differ in their risks and certainties, and mischaracterization can lead to inefficient investment, failure to identify a critical leakage risk, and ineffective monitoring programs.

#### 4.4 Property rights and environmental and safety risks of CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration

As noted earlier, CO<sub>2</sub> storage and CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR processes raise important legal and regulatory questions (Adelman and Duncan, 2011; Zadick, 2011). These legal concerns can be analyzed from two different perspectives: (1) in-situ operational concerns and (2) trespass issues under a neighboring-tract perspective (Anderson, 2009). The absence of a defined liability framework could impede the deployment of CO<sub>2</sub> storage and CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR activities (Jacobs and Stump, 2010). CCS involves multiple property rights issues. These property rights are linked to ownership of the captured and stored CO<sub>2</sub>, surface infrastructure and its access, subsurface pore space, the rights of adjacent users, intellectual property (as it relates to technology used), and characterization, modeling, and monitoring of the site (Robertson et al, 2006; Wilson and de Friguerido, 2006; IOGCC, 2007; Anderson, 2009; IEA, 2010; IEA, 2012a, 2012b).

As we discussed in Section 3.2, environmental protection and the preservation of drinking water resources are among the issues of greatest importance to some stakeholder groups, i.e. local communities, public opinion or government policy makers. Due to these concerns, certain projects have greatly emphasized monitoring of ground water and soil gas in order to gain support for the development of CCS activities (Gilfillan and others, 2011; Romanak and others, 2012; Spangler, 2012). Traditional regulatory efforts have concentrated on proper maintenance of wells and less public policy has been established regarding  $CO_2$  sequestration integrity. There are different studies which demonstrate that CCS activities are technically and economically feasible activities that can be developed in accordance with environmental and safety standards (Gale, 2002; Bradshaw and Dance, 2004; IPCC, 2005; EPA, 2010; IEA 2012b) . These outcomes have served to increase stakeholder involvement and interest regarding CCS projects and their potential risk (NETL, 2009b; IEA, 2012a).

New results show that metal mobilization predicted by theoretical models does not occur in some settings already tested. Iron and manganese are the metals released in largest quantities; as contaminants in drinking water these elements pose a limited heath risk.

Monitoring of shallow ground-water chemistry above carbon-sequestration reservoirs has been proposed as a method to demonstrate that geological  $CO_2$  storage does not endanger drinking water sources (EPA, 2008). Yang and others (2012) found that research on the potential impact of  $CO_2$  migration into shallow groundwater had been focused mainly on (1) assessing geochemical outcomes of increased  $CO_2$  and connected effects on drinking water quality, and (2) identifying geochemical parameters best suited for detecting  $CO_2$  leakage signals at a geological  $CO_2$  sequestration site.

Other potential concerns associated with CCS are: asphyxiation from CO<sub>2</sub> accumulations, soil damage, dislocation of animal or fish populations (Trabucchi et al, 2010) or potential impacts on ecosystems and local fauna (O'Connor and others, 2011). There are other well-known examples of venting systems where CO<sub>2</sub> releases occur, particularly in volcanic formation zones.<sup>4</sup> However, limnic eruptions and hazardous leaks occur in volcanic areas that are highly fractured and therefore unsuitable for CCS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The best-know CO<sub>2</sub>-related incident was the limbic eruption at Lake Nyos in Cameroon in 1986, in which the release of an enormous volume of CO<sub>2</sub> killed over 1,700 people and thousands of animals (Benson and others, 2002).

projects (Benson and others, 2002). Studying risk from natural  $CO_2$  seeps can guide assessment of potential health risk from  $CO_2$  onshore leaking.

CCS cannot operate at zero risk, but even if stored CO<sub>2</sub> were to leak to the surface as a result of containment failure, the risk of human death would be extremely low (Roberts and others, 2011). Offering opportunities to increase stakeholder's involvement on CCS may be vital to the advancement of CO<sub>2</sub> storage deployment. The experience of the Kerr Farm in Saskatchewan, Canada, provides another relevant case in point: at this farm, near an EOR project, a possible leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> was detected. Further analysis, employing a method developed for CCS, showed that the aberrant CO<sub>2</sub> level was the result of natural processes (Romanak and others, 2012).

There are several methods commonly used to foster public engagement on CCS: reporting, community meetings and workshops, dissemination of technical information, and formal and informal education (IEA, 2010; NETL, 2008b). Undoubtedly, to reduce stakeholder's concerns on CCS activities, it is essential to generate in all interest groups an informed participation supported on technical elements and on the cutting edge research findings.

## References

- Adelman, D. E. and Duncan J. I., 2011. The limits of liability in promoting safe geologic sequestration. Duke Environmental Law and Policy Forum. 22.
- Anderson, O. L., 2009. Geologic CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration—who owns the pore space? Wyoming Law Review. 9:1.
- Beatty, A., Millar, I. and Flynn, M. 2010. The Gorgon Project: Legal and Policy Issues. Environmental Markets Group and Mc Kenzie. Sydney . UCL- Centre for Law and Endowment. Accessed on January 13<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://blogs.ucl.ac.uk/law-environment/category/ccs/</u>
- Benson, S.M., 2007. Geological storage of CO₂: analogues and risk management, in Carbon Sequestration Leadership Forum, May 7, Pittsburgh, PA. Accessed on January 15<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.cslforum.org/publications/documents/BensonAnaloguesCSLFWorkshop050707.pdf</u>
- Benson, S. M., 2006. Monitoring carbon dioxide sequestration in deep geologic formations for inventory verification and carbon credits, in Society of Petroleum Engineers Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, San Antonio, Texas, September 24–27.
   <a href="https://pangea.stanford.edu/research/bensonlab/presentations/Monitoring%20Carbon%20Dioxid\_e%20Sequestration%20in%20Deep%20Geological%20Formations%20for%20Inventory%20Verification%20Oredits.pdf">https://pangea.stanford.edu/research/bensonlab/presentations/Monitoring%20Carbon%20Dioxid\_e%20Sequestration%20in%20Deep%20Geological%20Formations%20for%20Inventory%20Verification%20Carbon%20Credits.pdf</a>
- Benson, S. M. and Surles, T., 2006. Carbon dioxide capture and storage: An overview with emphasis on capture and storage in deep geological formations. Accessed on December 18<sup>th</sup>, 2012. <u>http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?arnumber=04016413</u>
- Benson, S.M., Hepple, R., Apps, J., Tsang C.F. and Lippmann M., 2002. Lessons learned from natural and industrial analogues for storage of carbon dioxide in deep geological formations. LBNL 51170. Accessed on January 10<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/refshelf/regissues/Lessons%20Learned%20From%20Analogs%20-%20LANL.pdf</u>
- Bowden, A. R. and A. Rigg, 2004, Assessing Risk in CO2 Storage Projects, Australian Petroleum Production & Exploration Association Ltd. (APPEA) Journal, pp.677-702.
- Bradshaw, J. and Dance, T., 2004: Mapping geological storage prospectivity of CO2 for the world's sedimentary basins and regional source to sink matching. Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Technologies, Vol. 1; peer reviewed Papers and Plenary Presentations. pp. 583-592.Eds. E.S. Rubin, D.W. Keith and C.F. Gilboy, Pergamon, 2005
- CCSNetwork EU, 2013. EU background to CCS. Accessed on January 27<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>https://www.ccsnetwork.eu/index.php?p=history</u>
- Cenovus Energy, 2011, Site assessment Weyburn Unit SW30-5-13W2. Accessed on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.cenovus.com/operations/oil/docs/Cenovus-summary-of-investigation.pdf</u>

- Chalaturnyk, R., and Gunter, W. D., 2005. Geological storage of CO<sub>2</sub>: Time frames, monitoring and verification. Accessed on Nov 15<sup>th</sup>, 2012.
- http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B978008044704950063X
- Chrysostomidis, I., Perumalpillai, S. and Wolff E., 2012. CCS Stakeholder issues review and analysis. Report prepared for the CO<sub>2</sub> Capture Project reviewed by Lee Solsbery from Environmental Resources Management. Accessed on November 8<sup>th</sup>, 2012.

http://www.CO2captureproject.org/reports/stakeholder issues report March 2012.pdf

DNV (Der Norske Veritas), 2012. Qualification Management for Geological Storage of CO<sub>2</sub>. June.

- Dooley, J. J., Dahowski R. T., Davidson C. L., 2010. CO<sub>2</sub>-driven enhanced oil recovery as a stepping stone to what? Pacific Northwest, National Laboratory. U.S. Department of Energy. Accessed on January 24<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.pnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical\_reports/PNNL-19557.pdf</u>
- Duncan, I.,J., Nicot, J-P. and Anderson S., 2008a, Risk and Monitoring Risk for CO2 Sequestration in Deep Brine Reservoirs: EM Magazine (Air & Waste Management Association), www.awma.org, October 2008, p. 12-15. GCCC Digital Publication Series #08-04.
   <a href="http://www.beg.utexas.edu/gccc/forum/codexdownloadpdf.php?ID=91">http://www.beg.utexas.edu/gccc/forum/codexdownloadpdf.php?ID=91</a>
- Duncan, I. J., Nicot, J.-P., Choi, J.W., 2008b. Risk assessment for future CO2 Sequestration Projects Based CO2 Enhanced Oil Recovery in the U.S.: presented at the 9th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies (GHGT-9), Washington, D.C., November 16-20, 2008. GCCC Digital Publication. Series #08-03i.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 2013. Geologic Sequestration of Carbon Dioxide. Accessed on March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/wells\_sequestration.cfm</u>
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 2012. Geologic Sequestration of Carbon Dioxide. Underground Injection Control (UIC) Program Class VI Well Project Plan Development Guidance. Accessed on March 10<sup>th</sup>, 2013.<u>http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/class6/upload/epa816r11017.pdf</u>
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 2011. EPA takes action on reducing barrier to the use of carbon capture and sequestration technologies/ action supports national framework for the safe use of clean energy technology. News release. Accessed on January, 28<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://yosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress.nsf/1e5ab1124055f3b28525781f0042ed40/fde8d083af162</u> <u>68e852578e10080f49b!OpenDocument</u>
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 2010. CO2 sequestration technology and cost analysis. EPA 816-R10-008 November 2010. Accessed on March 12th, 2013. <u>http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/class6/upload/geologicco2sequestrationtechnologyan</u> <u>dcostanalysisnov2010.pdf</u>
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 2008. EPA Proposes New Requirements for Geologic Sequestration of Carbon Dioxide. Accessed on March 12<sup>th</sup>, 2013. http://www.epa.gov/safewater/uic/pdfs/fs\_uic\_co2\_proposedrule.pdf

- Gale, J., 2002. Overview of CO2 emissions sources, potential, transport and geographical distribution of storage possibilities. Proceedings of the workshop on CO2 dioxide capture and storage, Regina, Canada, 18-21 November 2002, pp. 15-29.
- Geoscience Australia, 2012. Carbon Capture and Storage Program. Accessed on January 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013. http://www.ga.gov.au/ghg/ccs-program.html
- Gilfillan, S. M., Wilkinson, M., Haszeldine, R. S., Shipton, Z. K., Nelson, S. T., Poreda, R., 2011. He and Ne as tracers of natural CO<sub>2</sub> migration up a fault from a deep reservoir. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 5, 6, 1507-1516.
- Hammond, J. and Shackley, S., 2010. Towards a public communication and engagement strategy for carbon dioxide capture and storage projects in Scotland. A review of research findings, CCS project experiences, tools, resources and best practices. Working Paper SCCS 2010-08. Accessed on November 10<sup>th</sup>, 2012. http://www.geos.ed.ac.uk/homes/sshackle/SCCTSFinal.pdf
- Herzog, H. J., 2010. Scaling up carbon dioxide capture and storage: From megatons to gigatons. Energy Economics. doi:10.1016/j.eneco.2010.11.004.
- IEA (International Energy Agency). 2012a. Carbon capture and storage: legal and regulatory review. Edition 3. Paris, France. <u>http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/CCS\_Review\_3rdedition\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- 2012 b. A policy strategy for carbon capture and storage. Paris France. Accessed on January 26<sup>th</sup>, 2013.
- http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/policy\_strategy\_for\_ccs.pdf
- 2010. Carbon capture and storage. Model regulatory framework. Paris, France. Accessed on January 27<sup>th</sup>, 2013.

http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/model\_framework.pdf

- 2008. CO<sub>2</sub> capture and storage. A key carbon abatement option. Paris, France. Accessed on January 29<sup>th</sup>, 2013.
- <u>http://www.oecd-</u>
   <u>ilibrary.org/docserver/download/6108011e.pdf?expires=1363120888&id=id&accname=ocid19498</u>
   7&checksum=89D121DCBD4A71DC0DF4AD6754BBAFCD
- 2007. Legal aspects of storing CO<sub>2</sub>. Paris, France. Accessed on January 27<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/legal\_aspects.pdf</u>
- IEA GHG (IEA Greenhouse Gas R&D Programme), 2009. Natural and Industrial Analogues for Geological Storage of Carbon Dioxide. Cheltenham, UK. Accessed on March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.ieaghg.org/docs/general\_publications/Natural%20Analogues%20Final%20low%20res.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Imbus, S., Kieke, D., Crow, W., Briceno, M., Rennie, S., Cooper, C., Simone, A., 2009. CO<sub>2</sub> capture project phase 2 (CCP2)—storage program: closing long term CO<sub>2</sub> geological storage gaps relevant to regulatory and policy development. Energy Procedia. 1: 35-39

- IOGCC (Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission), 2007. Task force on carbon capture and geologic storage, storage of carbon dioxide in geologic structures: A legal and regulatory guide for states and provinces. September. Accessed on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013.
- http://groundwork.iogcc.org/sites/default/files/2008-CO2-Storage-Legal-and-Regulatory-Guide-for-States-Full-Report.pdf
- IPAC –CO<sub>2</sub> (International Performance Assessment Centre for Geologic Storage of Carbon Dioxide),
   2011a. The Kerr investigation: Final report. Findings of the investigation into impact of CO<sub>2</sub> on the Kerr Property. December. Accessed on December 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2012. <u>http://www.ipac-CO<sub>2</sub>.com/uploads/File/PDFs/Kerr%20Report%20all%20sections-revised%20May%2023-PDF.pdf</u>
- IPAC –CO<sub>2</sub> (International Performance Assessment Centre for Geologic Storage of Carbon Dioxide),
   2011b. The Kerr investigation: Final report. Analysis of gas geochemistry at the Kerr site. Accessed on December 8<sup>th</sup>, 2012. <u>http://www.ipac-</u>CO<sub>2</sub>.com/uploads/File/PDFs/kerr%20report%20soil%20gas%20final-v4.pdf
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2006. IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories, in Eggleston, S., Buendia, L., Miwa, K., Ngara, T., Tanabe, K. (Eds.). Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, Japan, prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. Accessed on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gl/invs2.html</u>
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2005. Carbon dioxide capture and storage. Special report. Cambridge University Press, New York. <u>http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/srccs/srccs\_wholereport.pdf</u>
- Jacobs, W. B. and Stump D. L., 2010. Proposed liability framework for geological sequestration of carbon dioxide. Harvard Law School, Emmet Environmental Law and Policy Clinic, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Klass, A. B., 2004. From reservoirs to remediation: The impact of CERCLA on common law strict liability claims. Wake Forest Law Review, 39, 903, 907-08.
- Klass, A. B. and Wilson E. J., 2009. Carbon capture and sequestration: identifying and managing Risks. Issues in Legal Scholarship 8, 1-14.
- Koop, A., Binning, P.J., Johannsen, K., Helmig, R. and Class H., 2010. A contribution to risk analysis for leakage through abandoned wells in geological CO<sub>2</sub> storage. Advances in Water Resources. 33, 867-879.
- Lafleur, P., 2010. Geochemical soil gas survey. A site investigation of SW30-5-13-W2M Weyburn Field, Saskatchewan. Petro-Find Geochem Ltd. Accessed on January 16<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.gasoilgeochem.com/reportcameron%20jane%20kerr.pdf</u>
- Leiss, W., 2009. Risk management of carbon capture and storage: Overview and future steps. Institute for Sustainable Energy, Environment and Economy. University of Calgary. <u>http://leiss.ca/wp-content/uploads/2009/12/LeissCCS-RM2009.pdf</u>

- Marston, P. and Moore, P. A., 2008. From EOR to CCS: The evolving legal and regulatory framework for carbon capture and storage. Energy Law Journal. 29:423-490.
- Ministry of Energy of Alberta. 2011. Mines and Minerals Act. Carbon Sequestration Tenure Regulation. Accessed on January 16<sup>th</sup>, 2013 http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/orders/orders\_in\_council/2011/411/2011\_179.html
- NETL (National Energy Technology Laboratory), 2012. Best practices for monitoring, verification and accounting of CO<sub>2</sub> stored in deep geologic formation—2012 update. Second edition. DOE/NETL-2012/1568. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/refshelf/BPM-MVA-2012.pdf</u>
- NETL (National Energy Technology Laboratory). 2011. Carbon sequestration. Simulation and risk assessment. Accessed on January 16<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/refshelf/project%20portfolio/2011/FocusAreas</u> /Sim%20and%20Risk/Simulation%20Risk%20Assessment%20-%20Intro.pdf
- NETL, (National Energy Technology Laboratory). 2009a. Monitoring, verification and accounting of CO<sub>2</sub> stored in deep geologic formations January. Accessed on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/refshelf/MVA\_document.pdf</u>
- NETL (National Energy Technology Laboratory), 2009b. Best practices for public outreach and education for carbon storage projects. First edition. DOE/NETL-2009/1391. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/carbon\_seq/refshelf/BPM\_PublicOutreach.pdf</u>
- Nicot J.-P., Romanak K.D., Yang, C., Smyth R. and Hovorka S., 2010. Role of geochemical monitoring in geologic sequestration. GCCC Digital Publication Series # 10-08. <u>http://www.beg.utexas.edu/gccc/forum/codexdownloadpdf.php?ID=138</u>
- O'Connor, T., and others, 2011. Policy recommendation for selection & development of offshore geologic carbon sequestration within Texas State Waters. <u>http://blogs.edf.org/energyexchange/files/2011/12/EDF-Policy-Recommendations-Offshore-CCS-Dec-2011.pdf</u>
- Oldenburg, C. M., Jordan, P., Zhang, Y., Nicot, J-P., and Bryant, S.L., 2010. Risk assessment framework for geologic sequestration sites. 10<sup>th</sup> International Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference, Seattle, Washington, June 7-11. Accessed on November 20<sup>th</sup>, 2012, <u>http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/8297g3k2</u>.
- Oldenburg, C.M. and Bryant, S.I., 2007 Certification Framework for Geologic CO<sub>2</sub> storage. Sixth Annual Conference on Carbon Capture Sequestration. NETL, Pittsburgh, PA, May 7-10.
- Plasynski, S. I., Litynski, J. T., McIlvried, H. G., Vickara D. M., Srivastava, R. D., 2011. The critical role of monitoring, verification and accounting for geologic carbon dioxide storage projects. Environmental Geosciences 18 Vol.1, 19-34.
- Pollak, M., Johnson, S.P. and Vajjhala, S., 2011. Carbon capture and storage policy in the United States: A new coalition endeavor to change existing policy. Global Environmental Change. 21: 313-323.

- Preston, C., Monea, M., Jazrawi, W., Brown, K., Whittaker, S., White, D., Law, D., Chalaturnyk, R., Rostron, B., 2005. IEA GHG Weyburn CO<sub>2</sub> monitoring and storage project. Fuel Processing Technology. 1547-1568. <u>http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0378382005000214/1-s2.0-S0378382005000214/</u> <u>main.pdf?\_tid=2ed8657c-3e72-11e2-88d6-</u> 00000aacb362&acdnat=1354667270\_2db69234e678471749b96a7012ae93df
- Riding, J. B. and Rochelle C. A., 2005. The IEA Weyburn CO<sub>2</sub> onitoring and Storage Project: Final report of the European research team. Keyworth, Nottingham, UK: British Geological Survey.
- Roberts, J. J., Wood A. R., Haszeldine R. S., 2011. Assessing the health risks of natural CO<sub>2</sub> seeps in Italy. PNAS. Accessed on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.pnas.org/content/108/40/16545.full.pdf+html</u>
- Robertson, K., Findsen J., Messner S., 2006. International carbon capture and storage projects overcoming legal barriers DOE/NETL -2006/1236 (2006) Accessed on Nov 16, 2012. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/energy-analyses/pubs/ccsregulatorypaperfinalreport.pdf</u>
- Romanak, K. D., Bennett, P. C., Yang, C., Hovorka, S.D., 2012. Process-based approach to soil gas monitoring at geologic carbon storage sites. Geophysical Research Letters. 39, L15405, doi:10.1029/2012GL052426.
- RRC (Railroad Commission of Texas), TGLO (Texas General Land Office), TCEQ (Texas Commission on Environmental Quality) and BEG-UT (The Bureau of Economic Geology, Jackson School of Geosciences, The University of Texas at Austin), 2010. Injection and Geologic Storage Regulation of Antropogenic Carbon Dioxide, December 1<sup>st</sup>. Accessed on February 26<sup>th</sup>, 2013. <u>http://www.rrc.state.tx.us/forms/reports/notices/SB1387-FinalReport.pdf</u>
- Solomon, S., 2006. Carbon dioxide storage: Geological security and environmental issues—case study on the Sleipner Gas Field in Norway. The Bellona Foundation. <u>http://www.bellona.org/filearchive/fil\_Paper\_Solomon\_-\_CO2\_Storage.pdf</u>
- Spangler, L., 2012. Overview of monitoring-controlled releases. <u>http://www.ieaghg.org/docs/General\_Docs/Natr%20rel%20worksop/SPANGLER\_SEC.pdf</u>
- The Canadian Press, 2011. CO<sub>2</sub> leaks worry Sask. farmers. Accessed on December 18<sup>th</sup>, 2012. <u>http://www.cbc.ca/news/technology/story/2011/01/11/sk-carbon-complaint-1101.html</u>
- The Legislature of the State of Texas, 2009. Senate Bill 1387. An act relating to the implementation of projects involving the capture, injection, sequestration, or geologic storage of carbon dioxide.
   Accessed on January 25<sup>th</sup>, 2013.
   http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/tlodocs/81R/billtext/html/SB01387F.htm
- Trabucchi, C., Donlan M., Wade S., 2010. A multi-disciplinary framework to monetize financial consequences arising from CCS Projects and motivate effective financial responsibility. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control.
- Trabucchi, C., Patton L., 2008. Storing Carbon: Options for Liability Risk Management, Financial Responsibility. Bureau of National Affairs. Daily Environmental Report. September 3, 2008 at 11-13. <u>http://deq.state.wy.us/out/downloads/CCS\_Storing\_Carbon\_9.3.08.pdf</u>

- Van den Broek, M., Veenendaal, P., Kutstaal, P., Turkenburg, W., Faail, A.,2011. Impact of international Climate Policies on CO<sub>2</sub> capture and storage deployment illustrated in the Dutch Energy System. Energy Policy 39, 2000-2019.
- Whittaker, S., Rostron, B., Hawkes, C., Gardner, C., White, D., Johnson, J., Chalaturnyk, R., and Seeburger, D., 2011. A decade of CO<sub>2</sub> injection into depleting oil field: Monitoring and research activities for the IEA GHG Weyburn-Midale CO<sub>2</sub> Monitoring Storage Project. Energy Procedia. 4: 6069-6076.
- Wilson, E.J. and de Friguerido M., 2006. Geologic carbon dioxide sequestration: An analysis of subsurface property law. Environmental. Law Reporter. 2: 10,114-10,123.
- Wolaver, B. D., Hovorka, S. D., Smyth R. C., 2013. CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration at greensites and brownsites: Contrasting characterization, risk assessment and monitoring. In press.
- Wyatt, D., Bowden, A., and Simms, M., 2009. Assessing and quantifying risks in geological carbon sequestration projects using RISQUE methodology with a modified Delphi approach to reduce uncertainty. URS Corporation. AAPG Search and Discovery Article #90103. AAPG Hedberg Conference Ausgust 16-19, 2009, Vancouver, B.C, Canada.
- Yang, C., Romanak, K. D., Hovorka, S. D., Trevino, R., Holt, R. M., Linder, J., Smith, F., Roeckner, F., Xia, Y., Rickerts, J., 2012. Large volume CO<sub>2</sub> injection at Cranfield early field test of the SECARB Phase III: Near-surface monitoring, in SECARB 7th Annual Stakeholders Briefing http://www.secarbon.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08\_Romanak.pdf.
- Zadick, J. R., 2011. The public pore space: Enabling carbon capture and sequestration by reconceptualizing subsurface property rights. William and Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review. 36: 1.

# Conclusions

The rapid development of geologic carbon storage (GCS) technologies is due, in most part, to more than 40 years of  $CO_2$  enhanced oil recovery (EOR) operational experience from which GCS has learned and benefited. However, GCS studies have gathered and analyzed significant amounts of field data (not commonly collected during EOR operations), which have been critical in the understanding of subsurface  $CO_2$  flow.

One advantage of GCS projects is the simpler single-phase environment, where the injection of a distinctive fluid ( $CO_2$ ) into a pore space that is brine filled and not previously exploited provides an opportunity to assess the reservoir response in a way that cannot be done in an oilfield setting. It is much more difficult to detect, quantify, and image the  $CO_2$  saturation evolution in a multi-phase environment (oil, water, possible methane +  $CO_2$ ) than it is to do so in a water +  $CO_2$  one.  $CO_2$  injection in a saline aquifer provides the opportunity to collect a baseline against which to quantify change in the response of a monitoring tool when  $CO_2$  is injected. Fields entering tertiary recovery have typically been highly perturbed by depletion, injection of brine and other fluids, and past tertiary recovery. Knowledge gained in simpler saline systems can inform the complex systems. Furthermore, the close spacing and high frequency of data collection of GCS projects has allowed the detection of fluid flow and rock property interaction details that could not have been observed at the traditional EOR pattern-scale well spacing.

A lesson learned from GCS studies is the need for improved reservoir characterization. Geologic features that increase reservoir heterogeneity and decrease  $CO_2$  sweep efficiency, such as high permeability channels (which can be a product of geological depositional history, post-depositional diagenetic processes, structural deformation, etc.), have long been recognized in EOR floods as reasons for  $CO_2$  by-pass. Improved understanding of  $CO_2$  trapping mechanisms (dissolution into brine, capillarity, etc.) from GCS research could also result in better  $CO_2$  management.

Flood surveillance is one of the areas with the highest knowledge transfer potential from GCS research to commercial applications of  $CO_2$ -EOR. GCS has made significant advances in the surveillance of the reservoir response to  $CO_2$  injection, as well as the improved and additionally validated use of these observations for predictive modeling. Improvements in numerics, handling dry-out zones, near wellbore realizations, rock-brine interactions, understanding the implications of boundary conditions and other fundamental code improvements will advance all modeling, including modeling for EOR.

Geologic sequestration has provided accelerated development of novel types of geophysical measurements. One of the contributions made for seismic interpretation from research-oriented storage projects is the combination of conventional seismic surveys with other instruments, including borehole deployed technologies such as cross-well seismic and vertical seismic profiles (VSP).

Pressure monitoring in the reservoir is essential for commercial production, and a classic surveillance tool used for the calibration of numerical fluid flow models. Correct assumptions of pressure increase are needed to optimize  $CO_2$  purchase, recycle volumes, and water curtains. GCS has added value to this

method by collecting novel and publically accessible data sets. Integration of pressure data with geomechanical evaluations is also a novel approach. The value of these data for commercial application has not been fully developed, but opportunities are opened.

Perturbed temperature sensing has a potential applicability to EOR. This technology can be used to evaluate changes in fluid saturation that would be of high value in the assessment of the flood and in the modification of strategies as injection becomes mature. The demonstrations for CCS research provide information on the sensitivity of the method. Assessment of the validity of the method has not been undertaken in the EOR context.

On non-technical aspects, the effective communication and stakeholder engagement required in GCS projects may have a secondary benefit. Lessons learned in this area may assist the process of engaging stakeholders regarding conventional energy production, especially when innovations allow development of previously unexploited areas. Learnings from comprehensive risk assessments that identify risks not commonly considered in routine oil and gas operations could also be of benefit to industry.

The experience of the Kerr Farm in Saskatchewan, Canada, a farm near the Weyburn EOR operation where a supposed leakage of  $CO_2$  was detected, is one example where GCS research has been used in an EOR environment with great benefit. Further analysis, employing a method developed for CCS, showed that the abnormal  $CO_2$  level was the result of natural processes.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Chevron Energy Technology Company for funding this study, in particular the project managers, Dan Kieke and Scott Imbus, who were instrumental in the design and scope of the project.

# Appendix

In 2011, Cameron and Jane Kerr, owners of a farm in the vicinity of the Weyburn  $CO_2$ -EOR Project (WMP),<sup>5</sup> claimed that  $CO_2$  was leaking into their property. They made the public allegation that  $CO_2$  had leaked from the approved  $CO_2$  area of the Weyburn Unit, near Goodwater, Saskatchewan, Canada.<sup>6</sup> The Weyburn area has been the site of extensive oil production in Canada since the 1950's. A geochemical soil-gas survey conducted by Petro-Find Geochem, identified high concentrations of  $CO_2$ , averaging between 23,000 ppm (2.3%) and 110,607 ppm (11%), in the location where the Weyburn Field is currently undergoing CCS operations.

Since no background data had been collected directly at the Kerr Farm, in order to respond to the allegation, a new technique for vadose-zone monitoring in CCS presented an opportunity to verify whether potential risk and liabilities were related to possible leakages from the WMP. The vadose-zone monitoring study not only demonstrated that CCS projects are technically and economically viable; it also showed that the WMP was being conducted in a safe way and that the area surrounding the Kerr Farm had not been affected by  $CO_2$  from the storage site.

There had been at least five salt-water spills or leaks on the Kerr property. Over the years, Mr. and Mrs. Kerr had expressed their concerns regarding contamination of their property as a result of EOR and  $CO_2$  storage activities (Table A.4.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In January 2011, a consultant released a report that claimed to link high concentrations of  $CO_2$  on the Kerrs' property to gas injected in the Weyburn Unit, <u>http://www.cbc.ca/news/technology/story/2011/01/11/sk-carbon-complaint-1101.html.</u> This report was based on a geochemical soil-gas survey conducted by Petro-Find Geochem Ltd. <u>http://www.gasoilgeochem.com/reportcameron%20jane%20kerr.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Preston et al. (2005) compiled an integrated overview of the results from more than 50 individual technical research projects supported by the International Energy Agency Greenhouse Gas R&D Programme The WMP was created to predict and verify the ability of an oil reservoir to store CO<sub>2</sub> securely and economically.

ential Concerns	Associated Risk
$CO_2$ transport, injection, and drilling activities	Environmental, health, and soi contamination
Seismicity	Injection:
	- Geological characterization
Contamination of drinking water	Leakage and migration:
	- Geological, physical, mechanical and
	chemical characterization
	-Environmental/biological
	- Hydrologic
Eutrophication	Leakage and migration:
	-Environmental/biological
	-Chemical
Health issues related to $CO_2$ injection, storage, and chemical contamination	Injection, leakage and migration:
	-Safety/biological
	-Health/biological
Corrosion	Leakage and migration:
	-Industrial
	-Neighboring tracs

Table A.4.1 Kerr Farm Case Concerns and Risks

**Source:** GCCC, 2012. The potential risks found coupled with the thermal, hydrologic, mechanical, chemical, and biological (THMCB) potential impacts of  $CO_2$  injection addressed by the NETL (NETL, 2011).

Over the 13 years preceding the Kerr Farm Case, several studies had been conducted to address each of the concerns enumerated in Table A.4.1. These studies were summarized in a Final Report of the Kerr Project prepared by the International Assessment Centre for Geologic Storage of CO<sub>2</sub> (IPAC–CO<sub>2</sub>, 2011a; IPAC–CO<sub>2</sub>, 2011b). The Kerr Farm case confirmed that CCS projects are primarily viewed as local concern (IPCC, 2005; NETL, 2011) and they usually encounter opposition from local communities and local public opinion (Hammond and Shackley, 2010).

Petro-Find's studies also confirmed that different factors such as lack of information about the relevant technology or a poor understanding of crucial CCS processes contributes to misunderstand CO<sub>2</sub> storage projects (Koop and others, 2010). Petro-Find's initial results showed that soil CO<sub>2</sub> ( $\leq$ ~11 vol. %) and CH<sub>4</sub> ( $\leq$ ~30 ppm) at the Kerr Farm had originated from CCS operations. However, after a scrupulous study, the scientific community found critical flaws in this report.





The Kerr Farm controversy brought to the forefront an important question: How long will sequestered  $CO_2$  stay trapped in the ground? (Benson and Surles, 2006) Because the Weyburn area had a long history of oil extraction, it was crucial to determine potential leakage mechanisms (Adelman and Duncan, 2011) and determine whether the anomalous  $CO_2$  had leaked from the storage reservoir or from natural seeps, intermediate geologic zones, or other sources not related to CCS.

To confirm that all stages of CCS activities in the WMP are being done in an efficient way i.e. transport of  $CO_2$  streams, injection operations, and sequestration of  $CO_2$  (O'Connor and others, 2011), different stakeholders have been involved in determining the WMP efficiency (Figure A.4.2).

Two issues dominate the debate on CCS: (1) the risks posed by leakage of  $CO_2$  from sequestration sites, and (2) management of the long-term liabilities, possibly extending hundreds of years. As it was discussed in section 4, a potential leakage could have different effects (Oldenburg and others, 2010; NETL, 2011). Recent studies from the IEA have found that, in the event that leakage does occur at a CCS site, lateral migration is unlikely to pose a problem. Vertical leakage is likely to be a problem only if the rate of leakage is relatively fast (IEA GHG, 2009). In the Kerr Farm case, the regulatory framework was unable to address immediate liabilities and other potential risks associated with CCS at the time the complaint was made. Because of this inability, the IPAC-CO<sub>2</sub> commissioned a scientific study, which was led by Katherine Romanak, a research associate at the Gulf Coast Carbon Center (GCCC). Romanak and others, (2012) used a process-based method to analyze the vadose zone at the Kerr Farm in order to identify a potential leakage signal without the use of background monitoring.<sup>7</sup> This method is generally accepted for assessing whether a leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> from a storage reservoir has impacted the soil and the biosphere. The most challenging aspect of vadose-zone gas monitoring is identification of a leakage signal amidst the many interfering and fluctuating natural and anthropogenic sources.<sup>8</sup>

This method uses a geochemical approach to distinguish processes in the vadose zone overlying the  $CO_2$  injection area of review, differentiating (1) biologic respiration, (2)  $CO_2$  dissolution and reaction with soil carbonate, (3)  $CH_4$  oxidation, (4) dilution of soil gas, and (5) leakage. Soil gas analysis results revealed that the gas on the Kerr property was biological in origin and not the result of leaks associated with the CCS activities at Weyburn.

A one-time characterization provides enough information to select those potential monitoring areas in a project. The ability to assess leakage and respond to any potential concern at any stage in the life cycle of a CCS project using process-based methods would greatly enhance the effectiveness of CO<sub>2</sub> storage. Using a process-based method has certain advantages, such as: (1) it does not require previous measurements (particularly advantageous for those areas where CCS projects have been implemented) and (2) this method increases the ability to monitor potential leakage. The process-based method also reduces the cost of shallow monitoring techniques.

The Kerrs also enumerated other potential damages caused by the presence of  $CO_2$  on their property. These included threats to human health, damage to soil, and potential poisoning or dislocation of animal populations. Regarding the health concerns of the Kerrs, it is true that CCS cannot operate at zero risk; however, even if stored  $CO_2$  did leak to the surface as a result of a failure of containment, the risk of death would be extremely low (Roberts and others, 2011). In this project, soil damage and the risk of dislocation of animal populations were not characterized.

After the Kerr Farm case, the Alberta government launched an extensive campaign to educate the public about climate change and also issued one of the first carbon sequestration tenure regulations.<sup>9</sup> This rule stipulates that, before the Ministry of Energy approves any permit for a monitoring, measurement, and verification plan for a CCS project, the plan must

set out the monitoring, measurement and verification activities that the permittee will undertake for the term of the permit, contains an analysis of the likelihood that the operations or activities that may be conducted under the permit will interfere with mineral recovery based on geological

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  These results agreed with two other studies conducted at the Kerr site (Riding and Rochelle, 2005; Cenovus Energy, 2011). The vadose-zone method uses a geochemical approach to CO<sub>2</sub> leakage monitoring that does not compare soil gas concentrations to previous characterization data but instead uses sequential relationships among coexisting major gases to identify the processes acting in the vadose zone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There are many potential sources of gas in the vadose zone and the reactive geochemistry of these gases require that care be taken when assessing a CCS site for storage permanence using soil-gas measurements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Alberta's Ministry of Energy.

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/orders/orders in council/2011/411/2011 179.html

interpretations and calculations of the lease, and contains any other information request by the Minister. A permittee must not conduct any operations or activities under the evaluation permit unless a monitoring, measurement and verification plan has been approved in relation to the permit, and the permittee complies with the approved plan.

This tenure regulation is set to expire in April 30, 2016, a deadline set in order to ensure its review. Although this tenure regulation is a good start, it does not establish any legislative sanction and recommends that the official statues and regulations be consulted for all purposes of interpreting and applying the law.

One effect of the Weyburn experience was to underscore the importance of stakeholder engagement in any CCS deployment. Two of the central questions remaining are: (1) What is the role of the government in CCS projects? and (2) In the event of a leak, how will liabilities be assigned and how will the responsible stakeholders deal with those potential issues? (IEA, 2012a,b)<sup>10</sup>

For all future CCS projects, it is recommended that a baseline set of data on water, soil, and geophysical measurements be established so that the area around the project can be monitored for leakage. If it is not possible to have a previous characterization of the CCS site, there are some methods, such as vadose-zone monitoring, which can help to identify potential leakages of CO<sub>2</sub>. In case of harm to the environment, health, or property, strict liability is usually triggered when a defendant owns or operates a facility from which a harmful substance was released, regardless of whether the defendant was negligent (Klass, 2004). This was not the case in the Kerr Farm because there was no CO<sub>2</sub> released from the WMP.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In July 2012, the International Energy Agency published a report on Carbon Capture and Storage Legal and Regulatory Review, which aims to help policymakers and regulators develop their own regulatory frameworks by documenting and analyzing recent CCS legal and regulatory developments. In the case of Alberta, operators are now allowed to evaluate a potential storage site to investigate the geology and determine if this site is suitable to develop CCS projects.